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Needless Lo say, 2007 was one ,73” Ofa YeAar. During a period of unprecedented volarility

and disruprion in the capital markets, Capital Trust celebrated its tenth anniversary by producing outstanding resules for irs

sharcholders:

» Our net income topped $84 million, up 56% year over year.

* On a per share basis, our earnings increased 40% to $4.77 compared o $3.40 in 2006.

+ Dividends paid reached $5.10 per share, up 48% over the prior year and capped off by
our $1.90 special dividend paid in early January.

All of these accomplishments represent records for CT
and we are extremely proud of our financial performance
in 2007, However, the world is a very different (and
much more dangerous) place today, and our stock is
trading at half what it was just a year ago. Commercial real
estate has now been targeted as the nexe credit shoe to drop,
so we need to look further than the historical numbers to
understand how Capital Trust, and other companies like us,
will perform in 2008 and beyond.

Let’s stari with the current marker. On the one hand,
origination and issuance volumes have plummeted, spreads
are at all-time wides, the CDO market has disappeared,
wounded repo lenders are pulling back and, in the words
of one analyst, the business model for commercial morigage
REITs is dead. On the other hand, comperition has
evaporated, spreads are at all-time wides, dealers are stuck
with billions of dollars of unsold inventory, forced sellers
of all types are dumping out good product, and it’s the
best time in recent memory to be a commercial real
estate debr investor. Are we on the Eve of Destruction
or at the beginning of the Golden Age? The answer is
both. In this challenging {and confusing) environmens,
we believe thot there are three rthings that will be
critical 1o survival and long rerm success: managing
credit, maintaining financing, and raising new capital. On
all three fronts, we also believe rthar Capital Trust is uniquely
positioned to succeed.
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First, managing credit. During 2007, all of our investments
continued their strong petformance, with zero delinguencies
or defaults in the loan portfolios and 28 upgrades (vs.
3 downgrades) in the CMBS portfolio. Through aggressive
(at times relentless) asser management, we resolved our one
non-performing loan, generating $11 million of proceeds
compared to a carrying value of $2.6 million and an original
principal balance of $8 million. At year end, 100% of our
assets were performing, but in the fourth quarter we did rake
a $4 million reserve against one loan, our krst provision in
guite some time.

As 2008 rolls on, we anticipate that more credit problems
in the CRE sector will inevitably emerge. CT cannor expect
to be completely immune to the market, but we do believe
thar our conservatism in the crucial, up-front asset selection
process will serve us well. We stuck to what we know {com-
mercial real estate) and never accepted ratings in place of old
fashioned due diligence. Our loan portfolio has an average
last dollar loan to value ratio of 67%, reflecting our decision
to dial down risk and focus on more senior investments as
the markets got frothy. Our exposures to land, condos and
home builders, the most obviocus and immediate problem
areas in rhe marker, are very limited. Qur loans with
near-term marturities, where borrowers could be forced 1o
refinance in a dysfunctional market, are also very few.
Qverall, we have scrubbed and re-scrubbed each of our
investments and feel good about the credit quality of ovr




book of assets. We are confident that the CT portfolios will
outperform the market in these difficulr times.

The second key factor is maintaining fnancing. In this
environment, how you financed your balance sheet can
be equally as important as how you sclected your assets.
We have been using leverage and managing our asser/
liability mix since we srarted Capiral Trust almost eleven
years ago. Until 2004, there was basically no such thing
as a CRE CDO and we successfully financed our business
using lines of credit from banks and Wall Street dealers
through all those early years and through several market
disruptions. When CDOs arrived, they provided an efficient
and stable funding alternative, and CT was an early and
active user —completing the first mezzanine loan transaction
in July of 2004 and ultimately closing four CDOs for our
balance sheet, issuing $1.25 billion of liabilities to match
fund substantially all of our longer term, fixed rare assets
and finance a significant portion of our floating rate loans.
Given the problems that have occurred in the residential
and ABS markets, we do not think CDOs will be available
10 us anytime soon. However, we do have $1.6 billion
of in-place committed credit facilities from nine separate
counterparties, all of which have had successful
multi-year relationships with CT. During 2007, we
renewed or obtained new facilities for the balance
sheet in the amount of $900 million, and we coatinue to
secure fresh financing commitments (o support our new
investment ininatives. As we experienced in 1998, when
the markets get choppy the lenders pull back, exercising
mark-to-market provisions and making margin calls,
stiffening the terms for any new facilities, and cutting
the number of borrowers they are willing 0 do
business with. With good credits, short assets and
long relationships, we are well positioned with our
lenders and, as always, maintain ample liquidity fo
defend our book against interim spread marks. Going
forward, we believe thar CT’s demonstrated ability ro
attract debr fnancing will be one of our conrinuing
competitive advantages.

Lastly, raising capital. With all its challenges, we also
believe that this credit crisis is crearing unprecedented
opportunity for investors with access to equity capital and
the expertise to prudently deploy it. In the near term, dealer

SAMUEL ZELL

Chairman of the Board of Directors

CAPITAL TRUST, INC,

inventory backlogs and forced liquidations by leveraged
investors present the most compelling opportuniries. As
2008 progresses, delinquencies and defaults will begin
to rise and the combinarion of lower advance rates and
wider spreads will pressure refinancings, even for good
properties and sponsors. Longer term, lenders will be back
in the driver’s seat and the marker will be characterized
by more conservative valuations, lower advance rates,
tighter structures and better pricing. However, while the
credit pendulum has definitely swung, asset selection and
underwriting will continue 1o be the keys to success. In this
environment, we believe that CT is well positioned to raise
the capital necessary 1o exploit these opportuniries.

Years ago, we designed our business to create an
integrated finance and investment management company,
capable of investing both for its own account and on behalf
of third parties through managed invesiment vehicles. The
purpose was to leverage our platform, produce a mix of net
interest margin and fee income, and create a straddle
between the public and private capital markets. Since 2000,
we have raised over $2.5 billion of private equity capirtal
in seven separate vehicles from a stable of sophisticated
institutional and individual accounts, most of whom have
been repeat investors with Capital Trust.

Going forward, we expect to continue to raise private and
public capital 1o take advantage of opportunities in the
market. The initial closing of CT Qpporiunity Partners |
represents the next step in this ongoing strategy. Launched
in the fourth quarter, this new private equity fund is
designed to exploit a range of more opportunistic
investments that result from the market dislocarion, In
addition, we are working onseveral other targered investment
management strategies thar we expect to roll out in 2008.

We have no delusions thar 2008 will be easy or fun. We
think rhar the markets will get worse before they get
better, that the recovery will take a long time, and that “new
normal” will be different than anyrhing we've seen before.
We know that we have our work cur out for us: managing
our credits, rolling over our financing and raising the capital
necessary to take advanrage of opportunities and grow our
business. We are ready for the challenge.

Thank you for your continued confidence and support.

i
JOHN R. KLOPP
Chief Executive Officer
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PART1
Item 1, Business

References herein 10 “we,” “us” or “our” refer to Capital Trust, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context
specifically requires otherwise,

Overview

We are a fully integrated, self-managed, real estate finance and investment management company that specializes
in credit sensitive financial products. To date, our investment programs have focused on loans and securities
backed by commercial real estate assets. We invest for our own account directly on our balance sheet and for
third parties through a series of investment management vehicles. From the inception of our finance business in
1997 through December 31, 2007, we have completed over $10.5 billion of investments in the commercial real
estate debt arena. We conduct our operations as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax
purposcs and we are headquartered in New York City.

Operating Segments

Segment revenue and profit information is presented in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Currerd Market Conditions

During 2007, the global capital markets experienced unprecedented volatility, triggered initially by credit
problems in the U.S. subprime residential mortgage sector. As the year progressed, the “subprime contagion™
spread to virtually every debt market, causing drematic declines in asset prices, widespread illiquidity and
massive losses at many financial institutions, Notwithstanding continving credit performance in the real estate
debt market and strong fundamentals in the underlying property markets, the impact of the global credit crisis on
our sector has been acute. By year end, transaction volume had declined significantly, credit spreads for all
forms of mortgage debt had reached all-time highs and issuance levels of commercial morigage backed securities,
or CMBS, had ground to a virtual halt. Financial institutions still hold significant inventories of unsold loans and
CMBS, creating a further overhang on the markets. We believe that the continuing dislocation in the debt capital
markets, coupled with a slowdown in the U.S. economy, have already reduced property valuations and will
ultimately impact real estate fundamentals.

In response 1o these conditions, we significantly reduced the pace of our originations in the second half of 2007,
choosing to maintain our liquidity and be patient until the markets had settled. We believe that ultimately, this
environment will create new opportunities in our markets for investors with access to capital and expertise in
credit underwriting and financial structuring. We believe that our balance sheet and investment management
businesses will benefit from a market environment where assets are priced and structured more conservatively
and there is less compelition among investors,

Developments during Fiscal Year 2007

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we originated $2.5 billion of new investments in 109 separate
transactions, representing a record year of investment activity for us. Of this total, we closed $1.5 billion directly
for our balance sheet and $1.0 billion for our managed funds and accounts, which we refer to as investment
management vehicles.

Driven by these originations, our balance sheet portfolio of interest earming assets (defined as loans, commercial
mortgage backed securities, or CMBS, and total return swaps, or TRS) grew from $2.6 billion {159 separate
investments) at year end 2006 to $3.1 billion (160 separate investments) at year end 2007. At year end, we held
80 loans with an aggregate book value of $2.3 billion and an average last dollar loan 1o value of 67%. Our CMBS
portfolio was comprised of 79 bonds with an aggregate book value of $877 million and a weighted average rating
of BB+, At year end, we had one TRS position with an aggregate book value of $0 referencing $20 million of
real estate debt. In addition to interest eaming assets, our balance sheet assets include our equity investments in
unconsolidated subsidiaries, primarily comprised of our co-investments in our investment management vehicles.




All of our investments were performing at year end and, during 2007, we resolved our one defaulted loan, a first
mortgage loan with an original principal balance of 38 million, generating a gain of $4.0 million, During 2007,
we did not realize any losses on our investments, however, we did book a reserve of $4.0 million (0.18% of
loans) against a $10 million second morigage loan.

On the capital raising front, we raised $175 million of new balance sheet capital in 2007 through the following
transactions:

e In March 2007, we privately placed $75 million of trust preferred securities through a statutory trust
subsidiary, CT Preferred Trust [I. The trust preferred securities have a 30-year term, maturing in
April 2037, are redeemable at par on or after April 30, 2012 and pay distributions st a fixed rate of 7.03%
per annum for the first ten years ending April 2017, and thereafter, at a floating rate of three month
LIBOR plus 2.25%. Trust preferred securities are backed by and recorded as junior subordinated
debentures on our balance sheet and the all in effective cost of these liabilities, including the amortization
of fees and expenses, is 7.14%.

e In March 2007, we closed a $50 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility with WestLB AG,
which we amended in June 2007, increasing the size to $100 million and adding new lenders to the
syndicate. The facility has an initial term of one year (with a one year term out provision at our option)
and & maximum term of four years (including extension options). The facility bears interest a1t LIBOR
plus 1.50% (LIBOR plus 1.80% on an all in basis) and we expect to use the facility borrowings for
general corporate purposes and working capital needs, including providing additional flexibility for
funding loan originations. At December 31, 2007, we had borrowed $75 million under this facility.

In 2007, we renewed or obtained new repurchase financing commitments totaling $900 million:
« In February 2007, we increased our total commitment from Bear Steams by $250 million to $450 million.

« In February 2007, we increased our total commitment from Morgan Stanley by $100 million to $375
million.

o In March 2007, we renewed our $250 million master repurchase agreement with JPMorgan, extending the
maturity by a full year to October 2008,

e In July 2007, we entered into a new $250 million master repurchase agreement with Citigroup Financial
Products [nc. and Citigroup Global Markets Inc.

e In October 2007, we amended and restated our master repurchase agreement with Goldman Sachs,
increasing the facility’s commitment by $50 million to $200 million.

In July 2007, we received ratings upgrades to seven classes and ratings affirmation on seven classes of our third
CDO, CT CDO Ill. The ratings action was attributed to the credit quality of the underlying portfolio of CMBS
bonds.

In 2007, we continued to expand our invesiment management business by, (a) raising two new private equity
vehicles, CT Opportunity Partners 1, LP and the CTX Fund I, L.P,, (b) increasing our CT High Grade
Mezzanine®™ account mandate by $100 million and extending its investment period to July 2008, and (c)
extending the investment period of CT Large Loan 2006, Inc. by one year to May 2008. Our investment
management business is designed 1o complement the investing activities of our balance sheet making investments
which are senior, junior or pari passu with the balance sheet and, in certain cases, in products that are unsuitabie
for the balance sheet.

e CT Opportunity Partners 1, LP, or CTOPI, is a multi-investor private equity fund designed to invest in
commercia) real estate debt and equity investments, specifically taking advantage of the current
dislocation in the commercial real estate capital markets. CTOPI held its initial closing on December 13,
2007, with $314 million of equity commitments ($167 million immediately available) and, subsequent to
year end, held two additional closings bringing total equity commitments to $389 million ($271 million
immediately available) as of February 20, 2008. We have committed to invest $25 million in the vehicle




and entities controlled by our chairman have committed to invest $20 million. The fund’s investment
period expires in December of 2010, and we earn base management fees as the investment manager of
CTOPI (1.64% of committed equity during the investment period and of invested capital thereafier). In
addition, we eam pross incentive management fees of 20% of profits after a 9% preferred return and a
100% return of capital.

e CTX Fund I, L.P., or the CTX Fund, is a single investor fund designed to invest in collateralized debt
obligations, or CDOs, sponsored but not issued by us. The CTX Fund was initially capitalized with $50
million and, subsequent to year end, the capital commitment was reduced to $10 million as we do not
anticipate further investment activity for the account. We do not eam fees on the CTX Fund, however,
we earn CDO management fees from the CDOs in which the CTX Fund invests. We sponsored one such
CDO in 2007, a $500 million CDO secured primarily by credit default swaps referencing CMBS,

« CT High Grade Mezzanine®™, or CT High Grade, closed in November 2006, with a single, related party
investor committing $250 million. This separate account does not utilize leverage and we eamn
management fees of 0.25% per annum of invested assets. In July 2007, we upsized the account by $100
million to $350 mitlion and extended the investment period to July 2008.

¢ CT Large Loan 2006, Inc., or CT Large Loan, closed in May 2006 with total equity commitments of $325
million from eight third party investors. The fund employs leverage (not to exceed a two to one ratio of
debt to equity), and we carn management fees of 0.75% per annum of invested assets (capped at 1.5% on
invested equity). In April 2007, we extended the investment period of the fund to May 2008.

Platform

Our platform consists of 53 full time professionals with extensive real estate credit, capital markets and structured
finance expertise. Our senior management team has, on average, over 20 years of industry experience. Founded
in 1997, our business has been built on long-standing relationships with borrowers, brokers and our origination
partners. This extensive network produces a pipeline of investment opportunities from which we select only those
transactions that we believe exhibit a compelling risk/return profile. Once & transaction that meets our parameters
{5 identified, we apply a disciplined process founded on four elements:

e intense credit underwriting;
e creative financial structuring;
« efficient capitalization; and
» apgressive asset management.

The first element, and the foundation of our past and future success, is our expertise in credil underwriting. For
each prospective investment, an in-house underwriting team is assigned to perform an intense ground-up analysis
of all aspects of credit risk. Qur rigorous underwriting process is embodied in our proprictary credit policies and
procedures that detail the due diligence steps from initial client contact through closing. We have developed the
capability to apply this methodology to a high volume of investment opportunities, including CMBS transactions
with a large number of underlying loans, through the combination of personnel, procedures and technology. On
all levels, input is received from our finance, capital markets, credit and legal teams, as welt as from various third
parties, including our credit providers.

Creative financial structuring is the second critical etement. In our direct investment programs, we strive to
design a customized structure for each investment that provides us with the necessary credit, yield and protective
structural features while meeting the varying, and ofien complex, needs of our clients. We believe our
demonstrated ability 10 structure creative solutions gives us a distinct competitive advantage in the marketplace.
In the structured products arena, our broad capital markets cxpertise enables us to better analyze the risks and
opportunities embedded in complex vehicles such as CMBS and synthetic securities.




Efficient capitalization is the third integral element of our platform. We utilize multiple debt and equity products
to capitalize our balance sheet and investment management business. We use Jeverage to increase returns on
equity and portfolio diversification, and work diligently to manage the increased risks associated with such
leverage. We control financial risk by actively managing our capital structure, secking to minimize our recourse
and mark-to-market exposure and to match the duration and tnterest rate index of our assets and liabilities (in
some cases, utilizing hedging instruments). Qur objective is to maximize our return on equity while managing the
risk inherent in a leveraged investment strategy. As such, we always seek to maintain adequate liquidity to defend
the balance sheet and investment management vehicles against capital market and real estate market volatility.

The final element of our platform is aggressive asset management. We pride ourselves on our active style of
managing our portfolios. From the closing of an investment through its final repayment, our dedicated assel
management team is in constant contact with our borrowers and servicers, monitoring performance of our
collateral and enforcing our rights as necessary. We are rated/approved as a special servicer by all three rating
agencics; allowing us to exercise a substantial level of control in centain structured transactions, such as CMBS.

By adhering to these four key elements that define our platform, from July 1997 through December 31, 2007, we
have originated over $10.5 billion of investments, both directly and on behalf of our managed investment
vehicles, and have limited the loss experience of our portfolios to less than 1.0%.




Business Model

As depicted below, our business model is designed to produce a unique mix of net interest income from our
balance sheet investments and fee income from our investment management operations.

Capital Trust, Inc.
(NYSE:"CT™

CT lavestment Management Co.,
LLC (CTIMCO)

® [nvestment Manager

® CDO Colloteral Manager
® Special Servicer

(Management:Contracts)

¥ [
i i i :

CT Mezzanine CT Large Loan CT High Grade CTX Fund I, CT Opportunity
2006, Inc. Mezzanine™ L.P. Partners I, LP

Partuers 111, Inc.

We allocate opportunities between our balance sheet and investment management vehicles based upon our
assessment of the availability and relative cost of capital, the risk and return profiles of each investment and
applicable regulatory requirements. The combination of balance sheet and investment management capabilities
allows us to maximize the scope of opportunities upon which we can capitalize. Our goal is to deliver a stable,
growing stream of eamings from these two complementary activities.

Currently, we are investing capital for our own account, as well as on behalf of CT Large Loan, CT High Grade,
CTX Fund, and CTOPI. All of these entities are designed to complement the activities of our balance sheet. At
year end 2007, in addition to our active investment management mandates, we manage one other vehicle, CT
Meczzanine Partners 111 Inc. or Fund 1II. Fund 11l has completed its investment period and is now liquidating in
the ordinary course.

We operate our business to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. Our primary reason for operating
as a REIT is to pay dividends to our sharcholders on a tax-efficient basis. We manage our balance sheet
investments to produce a portfolio that meets the asset and income tests necessary to maintain our REIT
qualification and conduct our investment management business through our wholly-owned subsidiary, CT
Investment Management Co., LLC, which is subject to federal, state and city income tax.

Investment Strategies

Since 1997, our investment programs have focused on various strategies designed to take advantage of
opportunities that have developed in the commercial real estate finance sector. These opportunities have been
created largely by the evolution and growing importance of securitization in the commercial real estate debt
capital markets. With approximately $3.2 trillion outstanding as of September 30, 2007, the market for U.S.
commercial real estate debt is large and dynamic.

Depending on our assessment of relative value, our real estate investments may take a variety of forms including,
but not limited to:

¢ Mortgage Loans—These are secured property loans evidenced by a first mortgage which is senior 1o any
mezzanine financing and the owner's equity. These loans may finance stabilized properties, may be
bridge loans to finance property owners that require interim funding or may be construction loans. Qur
mortgage loans range in duration and typically require a balloon payment of principal at maturity. These




investments may include pari passu participations in mortgage loans. We may also originate and fund first
mortgage loans in which we intend to sell the senior tranche, thereby creating what we refer to as a
subordinate mortgage interest,

» Subordinate Mortgage Interests—Sometimes known as B Notes, these are loans evidenced by a junior
participation in a first mortgage, with the senior participation known as an A Note. Although a
subordinate morigage interest may be evidenced by its own promissory note, it shares a single borrower
and mortgage with the A Note and is secured by the same collateral. Subordinate mortgage interests have
the same berrower and benefit from the same underlying obligation and collateral as the A Note lender.
The subordinate mortgage interest is subordinated to the A Note by virtue of a contractual amangement
between the A Note lender and the subordinate mortgage interest lender and in most instances are
contractually limited in rights and remedies in the case of default. In some cases, there may be multiple
senior and/or junior interests in a single mortgage loan. )

¢ Mezzanine Loans—These include both property and corporate mezzanine loans. Property mezzanine
loans are secured property loans that are subordinate to a first mortgage loan, but senior to the owner’s
equity. A mezzanine loan is evidenced by its own promissory note and is typically made 1o the owner of
the property-owning entity, which is typically the first mortgage borrower. It is not secured by a mortgage
on the property, but by a pledge of the borrower's ownership inlerest in the property-owning entity.
Subject to negotiated contractual restrictions, the mezzanine lender generally has the right, following
foreclosure, to become the owner of the property, subject to the lien of the first mortgage. Corporate
mezzanine loans, on the other hand, are investments in or loans to real estate related operating companies,
including REITs. Such investments may take the form of secured debt, preferred stock and other hybrid
instruments such as convertible debt. Corporate mezzanine loans may finance, among other things,
operations, mergers and acquisitions, management buy-outs, recapitalizations, start-ups and stock buy-
backs generally involving real estate and real estate related entities.

e CMBS—These are securities collateralized by pools of individual first mortgage loans. Cash flows from
the underlying mortgages are agpregated and allocated to the different classes of securities in accordance
with their seniority, typically ranging from the AAA mted through the unrated, first loss tranche.
Administration and servicing of the pool is performed by a trustee and servicers, who act on behalf of all
security holders in accordance with contractual agreements. Our investments generally represent the
subordinated tranches in these pools ranging from the BBB rated through the unrated class, When
practical, we are designated the Special Servicer for the CMBS trusts in which we have appropriate
ownership interests, enabling us to contro! the resolution of metters which require lender approval. We
also include select investments in CDOs in this category.

» Synthetics—These instruments are contracts between parties whereby payments are exchanged based
upon the performance of an underlying reference obligation. The type of obligation referenced may be
any of the above described asset types. These investments typically take the form of either a total return
swap or a credit default swap. In addition to the performance of the reference obligation, synthetics carry
the additional risk of the performance of the counterparty.

2007 was a record year for our company in terms of origination volume, with $2.5 billion of total commitments
made for our balance sheet and our investment management vehicles. The following charts illustrate the
diversification of the assets we originated in 2007.




Investment Tvype

»
[ 334834

&9
*

15%

L 64664

*0

b4
-
.d

*

1% po s

Mezzanine Loans

Subordinate Mtge.
Interests

B CMBS

(J Mortgage Loans

8 Synthetics

15%

4% 5o It

I

4 re-9s

. 7

3%

8%

Office

@ Hotel

B Retail

0O Multifamily
& Other

O Healthcare
B Industrial

Geographic Location

6%

i if
¥ _4;1

e liiie

12%

® West
Northeast
& Southeast
O Southwest
& Northwest
0O Midwest
@ Other

1 Diversified




Business Plan

Our business strategy is to continue to grow our balance sheet invesiments and our third party assets under
manzgement, We expect the growth of our business to be driven primarily by the following activities:

¢ we will continue to make commercial real estate debt investments for our balance sheet;

e we will expand our investment management business through additional offerings of subsequent
investment management vehicles; and

+ we may incubate or acquire complementary balance sheet and investment management businesses that
leverage our core skills in credit underwriting and financial structuring.

Competition

We are engaged in a highly competitive business. In our investment activities, we compete for opportunities with
numerous public and private investiment vehicles, including financial institutions, specialty finance companies,
mortgage banks, pension funds, opportunity funds, hedge funds, REITs and other institutional investors, as well
as individuals. Many competitors are significantly larger than us, have well established operating histories and
may have greater access to capital, more resources and other advantages over us. These competitors may be
willing to accept lower returns on their investments or to compromise underwriting standards and, as a result, our
origination volume and profit margins could be adversely affected. In our investment management business, we
compete with other investment management companies in attracting third party capital for our vehicles and many
of our competitors are well established, possessing substantially greater financial, marketing and other resources.

Government Regulation

Our activitics in the United States, including the financing of our operations, are subject to a variety of federal
and state regulations. In addition, a majority of states have ceilings on interest rates chargeable to certain
customers in financing transactions. Furthermore, our international activities are also subject to local regulations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had 53 full-time employees. Our staff is employed under a co-employment
agreement with a third party human resources firm, Ambrose Employer Group, LLC. In addition, our chief
executive officer, chief operating officer, chief financial officer and chief credit officer are employed under
employment contracts. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement and
management considers the relationship with our employees to be good. In addition to our staff in New York,
Alabama, and Minnesota, we contract for the services of an additional 15 dedicated professionals employed by a
commercial real estate underwriting services firm in Chennai, India.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Corporate Governance Documents

We have adopted a code of business conduct and cthics that applies to all of our employees and our board of
directors, including our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer. This code of
business conduct and ethics is designed to comply with SEC regulations and New York Stock Exchange
corporate governance rules related to codes of conduct and ethics and is posted on our corporate website at
http://www capitaltrust.com. In addition, our corporate governance guidelines and charters for our audit,
compensation and corporate governance committees of the board of directors are also posted on our corporate
website. Copies of our code of business conduct and cthics, our corporate governance guidclines and our
committee charters are also available free of charge, upon request directed to Investor Relations, Capital.
Trust, Inc., 410 Park Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, NY 10022,




Website Access to Reports

We maintain a website at http://www.capitaltrust.com. Through our website, we make available, free of charge,
our annual proxy statement, annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuamt to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material
with, or furnish them to, the SEC. The SEC maintains a website that contains these reports at htip://www .sec.gov.




Item 1A. Risk Factors
FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION

Our Annual Report on Form [0-K for the year ended December31, 2007, our 2007 Annual Repont to
Sharcholders, any of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on Form 8-K of the Company, or
any other oral or written statements made in press releases or otherwise by or on behalf of Capital Trust, Inc.,
may contain forward lgoking statements within the meaning of the Section 21E of the Securities and Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, which involve cenain risks and uncertainties. Forward looking statements predict or
describe our future operations, business plans, business and investment strategies and portfolio management and
the performance of our investments and our invesiment management business. These forward looking statements
are identified by their use of such terms and phrases as “intends,” “intend,” “intended,” “goal,” “estimate,”
“estimates,” “expects,” “expect,” ‘“‘expected,” “‘project,” “projected,” “projections,” ‘plans,” ‘“seeks,”
“anticipates,” “anticipated,” “should,” “could,” “may,” “will,” “designed t0,” “foresceable future,” “believe,”
“believes” and “scheduled” and similar expressions. Qur actual results or outcomes may differ materially from
those anticipated. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward looking statements, which
speak only as of the date the statement was made. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Our actual results may differ significantly from any results expressed or implied by these forward looking
statements. Some, but not all, of the factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to:

» the general political, economic and competitive conditions, in the United States and foreign jurisdictions
wherein we invest,

» the level and volatility of prevailing interest rates and credit spreads, magnified by the current turmoil in
the credit markets;

» adverse changes in the real estate and real estate capital markets;
¢ difficulty in obtaining financing or raising capital, especially in the current credit and equity environment,

» the deterioration of performance and thereby credit quality of property securing our investments,
borrowers and, in general, the risks associated with the ownership and operation of real estate that may
cause cash flow deterioration to us and potentially principal losses on our investments;

» a compression of the yield on our investments and the cost of our liabilities, as well as the level of
leverage available to us;

+ adverse developments in the availability of desirable loan and investment opportunities whether they are
due to competition, regulation or otherwise;

s events, contemplated or otherwise, such as natural disasters including hurricanes and earthquakes, acts of
war and/or terrorism (such as the events of September 11, 2001) and others that may cause unanticipated
and uninsured performance declines and/or losses to us or the owners and operators of the real estate
securing our investment;

o the cost of operating our platform, including, but not limited to, the cost of operating a real estale
investment platform and the cost of operating as a publicly traded company;

» authoritative generally accepted accounting principles or policy changes from such standard-setting
bodies as the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission, Internal
Revenue Service, the New York Stock Exchange, and other authorities that we are subject to, as weli as
their counterparts in any foreign jurisdictions where we might do business; and

¢ the risk factors set forth below.




Risks Related to Our Investment Program

Our existing loans and investments expose us to a high degree of risk associated with investing in real estate
assels.

Real estate historically has experienced significant fluctuations and cycles in performance that may result in
reductions in the value of our real estate related investments, The performance and value of our loans and
investments once originated or acquired by us depends upon many factors beyond our contrel. The ultimate
performance and value of our investments is subject to the varying degrees of risk gencrally incident to the
ownership and operation of the properties which collateralize or support our investments. The ultimate
performance and value of our loans and investments depends upon, in large part, the commercial property
owner's ability to operate the property so that it produces sufficient cash flows necessary either to pay the interest
and principal due to us on our loans and investments or pay us as an equity advisor. Revenues and cash flows
may be adversely affected by:

» changes in national economic conditions;

e changes in local real estate market conditions due to changes in national or local economic conditions or
changes in local property market charactenistics;

e the extent of the impact of the current turmail in the sub-prime residential loan market on credit markets;

e the lack of demand for commercial real estaie collateralized debt obligations, or CDOs, which has been
halted as a result of the current turmoil in the credit markets;

o competition from other properties offering the same or similar services;
» changes in interest rates and in the state of the debt and equity capital markets;

» the ongoing need for capital improvements, particularly in older building structures;

s changes in real estate tax rates and other operating expenses;

adverse changes in governmental rules and fiscal policies, civil unrest, acts of God, including carthquakes,
hurricanes and other natural disasters, and acts of war or terrorism, which may decrease the availability of
or increase the cost of insurance or result in uninsured losses;

¢ adverse changes in zoning laws;
« the impact of present or future environmenta! legislation and compliance with environmental laws;

» the impact of lawsuits which could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert management’s
time and attention from our day-to-day operations; and

» other factors that are beyond our contro) and the controt of the commercial property owners.

In the event that any of the properties underlying our loans or investments experiences any of the foregoing
events or occurrences, the value of, and return on, such investments, our profitability and the market price of our
class A common stock would be negatively impacted,

A prolonged economic slowdown, a lengthy or severe recession, or declining real estate values could harm our
operations.

We believe the risks associated with our business are more severe during periods of economic slowdown or
recession if these periods are accompanied by declining real estate values. Declining real estate values would
likely reduce the level of new mortgage loan originations, since borrowers often use increases in the value of
their existing properties to support the purchase of or investment in additional properties, which in turn could
lead to fewer opportunities for our investment. Borrowers may also be less able to pay principal and interest on
our loans if the real estate economy weakens, Further, declining real estate vatues significanily increase the
likelihood that we will incur losses on our loans in the event of default because the value of our collateral may be
insufficient to cover our basis in the loan. Any sustained period of increased payment delinquencies, foreclosures
or losses could adversely affect both our net interest income from loans in our portfolio as well as our ability to
operale our investment management business, which would significantly harm our revenues, results of
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operations, financial condition, liquidity, business prospects and our ability to make distributions to the
stockholders.

We may change our investment strategy without shareholder consent, which may result in riskier investments
than our currenf investments.

We may seek to expand our investment activities beyond real estate related investments. We may change our
investment activitics at any time without the consent of our shareholders, which could result in our making
investments that are different from, and possibly riskier than, our current real estate investments. New
investments we may make outside of our area of hlstoncai expertise may not perform as well as our current
portfolio of real estate related investments.

We are exposed to the risks involved with making subordinated investments,

Our subordinated investments involve the risks attendant to investments consisting of subordinated loans and
similar positions. In many cases, management of our investments and our remedies with respect thereto,
including the ability to foreclose on or direct decisions with respect 1o the collateral securing such investments, is
subject to the rights of senior lenders and the rights set forth in inter-creditor or servicing agreements. Our
interests and those of the senior lenders and other interested parties may not be aligned.

We may not be able to obtain the level of leverage necessary to optimize our return on investment,

Our returm on investment depends, in part, upon our ability to grow our balance sheet portfolio of invested assets
and those of our investment management vehicles through the use of leverage at a cost of debt that is lower than
the yield earned on our investments. We generally obtain leverage through the issuance of CDOs, repurchase
agreements and other borrowings. Qur ability to obtain the necessary leverage on beneficial terms ultimately
depends upon the quality of the portfolio assets that collateralize our indebtedness. Our failure to obtain and/or
maintain leverage al desired levels, or to obtain leverage on attractive terms, would have an adverse effect on our
performance or that of our investment management vehicles. Moreover, we arc dependent upon a limited
universe of lenders 1o provide financing under repurchase agreements for our origination or acquisition of loans
and invesiments, and there can be no assurance that these agreements will be renewed or extended at expiration,
Our ability to obtain financing through CDOs is subject to conditions in the debt capital markets which are
impacted by factors beyond our control that may at times be adverse and reduce the leve! of investor demand for
such securities.

We are subject to the risks of holding leveraged investments,

Leverage creales an opportunity for increased return on equity, but at the same time creates risk for us and our
invesiment managememt vehicles. For example, leveraging magnifies changes in our net worth. We and our
investment management vehicles will leverage assets only when there is an expectation that leverage will provide
a benefit, such as enhancing retums, although we cannot assure you thal the use of leverage will prove to be
beneficial. Increases in credit spreads in the market generally may adversely affect the market value of our
investments. Because borrowings under our repurchase agreements and some other agreements are secured by
our invesiments, which are subject to being marked to market by our credit providers, the borrowings available to
us may decline if the market value of our investments decline. Morcover, we cannot assure you that we will be
able to meet mark-to-market capital calls or debt service obligations in general and, to the extent such obligations
are not met, there is a risk of loss of some or all of our investments through forectosure or a financial loss if we or
they are required to liquidate assects, the impact of which could be magnified if such a liquidation is at a
commercially inopportune time.

The leverage providers under our repurchase agreements may elect not to extend financing to us, which could
quickly and seriously impair our liguidity.

We finance a meaningful portion of our investments with repurchase agreements, which are shoni-term financing
arrangements. Under the terms of these agreements, we sell an investment to a counterparty for a specified price
and concurrently agree to repurchase the same investment from our counterparty at a later date at the specified
price. During the term of the repurchase agreement the counterparty makes funds available to us and holds the
investment as collateral and we pay them interest on our borrowings. When the term of a repurchase agreement
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ends, we are required to repurchase the invesimem for the specified repurchase price. If we want to continue to
finance the investment with a repurchase agreement, we ask the counterparty to extend or renew the repurchase
agreement for another term. Qur counterparties are not required 1o roll our repurchase agreements upon the
expiration of the stated terms, which subjects us 1o a number of risks. The renewed repurchase agreement could
impose more onerous terms upon us, including higher interest rates and lower advance rates (a reduction in the
amount of leverage available to us). More significantly, in the event that a counterparty elects not to roll our
repurchase financings with them, we would be required pay the counterparty the full repurchase price on the
maturity date and find an alternate source of financing, Alternate sources of financing may be more expensive,
contain more onerous terms or simply may not be available. If we were unable to pay the repurchase price for any
investment financed with a repurchase agreement, the counterparty has the right to sell the underlying invesiment
being held as collateral and require us to compensate them for any shortfall between the value of our ebligation to
the counterparty and the amount for which the collateral was sold (which may be sold at a significantly
discounted price}.

We may guarantee some of our leverage and contingent obligations.

We guarantee the performance of some of our obligations, including, but not limited to, most of our repurchase
agreements, derivative agreements, obligations to co-invest in our investment management vehicles and
unsecured indebtedness. The non-performance of such obligations may cause losses to us in excess of the capital
we initially may have invested or committed under such obligations and there is no assurance that we will have
sufficient capital to cover any such losses.

Our secured and unsecured credit agreements may impose restrictions on our operation of the business.

Under our secured and unsecured credit agreements, such as our repurchase agreements and derivalive
agreements, we may make certain representations, warranties and affirmative and negative covenants that may
restrict our ability to operate while still utilizing those sources of credit. Such representations, warranties and
covenants may include, but are not limited lo, restrictions on corporate guarantees, the maintenance of certain
financial ratios, including our ratio of debt to equity capital and our debt service coverage ratio, as well as the
maintenance of a minimum net worth, restrictions against a change of control of our company and limitations on
alternative sources of capital. In addition, we are subject to potential margin calls under the terms of our
repurchase facilities should the value of our investments decline. If margin calis are not met, we would be forced
to sell investments, which could lead to losses.

Our success depends on the availability of attractive investments and our ability to identify, structure,
consummate, leverage, manage and realize returns on attractive investments.

Qur operating resulis are dependent upon the availability of, as well as our ability to identify, structure,
consummate, leverage, manage and realize returns on credil sensitive investment opportunities. In general, the
availability of desirable credit sensitive investment opportunities and, consequently, our balance sheet returns and
our investment management vehicles™ returns, will be affected by the level and volatility of interest rates,
conditions in the financial markets, general economic conditions, the demand for credil sensitive investment
opportunities and the supply of capital for such invesiment opportunities. We cannot make any assurances that
we will be successful in identifying and consummaling investments which satisfy our rate of return objectives or
that such investments, once consummated, will perform as anticipated. In addition, if we are not successful in
investing for our investment management vehicles, the potential revenues we carn from management fees and co-
investment returns will be reduced. We may expend significant time and resources in idemifying and pursuing
targeted investments, some of which may not be consummated.

The real estate investment bust'n}ess is highly competitive. Qur success depends on our ability to compete with
other providers of capital for real estate investments.

Our business is highly competitive. Competition may cause us to accept economic or structural features in our
investments that we would not have otherwise accepted and it may cause us to search for investments in markets
outside of our traditional product expertise. We compete for attractive investments with traditional lending
sources, such as insurance companies and banks, as well as other REITs, specialty finance companies and private
equity vehicles with similar investment objectives, which may make it more difficult for us to consummate our
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target investments. Many of our competitors have greater financial resources and lower costs of capital than we
do, which provides them with greater operating flexibility and a competitive advantage relative to us.

Qur loans and investments may be subject to fluctuations in interest rates which may not be adeguately
protecied, or protected at all, by our hedging strategies.

Our current balance sheet investment program emphasizes loans with both floating interest rates and fixed
interest rates. Floating rate investments earn interest at rates that adjust from time to time (typically monthly)
based upon an index (typically one month LIBOR). These floating rate loans are insulated from changes in value
specifically due to changes in interest rates, however, the coupons they eam fluctuate based upon interest rates
(again, typically one month LIBOR) and, in a declining and/or low interest rate environment, these loans will
earn lower rates of interest and this will impact our operating performance and our dividend. Fixed interest rate
investments, however, do not have adjusting interest rates and, as prevailing interest rates change, the relative
value of the fixed cash flows from these investments will cause potentially significant changes in value.
Depending on market conditions, fixed rate assets may become a greater portion of our new loan originations.
We may employ various hedging strategies to limit the effects of changes in interest rates (and in some cases
credit spreads), including engaging in interest rate swaps, caps, floors and other interest rate derivative products.
We believe that no strategy can completely insulate us or our investment management vehicles from the risks
associated with interest rate changes and there is a risk that they may provide no protection at all and potentially
compound the impact of changes in interest rates. Hedging transactions involve certain additional risks such as
counterparty risk, the legal enforceability of hedging contracts, the carly repayment of hedged transactions and
the risk that unanticipated and significant changes in interest rates may cause a significant loss of basis in the
contract and a change in current period expense. We cannot make assurances that we will be able to enter into
hedging transactions or that such hedging transactions will adequately protect us or our investment management
vehicles against the foregoing risks.

Accounting for derivatives under GAAP is cxtremely complicated. Any failure by us to account for our
derivatives properly in accordance with GAAP in our financial statements could adversely affect our eamings. [n
particular, cash flow hedges which are not perfectly corvelated (and appropriately designated and/or documented
as such) with a variable rate financing will impact our reported income as gains, and losses on the ineffective
portion of such hedges.

Our use of leverage may create a mismatch with the duration and index of the investments that we are
Sfinancing.

We attempt to structure our leverage to minimize the difference between the term of our invesiments and the
leverage we use to finance such an investment. In the event that our leverage is shorter term than the financed
investment, we may not be able to extend or find appropriate replacement leverage and that would have an
adverse impact on our liquidity and our returns. In the event that our leverage is longer term than the financed
investment, we may not be able to repay such leverage or replace the financed investment with an optimal
substitute or at all, which will negatively impact our desired leveraged returns.

We attempt to structure our leverage such that we minimize the difference between the index of our investments
and the index of our leverage—financing floating rate investments with floating rate leverage and fixed rate
investments with fixed rate leverage. If such a product is not available to us from our lenders on reasonable
terms, we may use hedging instruments to effectively create such a match. For example, in the case of fixed rate
investments, we may finance such an investment with floating rate leverage, but effectively convert all or a
portion of the attendant leverage 10 fixed rate using hedging strategies,

Our attempts to mitigate such risk are subject to factors outside of our control, such as the availability to us of
favorable financing and hedging options, which is subject to a variety of factors, of which duration and term
matching are only two such factors.

Qur loans and investments may be illiquid which will constrain our ability to vary our portfolio of investments.

Our real estate investments and structured financial product investments are relatively illiquid and some are
highly illiquid. Such illiquidity may limit our ability to vary our portfolio or our investment management




vehicles’ portfolios of investments in response to changes in economic and other conditions. llliquidity may
result from the absence of an established market for investments as well as the legal or contractual restrictions on
their resale. In addition, illiquidity may result from the decling in value of a property securing these investments.
We cannol make assurances that the fair market value of any of the real property serving as security will not
decrease in the future, leaving our or our investment management vehicles’ investments under-collateralized or
not collateralized at all, which coutd impair the liquidity and value, as well as our return on such investments.

We may not have control over certain of cur loans and investments,

Our ability to manage our portfolio of loans and investments may be limited by the form in which they are made.
In certain sitvations, we or our investment management vehicles may:

¢ acquire invesiments subject to rights of senior classes and servicers under inter-creditor or servicing
agreemem.s;

e acquire only a participation in an underlying investment;

» co-invest with third parties through partnerships, joint ventures or other entities, thereby acquiring non-
controlling interests; or

+ rely on independent third party management or strategic pariners with respect to the management of an
assel,

Therefore, we may not be able to exercise control over the loan or investment. Such financial assets may involve
risks not present in investments where senior creditors, servicers or third party controlling investors are not
involved. Our rights to control the process following a borrower default may be subject to the nights of senior
creditors or servicers whose interests may not be aligned with ours. A third party partner or co-venturer may have
financial difficulties resulting in a negative impact on such asset, may have economic or business interests or
goals which are inconsistent with ours and those of our investment management vehicles, or may be in a position
to take action contrary to our or our investment management vehicles’ investment objectives. kn addition, we and
our investmem ranagemen vehicles may, in cemain circumstances, be liable for the actions of our third party
partners or co-venturers.

We may not achieve our targeted rate of return on our investments,

We originate or acquire investments based on our estimates or projections of overall rates of return on such
investments, which in tumn are based upon, among other considerations, assumptions regarding the performance
of assets, the amount and terms of available financing 10 obtain desired teverage and the manner and timing of
dispositions, including possible asset recovery and remediation strategics, all of which are subject to significant
uncertainty. In addition, events or conditions that we have not anticipated may occur and may have a significant
effect on the actual rate of return received on an investment.

As we acquire or originate investments for cur balance sheet porifolio, whether as new additions or as
replacements for maturing investments, there can be no assurance that we will be able to originale or acquire
investments that produce rates of return comparable to rates on our existing investments.

Investor demand for commercial real estate CDOs has been substantially curtailed.

The recent turmoil in the structured finance markets, in particular the sub-prime residential loan market, has
negatively impacted the credit markets generally, and, as a result, investor demand for commercial real estate
CDOs has been substantially curtailed. In recent years, we have relied 1o a substantial extent on CDO financings
to obtain maich funded financing for our investments, Until the market for commercial real estate CDOs
recovers, we may be unable to utilize CDOs to finance our investments and we may need to utilize less favorsble
sources of financing to finance our investments on a long-term basis. There can be no assurance as to when
demand for commercial real estate CDOs wilt return or the terms of such securities investors will demand or
whether we will be able to issue CDOs to finance our investments on terms beneficial to us.




We may not be able to acquire suitable investments for a CDO issuance, or we may not be able 1o issue CDOs
on attractive terms, which may require us to utilize more costly financing for our investments.

We intend to capitalize on opportunities to finance certain of our investments through the issuance of CDOs.
During the period that we are acquiring these investments, we intend to finance our purchases through repurchase
agreements. We use these repurchase agreements to finance our acquisition of investments until we have
accumulated a sufficient quantity of investments, at which time we may refinance them through a securitization,
such as a CDO issuance. As a result, we are subject to the risk that we will not be able to acquire a sufficient
amount of eligible investments to maximize the efficiency of a CDQ issuance. In addition, conditions in the debt
capital markets may make the issuance of CDOs less attractive to us even when we do have a sufficient pool of
collateral. If we ar¢ unable to issue a CDO to finance these investments, we may be required to utilize other
forms of potentially less attractive financing, which may require a larger portion of our cash flows and thereby
reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders and funds available for operations and
investments, and which may also require us to assume higher levels of risk when financing our investments.

We may not be able to find suitable replacement investments for CDOs with reinvestment periods.

Some of our CDOs have periods where principal proceeds received from assets securing the CDO can be
reinvested only for a defined period of time, commonly referred to as a reinvestment period. Our ability to find
suitable investments during the reinvestment period that meet the criteria sct forth in the CDO documentation and
by rating agencies may determine the success of our CDO investments. Our potential inability to find suitable
investments may cause, among other things, lower retumns, interest deficiencies, hyper-amortization of the senior
CDO liabilities and may cause us to reduce the life of our CDOs and accelerate the amortization of certain fees
and expenses.

The use of CDQ financings with over-collateralization and interest coverage requirements may have a
negative impact on our cash flow.

The terms of CDOs will generally provide that the principal amount of investments must exceed the principal
balance of the related bonds by a certain amount and that interest income exceeds interest expensc by a certain
amount. Generally, CDO terms provide that, if certain delinquencies, losses, and/or or other factors cause a
decline in collateral or cash flow levels, the cash flow otherwise payable on our retained subordinated classes
may be redirected to repay classes of CDOs senior to ours until the issuer or the collateral is in compliance with
the terms of the goveming documents. Other tests (based on delinquency levels or other criteria) may restrict our
ability to receive net income from assets pledged to secure CDOs. We cannot assure you that the performance
tests will be satisfied. With respect to future CDOs we may issue, we cannot assure you, in advance of
completing negotiations with the rating agencies or other key transaction parties as to the actual terms of the
delinquency tests, over-collateralization and interest coverage terms, cash flow release mechanisms or other
significant factors upon which net income to us will be calculated. Failure 10 obtain favorable terms with regard
1o these matters may adversely affect the availability of net income to us. If our investments fail to perform as
amticipated, our over-collateralization, interest coverage or other credit enhancement expense associated with our
CDO financings will increase,

We may be required to repurchase loans that we have sold or to indemnify holders of our CDOs.

If any of the loans we originate or acquire and sell or securilize through CDOs do not comply with
representations and warranties that we make about certain characteristics of the loans, the borrowers and the
underlying properties, we may be required to repurchase those loans or replace them with substitute loans. In
addition, in the case of loans thal we have sold instead of retained, we may be required to indemnify persons for
losses or expenses incurred as a result of a breach of a representation or warranty. Repurchased loans typically
require a significant altocation of working capital to carry on our books, and our ability to borrow against such
assets is limited. Any significant repurchases or indemnification payments could adversely affect our financial
condition and operating results.
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The commercial morigage and mezzanine loans we originate or acquire and the commercial mortgage loans
underlping the commercial morigage backed securities in which we invest are subject 1o delinquency,
Joreclosure and loss, which could result in losses to us.

Our commercial morigage and mezzanine loans are secured by commercial property and are subject to risks of
delinquency and foreclosure, and risks of loss that are greater than similar risks associated with loans made on the
security of single-family residential property. The ability of a borrower to repay a loan secured by an income-
producing property typically is dependent primarily upon the successful operation of the property rather than
upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower. Il the net operating income of the property is
reduced, the borrower's ability to repay the loan may be impaired. Net operating income of an income-producing
properly can be affected by, among other things, tenant mix, success of tenant businesses, property management
decisions, property location and condition, competition from comparable types of properties, changes in laws that
increase operating expenses or limit rents that may be charged, any need to address environmental contamination
at the property, changes in national, regional or local economic conditions and/or specific industry segments,
declines in regional or local real estate values, declines in regional or local rental or occupancy rates, increases in
interest rates, real estate tax rates and other operating expenses, and changes in governmenial rules, regulations
and fiscal policies, including environmental legislation, acts of God, terrorism, social unrest and civil
disturbances.

Our investinents in subordinated commercial morigage backed securities and similar investments are subject
to loxses.

In general, tosses on an assel securing a mortgage loan included in a securitization will be borne first by the
equity holder of the property and then by the most junior security holder, referred to as the “first loss” position. In
the event of default and the exhaustion of any equity support and any classes of securities junior to those in which
we invest (and in some cases we may be invested in the junior most classes of securitizations), we may not be
able to recover all of our investment in the securitics we purchase. In addition, if the underlying mongage
portfolio has been overvalued by the originator, or if the values subsequently decline and, as a result, less
collateral is available to satisfy intcrest and principal payments due on the related morigage backed securities, the
securities in which we invest may incur significant losses. Subordinate interests generally are not actively wraded
and are relatively illiquid investments and recent volatility in CMBS trading markets has caused the value of
these investments to decline.

The prices of lower credit quality commercial mortgage backed securities, or CMBS, are generally less sensitive
to interest rate changes than more highly rated investments, but more sensitive to adverse economic downtumns
and underlying borrower developments. A projection of an economic downtum, for example, could cause a
decline in the price of lower credit quality CMBS because the ability of borrowers to make principal and interest
payments on the mortgages underlying the mortgage backed securities may be impaired. In such event, existing
credit suppori in the securitization structure may be insufficient to protect us against the loss of our principal on
these secunties,

We may invest in non-performing assers that are subject to a higher degree of financial risk.

We will make investments in non-performing or other troubled assets that involve a high degree of financial risk
and there can be no assurance that our investment objectives will be realized or that there will be any retum on
our investment. Furthermore, investments in properties operating in workout modes or under bankruptcy
protection laws may, in cenain circumstances, be subject 1o additional potential liabilities that could exceed the
value of our original investment.

The impact of the events of September 11, 2001 and the effect thereon on terrorism insurance expose us to
certain risks.

The terrorist attacks on September [ 1, 2001 disrupted the 1.8, financial markets, including the real estate capital
markels, and negatively impacted the U.S. economy in general. Any future terrorist attacks, the anticipation of
any such attacks, and the consequences of any military or other response by the U.S. and its allies may have a
further adverse impact on the LS. financial markets and the economy generally. We cannot predict the severity
of the effect that such luture events would have on the U.S. financial markets, the economy or our business.
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In addition, the events of September 11, 2001 created significant uncertainty regarding the ability of real estate
owners of high profile assets to obtain insurance coverage protecting against terrorist attacks at commercially
reasonable rates, if at all. The Tervorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002, or TRIA, was extended in December 2007,
Coverage under the new law, the Terrorism Risk Insurance Program Reauthorization Act, or TRIPRA, now
expires in 2014. There is no assurance that TRIPRA will be exiended beyond 2014. The absence of affordable
insurance coverage may adversely affect the general real estate lending market, lending volume and the market's
overal] liquidity and may reduce the number of suitable investment opportunities available to us and the pace at
which we are able to make investments. If' the properties that we invest in are unable to obtain affordable
insurance coverage, the value of those investments could decline and in the event of an uninsured loss, we could
lose all or a portion of our investment.

The economic impact of any future terrorist attacks could also adversely affect the credit quality of some of our
loans and investments. Some of our loans and investments will be more susceptible to such adverse effects than
others. We may suffer losses as a result of the adverse impact of any future attacks and these losses may
adversely impact our results of operations.

Our non-U.S. investments will expose us to certain risks.

We make investments in foreign countries. Investing in foreign countries involves certain additional risks that
may not exist when investing in the United States, The risks involved in foreign investments include:

« exposure to local economic conditions, local interest rates, foreign exchange restrictions and restrictions
on the withdrawal of foreign investment and eamings, investment restrictions or requirements,
expropriations of property and changes in foreign taxation structures;

o potential adverse changes in the diplomatic relations of foreign countries with the United States and
government policies against investments by foreigners;

« changes in foreign regulations,

» hostility from local populations, potential instability of foreign govemnments and risks of insurrections,
terrorist attacks, war or other military action;

+ fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates,
o changes in social, political, legal, taxation and other conditions affecting our intemnational investment;

¢ logistical barriers to our timely receiving the financial information relating to our international
investments that may need to be included in our periodic reporting obligations as a public company; and

e lack of uniform accounting standards (including availability of information in accordance with US.
generally accepted accounting principles).

Unfavorable legal, regulatory, economic or political changes such as those described above could adversely affect
our financial condition and results of operations.

We may from time to lime invest a portion of our assets in non-U.S. investments or in instruments denominated
in non-U.S. currencies, the prices of which will be determined with reference to cumrencies other than the U.S.
doilar. We may hedge our foreign currency exposure. To the extent unhedged, the value of our non-U.S. assets
will fluctuate with U.S. dollar exchange rates as well as the price changes of our investments in the various local
markets and currencies. Among the factors that may affect cusrency values are trade balances, the levet of short-
term interest rates, differences in relative values of similar assets in different currencies, long-lerm opportunities
for investment and capital appreciation and political developments. An increase in the value of the U.S. dollar
compared to the other currencies in which we make our investments will reduce the effect of increases and
magnify the effect of decreases in the prices of our securities in their local markets. We could realize a net loss on
an investment, even if there were a gain on the underlying investment before currency losses were taken into
account. We may seek to hedge currency risks by investing in currencies, currency futures contracts and options
on currency futures contracts, forward currency exchange contracts, swaps, options or any combination thereof
(whether or not exchange traded), but there can be no assurance that these strategies will be effective, and such
techniques entail costs and additional risks.
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There are increased risks involved with construction lending activities.

We originate loans for the construction of commercial and residential use properties. Construction lending
generally is considered to involve a higher degree of risk than other types of lending due to a vaniety of factors,
including generally larger loan balances, the dependency on successful completion of a project, the dependency
upon the successful operation of the project (such as achicving satisfactory occupancy and rental rates) for
repayment, the difficulties in estimating construction costs and loan terms which often do not require full
amortization of the loan over its term and, instead, provide for a balloon payment at stated maturity,

Some of our investments and investment opportunities may be in synthetic form.

Synthetic investments are contracts between parties whereby payments are exchanged based upon the
performance of an underlying obligation. In addition to the risks associaled with the performance of the
obligation, these synthetic interests carry the risk of the counterparty not performing its contractual obligations.
Market standards, GAAP accounting methodology and tax regulations related to these investments are evolving,
and we cannot be certain that their evolution will not adversely impact the value or sustainability of these
investments. Furthermore, our ability to invest in synthetic investments, other than through a taxable REIT
subsidiaries, may be severely limited by the REIT qualification requirements because synthetic investment
contracts generally are not qualifying assets and do not produce qualifying income for purposes of the REIT asset
and income tests,

Risks Related to OQur Investment Management Business

We are subject to risks and uncertainties associated with operating our investment management business, and
we may not achieve from this business the investment returns that we expect.

We will encounter risks and difficulties as we operate our investment management business. In order to achieve
our goals as an investment manager, we must:

¢ manage our investment management vehicles successfully by investing their capital in suitable
investments that meet their respective investment crileria;

» actively manage the assets in our portfolios in order to realize targeted performance;

¢ create incentives for our management and professional staff to the task of developing and operating the
investment management business; and

 structure, sponsor and capitalize future investment management vehicles that provide investors with
attractive invesiment opportunities,

If we do not successfully operate our investment management business 1o achieve the investment returns that we
or the market anticipates, our results of operations may be adversely impacted.

We may expand our investment management business to involve other investment classes where we do not have
prior investment experience. We may find it difficult to attrach third pany investors without a performance track
record involving such investments. Even if we attract third party capital, there can be no assurance that we will be
successful in deploying the capital to achieve targeted returns on the investments.

We face substantial competition from established participants in the private equity market as we offer
mezzanine and other investment management vehicles to third party investors.

We face significant competition from large financial and other institutions thal have proven track records in
marketing and maneging investment management vehicles and otherwise have a competitive advantage over us
because they have access to pre-existing third party investor networks into which they can channel competing
investment opportunities. |f our competitors offer investment products that are competitive with products offered
by us, we will find it more difficult 10 attract investors and to capitalize our investment management vehicles.




Our investment management vehicles are subject to the risk of defaults by third party investors on their capital
commifments.

The capital commitments made by third party investors to our investment management vehicles represent
unsecured promises by those investors to contribute cash to the investment management vehicles from time to
time as investments are made by the investment management vehicles. Accordingly, we are subject to general
credit risks that the investors may default on their capital commitments. If defaults occur, we may not be able to
close loans and investments we have identified and negotiated which could materially and adversely affect the
investment management vehicles' investment program or make us liable for breach of contract, in cither case to
the detriment of our franchise in the private equity market,

Risks Related to Our Company

We are dependent upon our senior management team to develop and operate our business.

Our ability to develop and operate our business depends to a substantial extent upon the experience, relationships
and expertise of our senior management and key employces. We cannot assure you that these individuals will
remain in our employ. The employment agreements with {i) our chief executive officer, John R. Klopp, expires
on December 31, 2008, unless further extended, (i) our chief operating officer, Stephen D. Plavin, expires on
December 28, 2008 (subject to our option to extend for an additional twelve months), unless further extended,
(iii) our chief financial officer, Geoffrey G. Jervis, expircs on December 31, 2009 (subject to our option to extend
for an additional twelve months), unless further extended, and (iv) our chief credit officer, Thomas C. Ruffing,
expires on December 31, 2008, unless further extended. The loss of the services of our senior management and
key employees could have a material adverse effect on our operations.

There may be conflicts between the interests of our investment management vehicles and us.

We are subject to a number of potential conflicts between our interests and the interests of our investment
management vehicles. We are subject to potential conflicts of interest in the allocation of investment
opportunities between our balance sheet and our investment management vehicles. In addition, we may make
investments that are senior or junior to, participations in, or have rights and interests different from or adverse to,
the investments made by our invesiment management vehicles. Qur interests in such investments may conflict
with the interests of our investment management vehicles in related investments at the time of origination or in
the event of a default or restructuring of the investment. Finally, our officers and employees may have conflicts in
allocating their time and services among us and our investment management vehicles.

We must manage our portfolio in @ manner that allows us to rely on an exclusion from registration under the
Investment Campany Act of 1940 in order to avoid the consequences of regulation under that Act

We rely on an exclusion from registration as an investment company afforded by Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the
Investment Company Act of 1940. Under this exclusion, we are required to maintain, on the basis of positions
1aken by the SEC staff in interpretive and no-action letters, a minimum of 55% of the value of the total assets of
our portfolio in “mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate,” which we refer to as “Qualifying
Interests,” and a minimum of 80% in Qualifying Interests and real estate related assets. Because registration as an
investment company would significantly affect our ability to engage in ceriain transactions or to organize
ourselves in the manner we are currently organized, we intend to maintain our qualification for this exclusion
from registration. In the past, when required due to the mix of assets in our balance sheet portfolio, we have
purchased all of the ouistanding interests in pools of whole residential mortgage loans, which we treat as
Qualifying Interests based on SEC staff positions. Investments in such pools of whole residential mortgage loans
may not represent an optimum use of our investable capital when compared to the available investments we
target pursuant to our investment strategy. These investments present additional risks to us, and these risks are
compounded by our inexperience with such investments. We continue to analyze our investments and may
acquire other pools of whole loan residential mortgage backed securities when and if required for compliance
purposes.

We treat our investments in CMBS, B Notes and mezzanine loens as Qualifying Interests for purposes of
determining our eligibility for the exclusion provided by Section 3(c)(SXC) to the extent such treatment is
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consistent with guidance provided by the SEC or its staff. In the absence of such guidance that otherwise supports
the treatment of these investments as Qualifying Interests, we will treat them, for purposes of determining our
cligibility for the exclusion provided by Section 3(¢)(5)(C), as real estate related assets or miscellaneous assets, as
appropriate.

If our portfolio does not comply with the requirements of the exclusion we rely upon, we could be forced to alter
our portfolio by selling or otherwise disposing of a substantial portion of the assets that are not Qualifying
Interests or by acquiring a significant position in assets that are Qualifying Interests. Aliering our portfolio in this
manner may have an adverse effect on our investments if we are forced to dispose of or acquire assets in an
unfavorable market and may adversely affect our stock price.

If it were established that we were an unregistered investment company, there would be a risk that we would be
subject to monetary penalties and injunctive relief in an action brought by the SEC, that we would be unable to
enforce contracts with third parties and that third parties could seek to obtain rescission of transactions
undertaken during the period it was established that we were an unregistered invesiment company and limitations
on corporate leverage that would have an adverse impact on our investment returns.

We may expand our franchise through business acquisitions and the recruitment of financial professionals,
which may present additional costs and other challenges and may not prove successful,

Our business plan contemplates expansion of our franchise into complementary investment strategies involving
other credit-sensitive structured financial products. We may undertake such expansion through business
acquisitions or the recruitment of financial professionals with experience in other products. We may also expend
a substantial amount of time and capital pursuing opportunities to expand into complementary investment
strategies that we do not consummate, The expansion of our operations could place a significant strain on our
management, financial and other resources. Our ability to manage future expansion will depend upon our ability
to monitor operations, maintain effective quality controls and significantly expand our internal management and
technical and accounting systemns, all of which could result in higher operating expenses and could adversely
affect our current business, financial condition and results of operations.

We cannot assure you thal we will be able to ideniify and integrate businesses or professional leams we acquire
to pursue complementary investment strategies and expand our business. Moreover, any decision to pursue
expansion into businesses with complementary investment strategies will be in the discretion of our management
and may be consummated without prior notice or sharcholder approval. In such instances, shareholders will be
relying on our management to assess the relative benefits and risks associated with any such expansion.

Risks Relating to Our Class A Common Stock

Because a limited number of shareholders, including members of our management team, own a substantial
number of our shares, they may make decisions or take actions that may be detrimental to your interests,

By virtue of their direct and indirect share ownership, John R. Klopp, a director and our chief executive officer,
Craig M. HatkofT, a director and former officer, and other shareholders indirectly owned by trusts for the benefit
of our chairman of the board, Samuel Zell, have the power to significantly influence our affairs and are able to
influence the putcome of matters required to be submitted to sharcholders for approval, including the election of
our directors, amendments to our charter, mergers, sales of assets and other acquisitions or sales. The influence
exerted by these shareholders over our affairs might not be consistent with the interests of some or all of our other
sharcholders. As of February 20, 2008, these shareholders collectively own and control 2,127,393 shares of our
class A common stock representing approximately 12.1% of our outstanding class A common stock.

W. R. Berkley Corperation, or WRBC, owns 3,133,300 shares of our class A common stock which represents
17.8% of our outstanding class A commen stock as of February 20, 2008. An officer of WRBC serves on our
board of directors and, therefore, has the power to significantly influence our affairs. Through its significant
ownership of our class A common stock, WRBC may have the ability to influence matters submitted for
shareholder approval. The influence exerted by WRBC over our affairs might not be consistent with the interests
of some or all of our other shareholders.
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The concentration of ownership in our officers or directors or shareholders associated with them may have the
effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of our company, including transactions in which you might
otherwise receive a premium for your class A common stock, and might negatively affect the market price of our
class A common stock.

Some provisions of our charter and bylaws and Maryland law may deter takeover attempts, which may limit
the opportunity of our shareholders to sell their shares at a favorable price.

Some of the provisions of our charter and bylaws and Maryland law discussed below could make it more difficult
for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so might be beneficial to our shareholders by providing them with the
opportunity to sell their shares at a premium to the then current market price.

Issuance of Preferred Stock Without Shareholder Approval. Our charter authorizes our board of directors to
authorize the issuance of up to 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock and up to 100,000,000 shares of class A
common stock. Our charter also authorizes our board of directors, without shareholder approval, to classify or
reclassify any unissued shares of our class A common stock and preferred stock into other classes or series of
stock and to amend our charter to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock of any class or
series that may be issued. Our board of directors, therefore, can exercise its power to reclassify our stock to
increase the number of shares of preferred stock we may issue without shareholder approval. Preferred stock may
be issued in one or more series, the terms of which may be determined without further action by shareholders.
These terms may include preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to
dividends or other distributions, qualifications or terms or conditions of redemption. The issuance of any
preferred stock, however, could materially adversely affect the rights of holders of our class A common stock
and, therefore, could reduce the value of the class A common stock. In addition, specific rights granted to future
holders of our preferred stock could .be used to restrict our ability to merge with, or seli assets to, a third party.
The power of our board of directors to issue preferred stock could make it more difficult, delay, discourage,
prevent or make it more costly to acquire or effect a change in control, thereby preserving the current
shareholders’ control.

Advance Notice Bylaw. Our bylaws contain advance notice procedures for the introduction of business and the
nomination of directors. These provisions could discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and
other shareholders to elect shareholder-nominated directors and to propose and approve shareholder proposals
opposed by management.

Maryland Takeover Statutes. We are subject to the Maryland Business Combination Act which could delay or
prevent an unsolicited lakeover of us. The statute substantially restricts the ability of third parties who acquire, or
seek to acquire, control of us to complete mergers and other business combinations without the approval of our
board of directors even if such transaction would be beneficial to shareholders. “Business combinations” between
such a third party acquiror or its affiliate and us are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which
the acquiror or its affiliatc becomes an “interesied shareholder.” An “interested shareholder” is defined as any
person who beneficially owns 10 percent or more of our shareholder voting power or an affiliate or associate of
ours who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date interested shareholder status is determined, was
the beneficial owner of 10 percent or more of our sharcholder voting power. If our board of directors approved in
advance the transaction that would otherwise give rise to the acquiror or its affiliate attaining such status, such as
the issuance of shares of our class A common stock to WRBC, the acquiror or its affiliate would not become an
interested shareholder and, as a result, it could enter into a business combination with us. Our board of directors
could choose not to negotiate with an acquirer if the board determined in its business judgment that considering
such an acquisition was not in our strategic interests. Even after the lapse of the five-year prohibition period, any
business combination with an interested shareholder must be recommended by our board of directors and
approved by the affirmative vote of at least:

» 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by shareholders; and

¢ two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by shareholders other than the interested shareholder and
affiliates and associates thereof.
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The super-majority vote requirements do not apply if the transaction complies with a minimum price requirement
prescribed by the statute.

The statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are exempted
by the board of directors prior to the time that an interested shareholder becomes an interested shareholder. Our
board of directors has exempted any business combination involving family partnerships controlled separately by
John R. Klopp and Craig M. Hatkoff, and a limited liability company indirectly controlled by a trust for the
benefit of Samuel Zell and his family. As a result, these persons and WRBC may enter into business
combinations with us without compliance with the super-majority vote requirements and the other provisions of
the statule.

We are subject to the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act. With certain exceptions, the Maryland General
Corporation Law provides that “control shares” of a Maryland corporation acquired in a control share acquisition
have no voting rights except to the extent approved by a vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the
matter, excluding shares owned by the acquiring person or by our officers or by our directors who are our
employees, and may be redeemed by us. “Control shares” are voting shares which, if aggregated with all other
shares owned or voted by the acquiror, would entitle the acquiror to exercise voting power in electing directors
within one of the specified ranges of voting power. A person who has made or proposes to make a control share
acquisition, upon satisfaction of certain conditions, including an undertaking to pay expenses, may compel our
board to call a special meeting of shareholders to be held within 50 days of demand to consider the voting rights
of the “control shares” in question. If no request for a8 meeting is made, we may present the question at any
shareholders’ meeting.

If voting rights are not approved at the sharcholders’ meeting or if the acquiring persen does not deliver the
statement required by Maryland law, shen, subject to certain conditions and limitations, we may redeerm for fair
value any or all of the control shares, except those for which voting rights have previously been approved. If
voting rights for control shares are approved at a shareholders’ mecting and the acquiror may then vote a majority
of the shares entitled 1o vote, then all other sharcholders may exercise appraisal rights. The fair value of the
shares for purposes of these appraisal rights may not be less than the highest price per share paid by the acquiror
in the control share acquisition. The control share acquisition statute does not apply to shares acquired in a
merger, consolidation or share exchange if we are not a party to the transaction, nor does it apply to acquisitions
approved or exempted by our charter or bylaws. Our bylaws contain a provision exempting certain holders
identified in our bylaws from this statute, including WRBC, family partnerships controlled separately by John R.
Klopp and Craig M. HatkofT, and a limited liability company indirecily controlled by a trust for the benefit of
Samuel Zell and his family, .

We are also subject to the Maryland Unsolicited Takeovers Act which permits our beard of directors, among
other things and notwithstanding any provision in our charter or bylaws, to elect on our behalf to stagger the
terms of directors and to increase the shareholder vote required to remove & director. Such an election would
significantly restrict the ability of third parties to wage a proxy fight for control of our board of directors as a
means of advancing a takeover offer, If an acquiror was discouraged from offering to acquire us, or prevented
from successfully completing a hostile acquisition, you could lose the opportunity to sell your shares at a
favorable price.

The market value of our class A commen stock may be adversely affected by many factors.

As with any public company, a number of faclors may adversely influence the price of our class A common
stock, many of which are beyond our control. These factors include, in addition to other risk factors mentioned in
this section:

¢ the level of institutional interest in us;

o the perception of REITs generally and REITs with portfolios similar to ours, in particular, by market
professionals;

+ the attractiveness of securities of REITs in comparison to other companies; and
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» the market’s perception of our growth potential and potential future cash dividends.

An increase in market interest rates may lead prospective purchasers of our class A common stock to expect a
higher dividend yield, which would adversely affect the market price of our class A common stock.

One of the factors that will influence the price of our class A common stock will be the dividend yield on our
stock (distributions as a percentage of the price of our stock) relative to market interest rates. An increase in
market interest ratcs may lead prospective purchasers of our class A common stock to expect a higher dividend
yield, which could adversely affect the market price of our class A common stock.

Your ability to sell a substantial number of shares of our class A common stock may be restricted by the low
trading volume historically experienced by our class A common stock.

Although our class A common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, the daily trading volume of our
shares of class A common stock has historically been lower than the trading volume for certain other companies.
As a result, the ability of a holder to sell a substantial number of shares of our ¢lass A commeon stock in a timely
manner without causing a substantial decline in the market value of the shares, especially by means of a large
block trade, may be restricted by the limited trading volume of the shares of our class A common stock.

Risks Related to our REIT Status and Certain Other Tax ltems

Our charter does not permit any individual to own more than 9.9% of our class A common stock, and attempts
to acquire our class A common stock in excess of the 9.9% limit would be void without the prior approval of
our board of directors.

For the purpose of preserving our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, our charter prohibits
direct or constructive ownership by any individual of more than a certain percentage, currently 9.9%, of the lesser
of the total number or value of the outstanding shares of our class A common stock as a means of preventing
ownership of more than 50% of our class A common stock by five or fewer individuals. The charter’s
constructive ownership rules are complex and may cause the outstanding class A common stock owned by a
group of related individuals or entities to be deemed to be constructively owned by one individual. As a resull,
the acquisition of less than 9.9% of cur outstanding class A common stock by an individual or entity could cause
an individual to own constructively in excess of 9.9% of our outstanding class A common stock, and thus be
subject to the charter’s ownership limit. There can be no assurance that our board of directors, as permitted in the
charter, will increase, or will not decrease, this ownership limit in the future. Any attempt to own or transfer
shares of our class A commeon stack in excess of the ownership limit without the consent of our board of directors
will be void, and will result in the shares being transferred by operation of the charter to a charitable trust, and the
person who acquired such excess shares will not be entitled to any distributions thereon or 1o vote such excess
shares.

The 9.9% ownership limit may have the effect of precluding a change in control of us by a third party without the
consent of our board of directors, even if such change in control would be in the interest of our shareholders or
would result in a premium to the price of our class A common stock (and even if such change in control would
not reasonably jeopardize our REIT status). The ownership limit exemptions and the resct limits granted to date
would limit our board of directors’ ability 1o reset limits in the future and at the same time maintain compliance
with the REIT qualification requirement prohibiting ownership of more than 50% of our class A common stock
by five or fewer individuals.

There are no assurances that we will be able to pay dividends in the future.

We intend to pay quarterly dividends and to make distributions to our shareholders in amounts so that all or
substantially all of our taxable income in each year, subject to certain adjustments, is distributed. This, along with
other factors, should enable us to qualify for the tax benefits accorded 1o a REIT under the Internal Revenue
Code. All distributions will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our earnings,
our financial condition, maintenance of our REIT status and such other factors as our board of directors may
deem relevant from time 1o time. There are no assurances that we will be able to pay dividends in the future, In

24




addition, some of our distributions may include a return of capital, which would reduce the amount of capital
available to operate our business.

We will be dependent on external sources of capital to finance our growth,

As with other REITs, but unlike corporations generally, our ability to finance our growth must largely be funded
by external sources of capital because we generally will have to distribute to our shareholders 90% of our taxable
income in order to qualify as a REIT, including taxable income where we do not receive corresponding cash. Our
access to external capital will depend upon a number of factors, including genera! market conditions, the market’s
perception of our growth potential, our current and potential future earnings, cash distributions and the market
price of our class A common stock.

If we do not maintain our qualification as a REIT, we will be subject to tax as a regular corporation and face
a substantial tax liability. Our taxable REIT subsidiaries will be subfect fo income tax.

We expect to continue to operate so as to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code. However,
qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex Internal Revenue Code
provisions for which onty a limited number of judicial or administrative interpretations exist. Even a technical or
inadvertent mistake could jecpardize our REIT status. Furthermore, new tax legislation, administrative guidance
or court decisions, in each instance potentially with retroactive effect, could make it more difficult or impossible
for us to qualify as a REIT. If we fail 10 qualify as a REIT in any 1ax year, then:

» we would be taxed as a regular domestic corporation, which under current laws, among other things,
means being unable to deduct distributions to shareholders in computing taxable income and being
subject to federal income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates;

» any resulting tax liability could be substantial, could have a material adverse effect on our book value and
would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to shareholders; and

¢ unless we were entitled to relief under applicable stattory provisions, we would be required to pay taxes,
and thus, our cash available for distribution to shareholders would be reduced for each of the years during
which we did not qualify as a REIT.

Fee income from our investment management business is expected 10 be realized by one of our taxable REIT
subsidiaries, and, accordingly, will be subject to income 1ax,

Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forege otherwise antractive opportunities and limit our
expansion opportunities,

In order to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we must continually satisfy tests concerning,
among other things, our sources of income, the nature of our investments in commercial real estate and related
assets, the amounts we distribute 1o our shareholders and the ownership of our stock. We may also be required 10
make distributions to shareholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for
distribution. Thus, compliance with REIT requirements may hinder our ability te operate sclely on the basis of
maximizing profits,

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to liguidate or restructure otherwise attractive investments,

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must also ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the
value of our assets consisis of cash, cash items, government securities and qualified REIT real estate assets. The
remainder of our investments in securities cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of
any one issuer or 10% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer unless we and such issuer
jointly elect for such issuer to be treated as a *“taxable REIT subsidiary” under the Internal Revenue Code. The
total value of all of our investments in taxable REIT subsidiaries cannot exceed 20% of the value of our total
assets. In addition, no more than 5% of the value of our assets can cansist of the securities of any one issuer. If
we fail to comply with these requirements, we must dispose of a portion of our assets within 30 days afier the end
of the calendar quarter in order to avoid losing our REIT status and suffering adverse tax consequences.
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Complying with REIT requirements may force us to borrow to make distributions to shareholders.

From time to lime, our taxable income may be greater than our cash flow available for distribution to
shareholders. If we do not have other funds available in these situations, we may be unable to distribute
substantially all of our taxable income as required by the REIT provisions of the Intemal Revenue Code. Thus,
we could be required to borrow funds, sell a portion of our assets at disadvantageous prices or find another
alternative, These options could increase our costs or reduce our equity.

We utilize “taxable morigage pools"” to finance our investments.

Cerain securitizations, such as our CDOs, are considered taxable mortgage pools, or TMPs, for federal income
tax purposes. TMPs are generally subject 10 an unavoidable federal tax on the portion of their income deemed to
be excess inclusion income, or EIL. As a REIT, we are exempt from taxation at the corporate level on such Ell as
long as we own 100% of the equity interests in the securitization (as defined for tax purposes). Notwithsianding
the foregoing, we will be subject to taxation at the corporate level on any EIf allocated to certain sharcholders
treated as disqualified organizations under applicable tax rules (generally tax-exemnpt entities, including federal,
state, and foreign governmental entities).

In certain instances, we have either pledged our equity interests in these TMPs as collateral under our repurchase
agreements or have contributed these interests 1o other TMPs—in both cases subjecting the pools to the potential
loss of their tax exempt status in the event that we were forced to sell our interests or our interests were
foreclosed upon by a third party that was not afforded the same exemption as us.

Despite our general corporate level exemption from taxation on Ell, our sharcholders (other than disqualified
organizations, described above) are subject to taxation on the EII that we earn, The Intemal Revenue Service has
not given clear guidance as to the appropriate method for the calculation of EM and, absent such clear guidance,
we have calculated El! based upon what we believe to be a reasonable method. Our estimation of Ell is disclosed
in our year end financial statements. In addition, pursuant to recently issued guidance from the Internal Revenue
Service, we are required to allocate EII to our shareholders in proportion to dividends paid and to inform our
sharcholders of the amount and character of the EIl allocated to them. Given the lack of guidance conceming
calculation of Ell, there can be no assurances that we have calculated excess inclusion income in a manner
satisfactory to the Internal Revenue Service.

Item 1B. Unresclved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2.  Properties

Qur principal executive and administrative offices are located in approximately 15,000 square feet of office space
leased at 410 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10022. Qur telephone number is (212} 655-0220 and our
website address is http://www.capitaltrust.com. Our lease for office space expires in October 2018.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

We are not party to any material litigation or lega] proceedings, or, to the best of our knowledge, any threatened
litigation or legal proceedings, which, in our opinion, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
We did not submit any matters to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2007.
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PART 1

[tem 5.  Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Our class A common steck is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol
“CT.” The table below sets forth, for the calendar quarters indicated, the reported high and low sale prices for the
class A common stock as reported on the NYSE composite transaction tape and the per share cash dividends
declared on the class A common stock.

High Low Dividend
2007
Fourth Quaner. . ......cotiiie i iiiieerneenns $£38.17 §2691 s2.70W
ThirdQuarter. . ........oiii e it iaiieennas 37.37 30.65 0.80
SecondQuamer ....... ... ... .o it 4739 M4 0.80
First Quarter. ..,................. e 5527 4370 0.80
2006
FourthQuarter...... ... ... .. itivirniiieininnnns $50.62 $3970 $1.40™
ThirdQuarter. .................. .. i, 4297  33.89 0.75
SecondQuarter ........ ... ... . i i 35.62 29.69 0.70
FirstQuarter. ...t 3432 2960 0.60
2005
FourthQuarter............coiiiiiiininen i $3230 $2887 $0.80
ThirdQuarter. ............ciiri it iiereranes 34.50 30.57 0.55
SecondQuarter ... ... ... .00t e 3497 3206 0.55
First QUaner. . ...ttt it 3400 2B.86 0.55

(1) Comprised of a regular quarterly dividend of $0.80 per share and 8 special dividend of $1.90 per share,
(2) Comprised of & regular quarterty dividend of $0.75 per share and a special dividend of $0.65 per share.

The last reported sale price of the class A common stock on February 20, 2008 as reported on the NYSE
composite transaction tape was $28.50. As of February 20, 2008, there were 410 holders of record of the class A
common stock. By including persons holding shares in broker accounts under strect names, however, we estimale
our shareholder base to be approximately 9,205 as of February 20, 2008.

We generally intend to distribute each year substantially all of our taxable income (which does not necessarily
equal net income as calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles) to cur shareholders
50 as to comply with the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. We intend to make dividend
distributions quarterly, which we refer to as regular dividends and we seek to set our recurring dividend at a level
that we belicve is comfortably sustainable. If necessary for REIT qualification purposes, we may need to
distribute any taxable income remaining after giving effect to the distribution of the final regular quarterly
dividend each year, together with the first regular quarterly dividend payment of the following taxable year or, at
our discretion, in a separate dividend distributed prior thereto. We refer to these dividends as special dividends.

Our dividend policy is subject to revision at the discretion of our board of directors. All distributions will be
made at the discretion of eur board of directors and will depend upon our taxable income, our financial condition,
our maintenance of REIT status and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant. All dividends
declared in 2006 and 2007 are ordinary income. In accordance with Intemnal Revenue Service guidance, we are
required to report the amount of excess inclusion income earned by the Company. In 2007, we calculated excess
inclusion income to be $925,000 or 1.1% of our total distributions.

We did not repurchase any of our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2007.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information, as of December 31, 2007, relating to our equity compensation plans
pursuant to which shares of our common stock or other equity secunties may be granted from time to time.

(n) (9] Number of securitie(: )r!:mnlnlng availatle
Number of securities to be  Weighted average for future issuance under equity
issued upon exercise of exercise price of compensation plans (excluding securitles
Plan category ouistanding options outstanding options reflected [n column (a))
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders™ 240,478 $19.39 685,430
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders™ — — —
Total ......... e 240,478 $19.39 685,430

(1) The number of securitics remaining for future issugnce in 2007 consists of 685,430 shares issuable under our 2007 long-term incentive
plan which was approved by our sharcholders. Awards under the plan may include restricted stock, unrestricicd stock, stock options, steck
units, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, performance units, deferred share units or other equity-based awards, s the board of
dircctors may determine.

{2) All of our equity compensation plans have been approved by security holders,
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data, which was derived from our historical
consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, for the years ended 2003

through 2007

Certain reclassifications have been made to all periods presented prior to 2005 to reflect the application of

Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46R on January 1, 2004.

You should read the following information together with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto
included in “ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Years ended December 31,
1007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(in thousands, except for per share data)

STATEMENT OF INCOME DATA:
REVENUES:
Interest and inveStMENt INCOME. . . ... vt rnernerrnarnens $254.505 $176,758 $ 86,753 $ 46,639 $§ 38,577
Management and advisory fees. ... ... .o et 10,330 4,407 13,124 7,863 8,020

Tl PEVENUES, . .t e 264,835 181,165 99,877 54,502 46,597
OPERATING EXPENSES:
PNIEreSt EXPeNSE. -. . ovv vt it i 162,377 104,607 37,229 20,141 19,575
General and administrative eXpenses .. ......oovviverinrnas 29,956 23,075 21,939 15,229 13,320
Depreciation and amortization . ... .. ovuiniaiiieaa, 1,810 3,049 1,114 1,100 1,057
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities for other than

LeMPOTEry iMPaIIMENt. . . v v v v einc e aaninns — — —_ 5,886 —
(Recapure of)/provision for allowance for possible credit losses . — — —  {6,672) —

Total Operaling XPenses. . . .....vvvuetvruninronrienans 194,143 130,731 60,282 35,684 13952
Gainon sale of investments, , . ... .o vvriiiinnnieai ey 15,077 — 4,951 300 —_
Income/(loss) from equity investments . .............coouunn (2,109) 898 {222) 2,407 1,526
Income before income tax expense . . .......... e 83,660 51,332 44,324 21,525 14,171
Income tax expense/(benefit) ........... el (706) (2,735) 213 (451) 646
NET INCOME/(LOSS) ALLOCABLE TO COMMON

STOCK: § 84366 $ 54,067 § 44,111 § 21976 § ngzs
PER SHARE INFORMATION:
Net income/(loss) per sharc of common stock:

BasiC. ... v it $ 48 $ 343 $ 291 § 217 § 227

Diluted ... e $§ 477 § 340 288 § 214 $ 223
Dividends declared per share of commonstock .............. $ 510 § 345 $ 245 § 185 § 180
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding:

Basic. . ... ... iie e i7!570 15,755 15,18} 10,141 5,947

Diluted ... .. 17,690 15,923 15,336 10,277 10,288

Years ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Total 885616 . . ..o ettt iie e e $3,211482 $2,648,564 $1,557,642 $877.766 $399,926
Total liabilities .............. ... iiiiiiiin, 2,803,245 2,222,292 1,218,792 561,209 303,909
Shareholders’ equity . . .........orniiiinen-ns 408,237 426,272 338,850 116,497 96,017
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ftem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

References herein to “we,” “us” or “our” refer to Capital Trust, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context
specifically requires otherwise.

Introduction

Our business model is designed to produce a mix of net interest margin from our balance sheet investments and
fee income plus co-investment income from our investment management operations—with our primary goals
being the generation of stable net income and dividend growth. In managing our operatians, we focus on
originating investrnents, managing our portfolios and capitalizing cur businesses.

Current Market Conditions

During 2007, the global capital markets experienced unprecedented volatility, triggered initially by credit
problems in the U.S. subprime residential mortgage sector. As the year progressed, the “subprime contagion™
spread to virtually every debt market, causing dramatic declings in asset prices, widespread illiquidity and
massive losses at many financial institutions. Notwithstanding continuing credit performance in the real estate
debt market and strong fundamentals in the underlying property markets, the impact of the global credit crisis on
our sector has been acute. By year end, transaction volume had declined significantly, credit spreads for all
forms of mortgage debt had reached all-time highs and issuance levels of commercial mortgage backed securities,
or CMBS, had ground to a virtual halt. Financial institutions still hold significant inventories of unsold loans and
CMBS, creating a further overhang on the markets. We believe that the continuing dislocation in the debt capital
markets, coupled with a slowdown in the U.S. economy, has already reduced property valuations and thI
ultimately impact real estate fundamentals.

In response to these conditions, we significantly reduced the pace of our originations in the second half of 2007,
choosing to maintain our liquidity and be patient until the markets had settled. We believe that ultimately, this
environment will create new opportunities in our markets for investors with credit and financial structuring
expertise. We believe that our balance sheet and investment management businesses will benefit from a market
environment where assets are priced and structured more conservatively and there is less competition among
investors.

Originations

We allocate investment opportunities between our balance sheet and investment management vehicles based
upon our assessment of risk and return profiles, the availability and cost of capital, and applicable regulatory
restrictions associated with each opportunity. The combination of balance sheet and investment management
capabilities allows us to maximize the scope of opportunities upon which we can capitalize. The table below
summarizes our gross originations and the allocation of opportunities between our balance sheet and the
investment management business for the past two years.

Gross Qriginations" ¥

(in millions) Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Balance sheet $1.454 ] $2,054
Investment management 1,011 65
Total originations $2,465 $2,119

(1) Includes toial commitmenis both funded and unfunded.

(2) Includes $315 million and $238 million of participstions sold recorded on our balance shect relating to participations
that we sold to CT Large Loan for the yewrs ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. We have
included these originations in balance sheet originations and not in investment management ofiginations in order to
avoid double counting.
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Total gross originations in 2007 increased by $346 million (16%) compared to 2006, driven by an increase of
$946 million in investment management originations, partially offset by a $600 million reduction in balance sheet
originations. Increased levels of originations were driven in large part by our broad network of relationships,
transacting with 16 institutional counterparties and increasing our direct originations in 2007, and the general
increase in transaction volume in the real estate and real estate debt markets in the first half of 2007. Total gross
originations in the first half of 2007 were $2 billion, as compared to $458 million in the second half of the year, a
77% reduction reflecting the dramatic change in the commercial real estate capital markets from the first half of
2007 to the second half of 2007. The change in the ratio of balance sheet originations to investment management
originations from 2006 to 2007 was due in large part 10 our having three investment management vehicles
actively investing during 2007: CT Large Loan (formed May 2006), CT High Grade (formed November 2006)
and the CTX Fund (formed May 2007). We expect higher volumes of investment management originations in
the near term,

Our balance sheet investments include commercial mortgage backed securities or CMBS, commercial real estate
debt and related instruments, or Loans, and total retum swaps, which we collectively refer to as our Interest
Eaming Assets. Originations of Interest Eaming Assets for our balance sheet for the years ended December 31,
2007 and December 31, 2006 are detailed in the table below:

Balance Sheet Qriginations

(in millions) Year Ended Year Ended
December 3, 2007 December 31, 2006
LTV/ LTV/
Originations™ Yield? Rating™ Originations" Yietd® Rating™

CMBS St 8.92% BB- $395 6.45% BBB-
Loans'™ 1,343 7.67 64.4% 1,635 9.19 712.1%
Total retumn swaps — —_— - 4 19.55 N/A
Total / Weighted Average $1,454 1.77% $2,054 8.68%

(1) Includes total commitments both funded end unfunded.

(2) Yicld on floating rate originations assume LIBOR a1 December 31, 2007 and 2006 of 4.60% and 5.32%, respectively.

(3) Wreighted average ratings are based on the lowest rating published by Fitch Ratings, Standard & Poor's or Moody's Investors Service for
cach sccurity and cxclude $38 million fece valuc (837 million book value) of unrated equity investments in collsteralized debi obligations.
Loan to Value (LTV) is based on third party appreisals reccived by us when each loan is originated.

(4) Includes $315 million and $238 million of participations sold recorded on our balance sheet relating to participations that we sold to CT
Large Loan for the ycars ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. We have included these oniginations in balance sheet
originations and not in investment management originations in order to avoid double counting.

The table below shows our Interest Eamning Assets at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006. In any period,
the ending balance of Interest Earning Assets will be impacted not only by new balance sheet originations, but
also by repayments, advances, sales and losses, if any. As the table below shows, we grew Interest Earning
Assets by $570 million, or 22%, from 2006 to 2007.
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Interest Earning Assets

(in millions) December 31, December 31,
2007 2006
Book LTV/ Book LTV/
Value'" Yield? Rating" Value!! Yield® Rating™

CMBS $877 1.35% BB+ $811 7.17% BB+
Loans 2,257 7.80 66.5% 1,752 896 70.4%
Total retum swaps — - — 2 20.55 N/A
Total / Weighted Average $3.134 1.67% $2,565 8.40%

{1) December 31, 2006 valucs do not include onc non performing loan that was successfully resolved in the second quarter of 2007.
{2) Yield on fleating rate Inierest Earning Assets assumes LIBOR ot December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, of 4.60% and 5.32%,

mspectively.
{3) Weighted average ratings are based on the lowest rating published by Fiich Ratings, Standard & Poor’s or Moody's [nvestors Service for
each security and exclude $37 million of unrated equity investments in collateralized debt obligations,

In some cases our originations are not fully funded at closing, creating an obligation for us to make future
fundings, which we refer to as Unfunded Loan Commitments. Typically, Unfunded Loan Commitments are part
of construction and transitional loans. At December 31, 2007, our gross Unfunded Loan Commitments were
$177 million and our unfunded commitment under our one total return swap was $3 million. Net of in place
financing commitments from our lenders, our net unfunded loan commitments were $41 million,

In addition to our investmenis in Interest Earning Assets, we have two equity investments in unconsolidated
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007. The first is an equily co-invesiment in a private equity fund that we
manage, CT Mezzanine Partners 111, Inc., or Fund 111, The second is an equity co-investment in a private equity
fund, CTOPI, that we formed in 2007, which we also manage. At December 31, 2007, we had not funded any of
our $25 million equity commitment to CTOPI and expect to fund our commitment over the fund’s three year
invesiment peried. [n 2006, we co-founded and made an investment in a Brazilian net lease commercial real
estate company, Bracor Investimentos Imaobiliarios Lida., or Bracor, that we helped found. In December of 2007
we sold our investment in Bracor generating a $15.1 million gain. The table below details the carrying value of
those investments, as well as their capitalized costs.

Equity Investments

(in thousands) ‘ December 31, December 31,
2007 2006

CT Mezzanine Partners 1L, LP $— $1,208

Fund Il 923 2,929

Bracor _ 5,675

CTOPI (60) —_

Capitalized costs/other 114 1,673
Total $977 $11,485

Asset Management

We actively manage our balance sheet portfolio and the assets held by our investment management vehicles.
While our investments are primarily in the form of debt, which generally means that we have limited influence
over the operations of the collateral securing our portfolios, we are aggressive in exercising the rights afforded to
us as a lender. These rights can include collateral level budget approvals, lease approvals, loan covenant
enforcement, escrow/reserve management/coliection, collateral release approvals and other rights that we may
negotiate. The table below details balance sheet Interest Earning Assets loss experience for 2007 and 2006, and
the percentage of non-performing and/or impaired investments at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006.
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Portfolio Performance

{in millions) December 31, December 31,
2007 2006
Interest Eamning Assets $3,134 $2,565
Losses
$ Value $0 S0
Percentage 0.0% 0.0%
Non-performing/impaired loans
$ Value sio $3@
Percentage 0.3% 0.1%

(1)} At December 31, 2007, includes one second mongage loan with a principal balance of $10 million against which we
have reserved $4.0 million.

(2) At December 31, 2006, includes one non-performing first mongage loan with an original principat balance of 58
million that has since been successfully resolved.

We have a proprietary risk rating system to assess and track the risk of each of our loans. There was no material
change to the weighted average risk rating of the portfolio between December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007.
Based upon our review of the portfolio, we recorded a $4.0 million reserve for possible credit losses related to a
$10 million second mortgage as of December 31, 2007. In 2006, we concluded that 2 reserve for possible credit
losses was not warranted on any of our loans.

We actively manage our CMBS investments using a combination of quantitative tools and loan/property levei
analysis in order to monitor the performance of the securities and their collateral versus our original expeclations.
Securities are analyzed on a monthly basis for delinquency, transfers to special servicing, and changes to the
servicer's watchlist population. Realized loan losses are tracked on a monthly basis and compared to our original
loss expectations. On a periodic basis, individual loans of concern are also re-underwritten. Updated collateral
loss projections are then compared 1o our original loss expectations to determine how each investment is
performing. Based on our review of the portfolio, we concluded that no impairments were warranted in 2006 or
2007.

The ratings performance of our CMBS portfolic over the past two years is detailed below:

CMBS Rating Activity”

December 31, December 3M,
2007 2006
Upgrades 28 67
Downgrades 3 3

(1) Represents activity from any of Fitch Ratings, Standard & Poor's
and/or Moody's Investors Service.

Two trends in asset performance that we foresee in 2008 are (i) borrowers faced with maturities will have a more
difficult time refinancing their properties in light of the volatility in the capital markets, and (ii} real cstate
fundamentals will deteriorate if the U.S. economy continues to slow. We believe that the impact of these two
trends on our portfolios will be manageable.

Capitalization

Qur balance sheet investment activities are capital intensive and the availability and cost of capital is a critical
component of our business, We capitalize our business with a combination of debt and equity. Our debt sources,
which we refer to as Interest Bearing Liabilities, currently include repurchase agreements, CDOs, a senior
unsecured credit facility, and junior subordinated debentures {which we also refer to as trust preferred securities).
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Our equity capital is currently comprised entirely of common equity. The chart below shows our capitalization
mix for the past two years:

Capital Structure!!

(in millions) December 31, December 31,
2007 2006

Repurchase obligations 5912 $704
Collateralized debt obligations 1,192 1,213
Senior unsecured credit facility 75 —
Junior subordinated debentures 129 52

Total Interest Bearing Liabilities $2,308 31,969
All In Cost of debt? 5.68% 6.15%
Shareholders’ Equity £408 $426
Ratio of Interest Bearing Liabilities to Sharcholders' 5T 4.6:1
Equity

(1) Excludes participations sold.
(2) Floating rate liabilities assume LIBOR st December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, of 4.60% and 5.32%, respectively.

We use leverage to enhance our retums on equity by attempting to: (i) maximize the differentia! between the
yield of our [nterest Eaming Assets and the cost of our Interest Bearing Liabilities, and (ii) optimize the amount
of leverage employed. The use of leverage, however, adds risk 1o our business, magnifying our shareholders’
exposure to asset level risk by subordinating our equity interests 1o our debt capital providers. The level of
leverage we utilize is based upon the risk associated with our assets, as well as the structure of our liabilities. In
general, we wil) apply greater amounts of leverage to lower risk assets and vice versa. In addition, structural
features of our feverage, such as recourse, mark-to-market provisions and duration, factor into the amounts of
leverage we are comfortable applying to our assets. Qur sources of recourse financing generally require financial
covenants, including restrictions on corporate guarantees, the maintenance of cenain financial ratios (such as
specified debt to equity and debt service coverage ratios) as well as the maintenance of a minimum net worth. A
summary of selected structural features of our debt for the past two years is detailed in the table below:

Interest Bearing Liabilities

December 31, December 31,
2007 2006
Weighted average maturity 4.1 yrs. 4.0 yrs.
% Recourse 48.1% 36.9%
% Mark-to-market 39.5% 3158%

{1) Based upon balances as of December 31, 2007 end December 31, 2006,

Over the past few years, we have used CDOs as one method to finance our business. While we expect to
continue to utilize CDOs and other structured products to finance both our balance sheet and our investment
management businesses going forward, the current state of the debt capital markets makes it unlikely that, in the
near term, we will be able to issue liabilities similar to our existing CDOs. The lack of a CDO or similar
structured product market makes us more relient on other financing options such as our repurchase facilities.
Unlike our CDOs, our repurchase facilities are shorter term, mark-to-market, recourse liabilities. Given the
additiona) liquidity risks associated with a portfolio of assets financed with these types of liabilities, we believe
that a higher degree of balance sheet liquidity is necessary to manage these liabilities.
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Our CDOs are non-recourse, non-mark-to-market, index matched financings that generally carry a lower cost of
debt and allow for higher levels of leverage than our other financing sources. During 2007, we did not issue any
new CDOs for our balance sheet: however, we continued contributing assets to our previously issued reinvesting
CDOs, which have reinvestment periods extending through July 2008 for CDO 1 and April 2010 for CDO 1. Qur
CDO liabilities as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 are described below:

Collateralized Debt Obligations

(in millions) December 31, December 31,
2007 2006

Issuance Date Type Book Value  Allin Cost!"” Baok Valve  All in Cost'”

cRO @ 7/20/04 Reinvesting $253 5.61% $253 6.39%
coon® 315405 Reinvesting 299 5.32 299 6.04
CDO 111 8/04/05 Suwitic 261 5.37 267 5.25
CDO IV 315106 Static 379 5.11 394 5.81

Total $1,192 5.34% $1,213 5.86%

(1) Includes amortization of premiums and issuance costs.
(2) Floating rate CDO liabilities assume LIBOR at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, of 4.60% and 5.32%, respectively.

Repurchase obligation financings provide us with an important revolving component to our liability structure.
Our repurchase agreements provide stand alone financing for certain assets and interim, or warehouse financing
for assets that we plan to contribute to our CDOs. At any point in time, the amounts and the cost of our
repurchase borrowings are based upon the assets being financed—higher risk assets will attract lower levels of
leverage at higher costs and vice versa. The table below summarizes our repurchase agreement liabilities as of
year end 2007 and 2006.

Repurchase Agreements

(% in millions) December 31, December 31,
2007 2006
Repurchase commitments $1,600 $1,200
Counterpanties 9 7
Outstanding repurchase borrowings $912 $704
All in cost L+1.20% L+1.21%

Our repurchase obligations generally include mark-to-market features. The mark-to-market provisions in our
repurchase facilities are designed to keep our lenders’ credit exposure constant as a percentage of the market
value of the assets pledged as security to them. As asset values have declined in 2007 (and this trend has
continued in 2008), the gross amount of leverage available to us has been reduced as our assets have been
marked-to-market. The impact to date from these marks to market has been a reduction in our liquidity. We
believe that we maintain sufficient liquidity on our balance sheet in order to meet margin calls and defend our
portfolios. In addition, our repurchase agreements are not term matched financings and mature from time to time.
In 2007, we have experienced, and expect to continue to experience in 2008, lower advance rates and higher
pricing under these agreements as we negotiate renewals and extensions of these liabilities.

In March 2007, we closed a $50 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility with WestLB AG, which we
amended in June 2007, increasing the size to $100 million and adding new lenders to the syndicate. The facility
has an initial term of one year (with a one year term out provision at our option) and a maximum term of four
years {including extension options). The facility has a cash cost of LIBOR plus 1.50% (LIBOR pius 1.80% on an
all-in effective basis) and we expect to use the facility borrowings for general corporate purposes and working
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capital needs, including providing additional flexibility for funding loan originations. At December 31, 2007, we
had borrowed $75 million under this facility.

The most subordinated components of our debl capital structure are junior subordinated debentures that back trust
preferred securities issued by our statutory trust subsidiary to third parties. These securities represent long term,
subordinated, unsecured financing and generally carry limited operational covenants. At December 31, 2007, we
had issued $129 million of junior subordinated debentures that back $125 million of trust preferred securities sold
to third parties in two separate issuances. On a combined basis, the junior subordinated debentures provide us
with financing at a cash cost of 7.20% and an all in effective rate of 7.30%. In March 2007, our statutory trust
subsidiary, CT Preferred Trust 11, sold $75 million of trust preferred securities to third parties and $2 million
common securities to us. These trust preferred secutities have a 30 year term, maturing in April 2037, are
redeemable at par on or after April 30, 2012 and pay distributions at a cash cost of 7.03% and an all-in effective
rate of 7.14% for the first ten years ending April 2017, and thereafier, at a floating rate of three month LIBOR
plus 2.25%.

During 2007 we did not issue new common equity to the public. Changes in the number of shares resulted from
option exercises, restricted stock grants and vesting, stock unit grants, and common stock issuances in connection
with the purchase of a healthcare 1oan origination platform.

During 2007, we instituted a dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan. The plan has two components; a
dividend reinvesiment component and a direct stock purchase component. The dividend reinvestment component
allows shareholders to designate all or a pertion of the cash dividends on their shares of our common stock for
reinvestment in additional shares of common stock at a discount. The direct stock purchase component allows
shareholders and new investors, subject to our approval, to purchase shares of common stock directly from us at a
discount that can range from 0% 10 5.0%.

Shareholders® Equity

December 31, December 3,
2007 2006

Book value (in millions) 5408 $426
Shares

Class A common stock 17,165,528 16,932,892

Restricted stock 423931 480,967

Stock units 94,587 73,848

Options'" 84,743 230,399

Total 17,768,789 17,718,106

Book value per share 29 §24.06

(1) Dilusive shares issuable upon the exercise of outsianding options assuming a December 31,
2007 and 2006 stock price, respectivety, and the treasury stock method.

At December 31, 2007, we had 666,339 shares remaining authorized for open market repurchase of our class A
common stock pursuant to authorization by the board in 2000. We did not repurchase any of our common stock
during the year ended December 31, 2007, and currently, we are not actively pursuing open market purchases.

Other Balance Sheet ltems

Participations sold represent interests in loans that we originated and subsequently sold to CT Large Loan and
third parties. We present these sold interests as both assets and liabilities (in equal amounts) in conformity with
GAAP on the basis that these arrangements do not qualify as sales under FAS 140. At December 31, 2007, we
had seven such participations sold with a total book balance of $408 million at a weighted average yield of
LIBOR plus 3.41% (8.01% at December 31, 2007). At December 31, 2006, we had four such participations sold
with a total book balance of $209 million at a weighted average yield of LIBOR plus 3.54% (8.86% at December
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31, 2006). The income eamned on the loans is recorded as interest income and an identical amount is recorded as
interest expense on the consolidated statements of income.

Interest Rate Exposure

We endeavor to manage a book of assets and liabilities that are matched with respect to interest rates, financing
floating rate assets with floating rate liabilities and fixed rate assets with fixed rate liabilities. In some cases, we
finance fixed rate assets with floating rate liabilities and, in those cases, we generally use interest rate derivalives,
such as swaps, to effectively convert the floating rate debt to fixed rate debt. In such instances, the equity we
have invested in fixed rate assets is not typically swapped, leaving a portion of our equity capital exposed to
changes in value of the fixed rate assets due to interest rate fluctuations. The balance of our assets earn interest at
floating rates and are financed with floating rate liabilities, leaving a portion of our equity capital exposed to cash
flaw variability from fluctuations in rates. Generally, these assets and liabilities earn interesi at rates indexed to
one month LIBOR.

The table below details our interest rate exposure as of the years ended 2007 and 2006:

Interest Rate Exposure

(in millions) December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Value Exposure to Interest Rates("
Fixed rate assets $948 $1,001
Fixed rate labilities {403) (33
Interest rate swaps (513) (560}
Net fixed rate exposure $32 $i10
Weighted average maturity (assets) 7.4 yr3 8.2 yrs
Weighted average coupon {(assets) 7.10% 7.18%
Cash Flow Exposure to Interest Rates'"
Floating rate asscts™ $2.235 $1,607
Floating rate debt less cash (2.280) (1,816)
laterest rate swaps 513 360
Net floating rate exposure 3468 $351
Net income impact from 100 bps change in LIBOR $4.7 £3.5

(1) Al values are in terms of face or notional amounts,
(2) December 31, 2006 values do not include one non performing loan that was successfully resolved in the sccond quarter of 2007,
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Investment Management Overview

In addition to our balance sheet investment activities, we act as an investrment manager for third parties. The
purpose of our investment management business is to leverage our platform, generating fee revenue from
investing third party capital and in cerain instances co-investment income. Our third party investment
management mandates are designed 1o be complementary to our balance sheet programs and are built around
opportunities that we do not pursue directly on balance sheet due to their scale/concentration, risk/return profile
and/or regulatory constraints, In some inslances, we co-invest in our investment management vehicles (as
described below). In 2007, we continued to expand our investment management business by (a) raising two new
private equity vehicles, CTOPI and the CTX Fund, (b) increasing the CT High Grade mandate by $100 million
and extending its investment period 10 July 2008, and (c) extending the investment period of CT Large Loan by
one year to May 2008. Our investment management business is designed to complement the investing activities
of our balance sheet investing senior, junior and pari passu with the balance sheet and, in certain cases, in
products that are unsuitable for the balance sheet.

¢ CTOPI is a multi-investor private equity fund designed to invest in commercial real estate debt and equity
investments, specifically taking advantage of the current dislocation in the commercial real estate capital
markets. CTOPI held its initial closing on December 13, 2007, with $314 million of equity commitments
($167 million immediately available) and, subsequent to year end, held two additional closings bringing
total equity commitments to $389 million ($271 million immediately available) as of February 20, 2008.

* We have committed to invest $23 million in the vehicle and entities controlled by our chairman have
committed to invest $20 million. The fund’s investment period expires in December of 2010, and we eam
base management fees as the investment manager of CTOPI (1.64% of committed equity during the
investment period and of invested capital thereafter). In addition, we earn gross incentive management
fees of 20% of profits afier a 9% preferred return and a 100% return of capital.

s CTX Fund is a single investor fund designed to invest in collateralized debt obligations, or CDOs,
sponsored, but not issued, by us. The CTX Fund was initially capitalized with $50 million and,
subsequent o year end, the capital commitment was reduced to $10 million as we do not anticipate further
investment activity for the accouni. We do not eamn fees on the CTX Fund, however, we earn CDO
management fees from the CDOs in which the CTX Fund invests. We sponsored one such CDO in 2007,
a $500 million CDO secured primarily by credit default swaps referencing CMBS.

¢ CT High Grade closed in November 2006, with a single, related party investor committing $250 million.
This separate account does not utilize leverage and we earn management fees of 0.25% per annum of
invested assets. In July 2007, we upsized the account by $100 million to $350 million and extended the
investment period to July 2008.

¢ CT Large Loan closed in May 2006 with total equity commitments of $325 million from eight-third party
investors. The fund employs leverage (not to exceed a two to one ratio of debt to equity), and we eam
management fees of 0.75% per annum of invested assets (capped at 1.5% on invested equity). In April
2007, we extended the investment period of the fund to May 2008.

At December 31, 2007, we managed four private equity funds and one separate account through our wholly-
owned, taxable, investment management subsidiary, CT Investment Management Co., LLC, or CTIMCO.
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Investment Manapement Mandates

Incentive Management Fee

Total Equity
Commitments Co- Base Company Employee
: Type ($ in milllons) Investment % Management Fee % %

Fund 111 Fund $425 4.71% 1.42% (Equity) ST\ 439519
CT Large Loan Fund 325 (%)) 0.75% (Assets) N/A N/A
CT High Grade  Sep. Acct, 350 % 0.25% (Assets) N/A N/A
CTX Fund Fund Soi (k) {6) (6) (6)
CTOPI Fund 31a® m 1.64% (Equity) 100%™ 0%

(1) CTIMCO eams gross incentive management fees of 20% of profits after a 10% preferred retum on capital and 8 100% rcturn of capital, subject
to a catch up.

(2) Portions of the Fund [1] incentive management fecs received by us have been zllocated to our employees as long term performance
awerds,

{3) We co-invest on a pari passu, assct by asset basis with CT Large Lonn and CTX Fund,

(4) Capped at 1.5% of cquity.

(5) tn 2008, we reduced the total capital commitment in the CTX Fund to $10 millien.

(6) CTIMCO serves as collateral manoger of the CDOs in which the CTX Fynd invests and CTIMCO cams base and incentive management
fees as CDO collateral manager. At year end, we manage one such $500 million CDO and cam base mansgement fees of 0.15% and
have the potential lo cam incentive management fees.

() We have commiticd to invest $25 million in CTOPI and capect that our co-investment percentage will be less than 10% once copital

raising activities have concluded.

(8) Assumes all equity commitments are availzble. Al December 31, 2007, $167 million of thesc commitments were immediately available,

(9) CTIMCO cams gross incentive management fees of 20% of profiss after 8 9% preferred return on capital and a 100% rewm of capital,

subject to a catch-up.

(10) We have not ailocated any of the CTOPI incentive management fee to employees s of December 31, 2007.
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The table below describes the staws of our investment management vehicles as of December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006.

Investment Macagement Snapshot

(in millions) December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Furd I
Assels $47 $195
Equiry §15 $50
Incentive fees collected!” $5.6 —
Incentive fees projected™ $26 $7.5
Starust Liquidating Liquidating
CT Large Loan
Assets $323 5157
Equity $130 $79
Status™ Investing Investing
CT High Grade
Assets $303 $65
Equity 5305 $65
Status'! Investing Investing
CTX Fund
Assets™ $500 N/A
Equity §7 N/A
Status' Investing N/A
CTOPI
Assets $69 N/A
Equity commitments'® 5314 N/A
Incentive fees collected 5 N/A
Incentive fees projected — N/A
Staws™" Investing N/A

(1) CTIMCO received $5.6 million of incentive fees from Fund [1) in 2007 of which $372,000 may
have to be reterned under cenain circumstances. Accordingly, we only recorded 53,2 million
as revenue for the year ended December 31, 2007,

(2) Assumes assets were sold and liabilities were sctthed on January 1, 2008 and January 1, 2007,
respectively, at the recorded book value, and the fund's equity and income was distributed for
the respestive period ends.

{3) Fund [11's investment period ended in June 2005,

{(4) CT Large Loan, CT High Grade, CTX Fund, and CTOPI invesiment periods expire in May
2008, Jjuly 2008, April 2008, and December 2010, respectively.

{5) Represents the total notional cash exposure to CTX CDC | collateral.

(6) Assumes all equity commitments arc available. Al December 31, 2007, $167 million of these commitments
were immediately available.

We expect to continue 1o grow our invesiment management business, sponsoring additional investment vehicles
consistent with the theme of developing mandates that are complementary to our balance sheet activities.

Taxes

We account for our operations on both a GAAP and tax basis. The financial statements are presented using the
methods prescribed in GAAP. Below, we reconcile the differences between these two bases.
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Our operations are conducted in two separate taxable entities, Capital Trust, Inc. (a real estate investment trust, or
REIT) and CTIMCO (a wholly owned taxable REIT subsidiary, or TRS, of the REIT). From a GAAP
standpoint, these two entities are consolidated, and our GAAP results reflect the combination of the two
operations. The chart below shows consolidated GAAP net income, as well as the contributions from each of the
REIT and the TRS on a GAAP presentation basis:

GAAP Net Income Detail

(in thousands) Year Ended
December 31,
2007
REIT GAAP Net Income $85,951
TRS GAAP Net Income (1,585)
Consolidated GAAP Net Income $84.366

REIT (Capital Trust, Inc.)
We have made a tax election to be treated as a REIT. The primary benefit from this election is that we are able to

deduct from the calculation of taxable income (shown as REIT Taxable Income in the chart below), dividends

paid to our sharcholders, effectively eliminating corporate taxes on the operations of the REIT. In order to
qualify as a REIT, our activities must focus on real estate investments and we must meet certain asset, income,
ownership and distribution requirements. If we fail to maintain qualification as a REIT, we may be subject to
material penalties and potentially subject to past and future taxes. The chart below reconciles the differences
between GAAP income and taxable income for the REIT;

REIT GAAP to Tax Recongciliation

(in thousands) Year Ended
December 31,
2007
REIT GAAP Net Income £85,951
GAAP 1o Tax Differences '
General and administrative'” 1,017
Depreciation and amortization (1,198)
Recovery/(provision} for loan toss™ 4,000
Other (13
Subtotal 3,646
REIT Taxable Income (pre-dividend) $89,597

1) Primarily differences sssociated with stock based compensation o our directors and employees.

2) Primarily dilTerences associated with expenses that we capitalized in association with our invesiment management
business.

1) Provisicn for loan loss recorded in the founth quarter of 2007 is not recognized for Lax purposes.

For tax year 2007, we do not expect (o pay any taxes at the REIT, as we have paid dividends to our shareholders
at least equal to REIT taxable income (pre-dividend).
TRS (CTIMCO)

CTIMCO is a wholly owned subsidiary of ours that operates our investiment management business (including the
management of Capital Trust, Inc.) and holds certain of our assets. As a laxable REIT subsidiary, CTIMCO is
subject to standard corporate taxation,
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The chart below reconciles GAAP income to taxable income for the TRS:
TRS GAAP to Tax Reconciliation

{in thousands) Year Ended
December 31,
2007
TRS GAAP Net Income ’ (51,585)
GAAP to Tax Differences
General and administrative’” 2,576
Other (262)
Subtotal 2,314
TRS Taxable Income (pre-NOL/NCL) $729

1) Primarily differences associated with stock based compensation to our directors and employees.

For tax year 2007, we do not expect to pay any taxes at the TRS, as the TRS is'expected to be able to vtilize net
operating loss carryforwards to offset TRS taxable income,

GAAP Tax Provision

During 2007, in our GAAP financials, we recorded a tax benefit of $706,000. The tax benefit was comprised of
{1) a $50,000 tax benefit associated with the GAAP operating loss at the TRS, and (i) the reversal of 1ax hability
reserves of $656,000 from previous years.

Dividends

Cur policy is to set our regular quarterly dividend at a level commensurate with the recurring income generated
by our business. At the same lime, in order to take full advantage of the dividends paid deduction of a REIT, we
endeavor to pay out 100% of taxable income. In the event that taxable income exceeds our regular dividend pay
out rate, we will make additional distributions in the form of special dividends.

See Pant 11, tem 5 for details on dividend taxation,

42




Results of Operations

Comparison of Results of Operations: Year Ended December 31, 2007 vs. December 31, 2006
(in thousands, except per share data)

2007 . 2006 $ Change % Change
Income from loans and other investments:
Inerest and related income $ 253422 $ 175404 $ 78,018 44.5%
{nterest and related expenses 162,377 104,607 57,770 35.2%
Income from loans and other investments, net 91,045 70,797 20,248 28.6%
Other revenues:
Management fces 3499 2,650 849 32.0%
Incemive management fecs 6,208 1,652 4,556 275.8%
Servicing fees 623 105 518 403.3%
Other 1.083 1,354 (271} (20.0%)
Total other revenues 11,413 5,761 5,652 98.1%
Other expenscs:
General and administrative 29,956 23,075 6,881 29.8%
Deprecistion and amortization 1,810 3.049 (1,239) (40.6%)
Total other expenses 31,766 26,124 5,642 21.6%
Recovery/(provision) for losses - —_ —— N/A
Gain on sale of investments 15,077 — 15,077 N/A
Income/(loss) from equity investments (2,109) 898 (3,007) (335%)
(Benefit} provision for income taxes (706) (2,735) 2,029 {74.2%)
Net income §  B4.366 § 54,067 $ 30,299 56.0%
——SET ——
Net income per share - diluted $4.77 $3.40 $1.37 40.3%
Dividend per share $5.10 $3.45 $1.65 47.8%
Average LIBOR 5.25% 5.10% 0.15% 2.9%

Income from loans and other investments

Growth in Interest Earning Assets (8570 million or 22% from December 31, 2006 to December 31, 2007) and
$4.3 million of interest revenue from the successful resolution of a non-performing loan, along with an increase
in average LIBOR, drove a $78.0 million (45%) increase in interest income between 2006 and 2007. These same
factors, combined with generally higher levels of leverage, resulted in a $57.8 million (55%) increase in interest
expense for the same period. On a net basis, net interest income increased by $20.2 miilion (29%), which was the
primary driver of net income growth,

Management fees

Base management fees from our investment management business increased in 2007 by $849,000 (32%) as base
management fees from CT Large Loan, CT High Grade, CTX Fund and CTOPI offset the decrease in these fees
at CT Mezzanine Partners II, LP, or Fund 11, and Fund 11l as these vehicles liquidated in the normal course. Fund
11 paid its final base management fee to us during the first quarter of 2007.

Incentive management fees

Incentive management fees increased substantially during 2007, primarily due to incentive fees received from
Fund Iil. Total incentive management fees from Fund 111 totaled $5.2 million in 2007 composed primarily of a
catch up payment from incentive management fees earned but not paid from the inception of Fund 11t in 2003
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through 2007. We received a final incentive management fee distribution from Fund i of $962,000 in March
2007 as the Fund IV’s last investment repaid and Fund Il was liquidated. In 2006, we received $1.7 million of
Fund Il incentive management fees.

Servicing fees

Servicing fee income for 2007 was $623,000, compared with $105,000 in 2006 as we recognized revenue relating
to the servicing contracts acquired as part of our purchase of a healtheare origination platform in June 2007.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses include compensation and benefits for our employees, operating expenses
and professional fees. Total general and administrative expenses increased 30% between 2007 and 2006
primarily as a result of the payment of $2.6 million in 2007 of employee performance compensation associated
with our receipt of Fund Il and Fund 1il incentive management fees. Net of the impact of incentive management
fees, general and administrative expenses increased $4.3 million (19%) from 2006 primarily as a resull of the
additional employee compensation expense associated with our acquisition of a healthcare lending platform in
2007.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization decreased by $1.2 million between 2006 and 2007 due primarily to the write off of
$1.8 miltion of capitalized costs in the third quarter of 2006, as we expensed all of the capitalized costs relating to
an investment management joint venture. This was partially offset by the write off of $1.3 million of capitalized
costs related 1o the liquidation of Fund Il in the first quanter of 2007. Net of the Fund Il and investment
management write-offs, depreciation and amortization in 2007 decreased $739,000 to $510,000 from $1.2 million
in 2006.

Recovery of provision for losses

In the second quarter of 2007 we recorded a 34.0 million recovery related to the successful resolution of 2 non-
performing loan. We received net proceeds of $10.9 million that resulted in the following: (a) reduced the
carrying value of the loan from $2.6 million to zero (b) recorded a $4.0 millien recovery of a provision for losses
and (c) recorded $4.3 million of interest income. In the fourth quarter of 2007 we recorded a $4.0 million
provision for loss against one second mortgage loan with a principal balance of $10.0 million.

Gain on sale of investments

In the fourth quarter of 2007 we sold our investment in Bracor and realized a gain of $15.1 million that included a
$2.5 million currency translation adjustment. Qur ownership interest was purchased by four investors on the
same terms, including WRBC. WRBC beneficislly owns approximately 17.8% of our outstanding class A
common stock as of March 4, 2008 and a member of our board of directors is an employee of WRBC. We did
not sell any of our equity investments in 2006,

Income/(loss) from equiry investments

Our loss from equity investments was derived primarily from our recording our share of losses from the
operations of Bracor, Fund 11 and Fund LIl. In 2007 and 2006, our Bracor investment generated a net loss of $1.2
million and $132,000, respectively. In 2007, our Fund 11 investment penerated a net loss of $690,000 which
included an operating loss $306,000 and the amortization of $384,000 of capitalized costs passed through to us
from the general partner of Fund 1. In 2007, our Fund Il investment generated a net loss of $119,000. During
2006, income from equity investments was primarily comprised of co-investment income from Fund Il and Fund
1L

(Benefit) provision for income taxes

We did not pay any taxes at the REIT level in either 2007 or 2006. However, CTIMCO, our investment
management subsidiary, is a taxable REIT subsidiary and subject to taxes on its earnings. In 2007, CTIMCO
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recorded an operating loss before income taxes of $2.0 million, which resulted in an income tax benefit of
$833,000, $783,000 of which we reserved and $50,000 of which we recorded. in 2006, CTIMCO recorded an
operating loss before income taxes of $6.7 million, which resulted in an income tax benefit of $2.7 million, none
of which we reserved and the entire $2.7 million of which we recorded. In addition to the benefit we recorded in
2007 as a result of operations at CTIMCO, we reversed tax liability reserves at Capital Trust, Inc. and CTIMCO
of $254,000 and $402,000, respectively.

Net income

Net income grew by $30.3 million (56%) from 2006 to 2007, based in large part upon increased net interest
income generated by a higher level of Interest Earning Assets, $8.3 million of income from the successful
resolution of a non-performing loan, and a $15.1 million gain from the sale of our investment in Bracor. On a
dituted per share basis, net income was $4.77 and $3.40 in 2007 and 2006, respectively, representing an increase
of 40%.

Dividends

Our regular dividends for 2007 and 2006 were $3.20 per share and $2.80 per share, respectively, representing
growth of 14% in recurring income from our operations. In both 2007 and 2006, we also paid a special dividend
of $1.90 per share and $0.65 per share, respectively. Total dividends per share in 2007 and 2006 were $5.10 and
$3.45, respectively, representing as increase of $1.65, or 48%.
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Comparison of Results of Operations: Year Ended December 31, 2006 vs. December 31, 2605
(in thousands, except per share data)

2006 2005 $ Change % Change
Income from loans and other investments:
Interest and relsted income $ 175404 $  £6200 $ 89204 103.5%
Interest and related expenses 104,607 37,229 67,378 181.0%
Income from loans and other investments, net 70,797 48,971 21,826 44.6%
Other revenues:
Management fees 2,650 5,091 {2,441) {47.9%)
Incentive management fees : 1,652 8,033 (6,381) (79.4%)
Servicing fees 105 — 105 N/A
Other 1,354 553 801 144.8%
Tota! other revenues 5,761 13,677 (7.916) (57.9%)
Other expenses; )
Genera! and administrative 23,075 21,939 1,136 52%
Depreciation and emortization 3,049 1,114 1,935 173.7%
Tolal other expenses 26,124 23,053 3,071 13.3%
Gain on sale of investments —_ 4,951 (4,951} N/A
income (Yoss) from equity invesiments 398 (222 1,120 (504,5%)
{Bencfit) pravision for income taxes (2,735) 213 (2,948) (1.384.0%)
Net income $ 54,067 $ Ml b 9,956 22.6%
[———————— |
Net income per share - dilwted $3.40 $2.88 $0.52 18.1%
Dividend per share £1.45 $2.45 £1.00 40.8%
Average LIBOR 5.10% 3.3% 1.1% 50.4%

Income from loans and other investments

Growth in Interest Earning Assets, along with a 50.4% increase in average LIBOR, drove a 104% increase in
interest income between 2005 and 2006. These same factors, combined with generally higher levels of leverage,
created a 181% increase in interest expense for the same period. On a net basis, net interest margin increased by
45%, which was the primary driver of net income growth from 2005 to 2006.

Management and advisory fees

Base management fees from our investment management business decreased as both Fund 11 and Fund Il
continued to wind down. Base management fees from CT Large Loan and CT High Grade offset the reduction
only in part, due to the generally lower level of fees that these vehicles generate and the timing of their launch
after mid-year 2006.

Incentive management fees

Fund 11 continued to pay incentive management fees in 2006, albeit at substantially lower levels than 2005, when
we received our initial payment of incentive management fees from Fund 1l. In 2005, we received $8.0 million of
incentive fees, composed primarily of a catch up payment for incentive management fees earned but not paid
from the inception of Fund il in 2001 through 2005. With the catch up phase completed in 2005, 2006 payments
reflected only incentive fees actually eamed in that year.
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General and administraiive expenses

General and administrative expenses include compensation and benefits for our employces, operating expenses
and professional fees. Total general and administrative expenses increased 5% between 2006 and 2003, a lower
growth rate than would be expected given the business activity in 2006. The change between 2006 and 2005 can
be explained in part by one time expense items in 2005. These items include (i) the payment of approximately
$2.0 million of Fund !l incentive management fees lo employees in 2005, while only $398,000 was paid in 2006,
and (ii) the incurrence of $757,000 of costs in 2005 associated with a potential corporate combination, an
abandoned fund management venture and increased expenses under our contract with Global Realty
Qutsourcing, Inc. These impacts were offset by increases in professional fees between 2005 and 2006 of roughly
$800,000.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased by $1.9 million between 2005 and 2006 due primarily to $1.8 million of
expenses incurred in 2006 associated with the effective termination of our investment management venture with a
joint venture partner.

Gain on sale of invesiments

In 2006, we did not setl any securities or investments. During 2005, we sold our investment in Global Realty
Outsourcing, Inc., a real estate outsourcing firm for which we were a founding shareholder, for a gain of $5.0
million.

Incomef/(loss} from equity investments

Income from equity investments was predominantly derived from our co-investment in Fund LI during 2006,
offsct by start up opcrating losses at Bracor. In 2006, the Bracor investment generated & net loss of $132,000,
representing our share of operating losses (plus de minimus currency adjustments) for the period from Bracor’s
inception through September 30, 2006 (we repon Bracor's operating results on a one fiscal quarter lag). In 2005,
income from equity investments was negative, based primarily upon our co-investment at Fund !, where the fund
expensed $16 million of incentive management fees ($8.0 million paid to CTIMCO) and generated an operating
loss for the year. In conjunction with the payment of Fund 11 incentive management fees to CTIMCO in 2005, we
expensed $1.2 million of costs that we had previously capitalized associated with Fund II.

(Benefit) provision for income laxes

We did not pay any taxes at the REIT level in cither 2006 or 2005. However, CTIMCO, our investment
management subsidiary, is a taxable REIT subsidiary and subject to taxes on its earnings. In 2006, CTIMCO
recorded an operating loss before income taxes of $6.7 million, which resulted in an income tax benefit of $2.7
million. In 2005, CTIMCO recorded net income before income taxes of $104,000, which when combined with
GAAP to tax difference resulted in a provision for income taxes of $213,000, all of which we recorded.

Net income

Net income grew by $10.0 million or 23% from 2005 to 2006, based in large part upon the increased net interest
income generated by a higher level of Interest Eamning Assets. On a diluted per share basis, net income was $3.40
and $2.88 in 2006 and 2005, respectively, representing an increase of 18%.

Dividends

Our regular dividends for 2006 and 2005 were $2.80 per share and $2.25 per share, respectively, representing
growth of 25% in recurring income from our operations. In both 2006 and 2005, we also paid a special dividend,
$0.65 per share and $0.20 per share, respectively. Total dividends per share increased by $1.00, or 41%, from
2005 to 2006.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect to use a signiftcant amount of our available capttal resources to invest in new and existing loans and
investments for our balance sheet. We intend to continue to employ leverage on our balance sheet to enhance our
return on equity. At December 31, 2007, our net liquidity was as follows:

Net Liquidity

(in millions) December 31, 2007
Available cash $32
Available borrowings 172
Total immediate liquidity 204
Net unfunded commitments'” (41)
Net liquidity $163

(1} Represents gross unfunded commitmenis of $180 million less respective
in place financing commitments from our lenders of $139 million.

At December 31, 2007, we had total immediate liquidity of $204 million comprised of $26 million in cash, $6
million in restricted cash and $147 million of immediately available liquidity from our repurchase agreements
(8145.4 million from master repurchase agreements and $2 million from asset specific repurchase agreements)
and $25 million from our senior unsecured credit facility. Our primary sources of liquidity during the next 12
menths are expected to be cash on hand, cash generated from operations, principal and interest payments received
on loans and investments, additional borrowings under our repurchase agreements and senior unsecured credit
facility, stock offerings, proceeds from our direct stock purchase plan and dividend reinvestment plan, and other
capital raising activities. We believe these sources of capital will be adequate to meet both short term and
medium term cash requirements.

We experienced a net decrease in cash of $313,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to a net
increase of $1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Cash provided by operating activities during the
year ended December 31, 2007 was 387 million, compared to cash provided by operating activities of $65 million
during the same period of 2006. The change was primarily due to increased nct interest income due to our
increase in interest earning assets. For the year ended December 31, 2007, cash used in investing aclivilies was
$359 million, compared to $1.2 billion during the same period in 2006. The change was primarily due to a
decrease in originations of $65] million during the year ended December 31, 2007 compared 1o the year ended
December 31, 2006, and an increase in principal repayments of $138 million for the same periods. For the year
ended December 31, 2007, cash provided by financing aclivities was $271 million, compared to $1.1 billion
during the same period in 2006. The change was primarily due to proceeds from participations sold in 2006 and

-the proceeds in March 2006 from the issuance of the CDO IV obligations, and activity on other debt.

At December 31, 2007, under our repurchase agreements, we had pledged assets that enable us to borrow an
additional $147 million. We had $613 million of credit available for the financing of new and existing unpledged
assets pursuant to these sources of financing. Furthermore, at December 31, 2007, we had $25 million of
liquidity available under our senior unsecured credit facility. A1 December 31, 2007, we had outstanding debt in
the form of CDOs of $1.2 billion and outstanding repurchase obligations totaling $912 million. The terms of
these agreements are described in Note 7 of the consolidated financial statements and in the capitalization
discussion in this Item 2, Additional liquidity will be generated when assets that are currently pledged under
repurchase obligations are contributed to our CDOs as the difference between the repurchase price under our
repurchase agreements is generally less than the leverage available to us in our CDOs. At December 31, 2007,
we had additional liquidity of $6 million in our CDOs in the form of restricted cash.
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The following table sets forth information about certain of our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007:

Contractual Obligations

{in millions}

Payment duc by pertod
Less than More than
Total | year 1-3 years 3-5 yeans S yean
Long-Term Debt Obligations
Repurchase obligations ............... $912 $644 $268 $— $—
Collateralized debt obligations . .. ... ... 1,190 — — — 1,190
Participationssold . .................. 408 165 127 116 —_
Senior unsecured credit facility ........ 75 — 75 — -
Junior subordinated debentures. ........ 128 — - — 129
Total long-term debt obligations . . ... 2,714 809 470 116 1,319
Unfunded Commitments
Loans'™ .. .. ... .. ... 177 43 123 6 —
Total retumswaps . ........ovvnennns 3 — 3 — —
Equity investments. . ............0u0 25 — 25 - —
Total unfunded commitments. ....... 205 48 151 6 —
Operating Lease Obligations. ............ 15 1 k] 3 8
Toal?, . $2,934 $358 $624 $125 $1,327

{1) Our unfinded loan commitments nct of in place financing as of December 31, 2007 were $41 miltion,
{2) We are also subject to interest rate swaps for which we cannot estimate future payments due.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.
Critical Accounting Policies

Qur discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires our management to make
estimates and assumplions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Our accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and
estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
During 2007, management reviewed and evaluated its critical accounting policies and believes them to be
appropriate. Our accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements. The
following is a summary of our accounting policies that we believe are the most affected by management
judgments, estimates and assumptions:

Principles of Conselidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include, on a consolidated basis, our accounts, the accounts
of our wholly-owned subsidiaries and our interests in variable interest entities in which we are the primary
beneficiary. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Our
interests in CT Preferred Trust | and CT Preferred Trust |1, the issuers of trust securities backed by our junior
subordinated debentures, are accounted for using the equity method and their assets and liabilities are not
consolidated into our financial statements due 1o our determination that CT Preferred Trust 1 and CT Preferred
Trust 1l are variable interest entities in which we are not the primary beneficiary under Financial Accounting
Standards Board, or FASB, Interpretation No. 46(R), or FIN 46R. We account for our co-investment interest in
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private equity funds we manage, CT Mezzanine Partners [ll, Inc., or Fund HI, and CTOPI, under the equity
method of accounting. We also account for our investment in Bracor under the equity method of accounting. As
such, we report a percentage of the earnings of Fund 111, CTOPI and Bracor equal to our ownership percentage on
a single line item in the consolidated statement of operations as income from equity investments.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income from our loans receivable is recognized over the life of the investment using the effective interest
method and is recorded on the accrual basis. Fees, premiums, discounts and direct costs in connection with these
investments are deferred until the loan is advanced and are then recognized over the term of the loan as an
adjustment to yield. Fees on commitments that expire unused are recognized at expiration. For loans where we
have unfunded commitments, we amortize the appropriate items on a straight line basis. Income recognition is
generally suspended for loans at the earlier of the date at which payments become 90 days past due or when, in
the opinion of management, a full recovery of income and principal becomes doubtful. Income recognition is
resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and performance is demonstrated to be resumed.

Fees from special servicing and asset management services are recognized as services are rendered. We account
for incentive fees we can potentially cam from our investment management business in accordance with Method
| of Emerging Issues Task Force Topic D-96. Under Method 1, no incentive income is recorded unti] all
contingencies have been eliminated.

Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities

We classify our CMBS investments pursuant to FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, or
FAS 115, on the date of acquisition of the investment. On August 4, 2005, we made a decision to change the
accounting classification of our CMBS investments from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity
investments are stated at cost plus the amortization of any premiums or discounts and any premiums or discounts
arc amortized through the consolidated statements of income using the level yield method. Other than in the
instance of impairment, these held-to-maturity investments are shown in our financial statements at their adjusted
values pursuant to the methodology described above.

We may also invest in CMBS and certain other securities which may be classified as available-for-sale.
Available-for-sale securities are carried at estimated fair value with the net unrealized pains or losses reported as
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) in shareholders’ equity. Many of thesc
investments are relatively illiquid and management must estimate their values. In making these estimates,
management utilizes market prices provided by dealers who make markets in these securities, but may, under
certain circumstances, adjust these vatuations based on management’s judgment. Changes in the valuations do
not affect our reported income or cash flows, but impact sharcholders’ equity and, accordingly, book value per
share.

Income on these securities is recognized based upon a number of assumptions that are subject to uncertainties and
contingencies. Examples include, among other things, the rate and timing of principal payments, including
prepayments, repurchases, defaults and liquidations, the pass-through or coupon rate and interest rates.
Additional factors that may affect our reported interest income on our mortgage backed securities include interest
payment shortfalls due to delinquencies on the underlying mortgage loans and the timing and magnitude of credit
losses on the mortgage loans underlying the securities that are impacted by, among other things, the general
condition of the real estate market, including competition for tenants and their related credit quality, and changes
in market rental rates. These uncertainties and contingencies are difficult to predict and are subject to future
events that may alter the assumptions.

We account for CMBS under Emerging lssues Task Force 99-20, “Recognition of Interest Income and
Impairment on Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets”, or EITF 99-20.
Under EITF 99-20, when significant changes in estimated cash flows from the cash flows previously estimated
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occur due to actual prepayment and credit loss experience and the present value of the revised cash flows using
the current expected yield is less than the present value of the previously estimated remaining cash flows,
adjusted for cash receipts during the intervening period, an other than temporary impairment is deemed to have
occurred. Accordingly, the security is written down to fair value with the resulting change being included in
income and a new cost basis established with the original discount or premium writicn off when the new cost
basis is established. In accordance with this guidance, on a quarterly basis, when significant changes in estimated
cash flows from the cash flows previously estimated occur due to actual prepayment and credit loss experience,
we calculate a revised yield based upon the current amortized cost of the investment, including any other than
temporary impairments recognized to date, and the revised cash flows. The revised yield is then applied
prospectively to recognize interest income. Management must also assess whether unrealized losses on securities
reflect a decline in value that is other than lemporary, and, accordingly, write down the impaired security to its
fair value, through a charge to earnings. Significan! judgment of management is required in this analysis that
includes, but is not limited to, making assumptions regarding the collectibility of the principal and interest, net of
related expenses, on the underlying loans.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, we concluded that two of our CMBS investments had incurred other than
temporary impairment and we incurred a charge of $5.9 million through the income statement. At December 31,
2007 we believe there has not been any adverse change in cash flows relating to existing CMBS investments,
therefore we did not recognize any additional other than temporary impairment on any CMBS investments.
Significant judgment of management is required in this analysis that includes, bul is not limited to, making
assumptions regarding the collectibility of the principal and interest, net of related expenses, on the underlying
loans. .

From time to time we purchase CMBS and other investments in which we have a level of control over the issuing
enlity; we refer to these investments as controlling class investments. The presentation of controlling class
investments in our financial statements is governed in part by FIN 46R. FIN 46R could require that certain
controiling class investmenis be presented on a consolidated basis. Based upon the specific circumstances of
certain of our CMBS investments that are controlling class investments and our interpretation of FIN 46R,
specifically the exemption for qualifying special purpose entities as defined under FASB Statements of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 140, or FAS 140, we have concluded that the entities that have issued the controlling
class investments should not be presented on a consolidated basis. We are aware that FAS 140 is currently under
review by standard setters and that, as a result of this review, our current interpretation of FIN 46R and FAS 140
may change.

Loans Receivable and Reserve for Possible Credit Losses

We purchase and originate commercial rea! estate debt and related instruments, or Loans, to be held as long term
invesiments at amortized cost. Management must periodically evaluate each of these Loans for possible
impairment. Impairment is indicated when it is deemed probable that we will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to the contractual terms of the Loan. If a Loan were determined to be permanently impaired, we
would write down the Loan through a charge to the reserve for possible credit losses. Given the nature of our
Loan ponfolio and the underlying commercial real estate collateral, significant judgment on the part of
management is required in determining the permanent impairmem and the resulting charge to the reserve, which
includes but is not limited to making assumptions regarding the value of the real estate that secures the loan. Each
Loan in our portfolio is evaluated at least quarterly using our loan risk rating system which considers loan-to-
value; debt yield, cash flow stability, exit plan, loan sponsorship, loan structure and other factors deemed
necessary by management to assess the likelihood of delinquency or default. [f we believe that there is a potential
for delinquency or default, a downside analysis is prepared to estimate the value of the collateral underlying our
Loan, and this potential loss is multiplied by the default likelihood to determine the size of the reserve. Actual
losses, if any, could ultimately differ from these estimates.
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Repurchase Obligations

In certain circumstances, we have financed the purchase of investments from a counterparty through a repurchase
agreement with that same counterparty. We curmrently record these investments in the same manner as other
investments financed with repurchase agreements, with the investment recorded as an asset and the related
borrowing under any repurchase agreement as a liability on our consolidated balance sheet. Interest income
eamed on the investments and interest expense incurred on the repurchase obligations are reported separately on
the consolidated statements of income. There is a position under consideration by standard setters, based upon a
technical interpretation of FAS 140, that starting in fiscal 2009 these transactions will not qualify as a purchase
by us. We believe, consistent with industry practice, that we are accounting for these transactions in an
appropriate manner; however, if these investments do not qualify as a purchase under FAS 140, we would be
required to present the net investment (asset balance less the repurchase obligation balance) on our balance sheet
together with an embedded derivative with the corresponding change in fair value of the derivative being
recorded in the consolidated statements of income, The value of the derivative would reflect not only changes in
the value of the underlying investment, but also changes in the value of the underlying credit provided by the
counterparty. Income from these armangements would be presented on a net basis. Furthermore, hedge
instruments related to these assets and liabilities, currently deemed effective, may no longer be effective and may
have to be accounted for as non-hedge derivatives. As of December 31, 2007 we had entered into 26 such
transactions, with a book value of the associated assets of $669.2 million financed with repurchase obligations of
$475.5 million.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock based compensation in accordance with FASB Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123(R), or FAS 123(R} “Share Based Payment”. We have elected to utilize the modified
prospective method, and there was no material impact from this adoption. Compensation expense for the time
vesting of stock based compensation grants is recognized on the accelerated attribution method and compensation
expense for performance vesting of stock based compensation grants is recognized on a straight-line basis.

Interest Rate Derivative Financial Instraments

In the normal course of business, we use interest rate derivative financial instruments to manage, or hedge, cash
flow variability caused by interest rate fluctuations. Specifically, we currently use interest rate swaps to
effectively convert variable rate liabilities, that are financing fixed rale assets, to fixed rate liabilities. The
differential to be paid or received on these agreements is recognized on the accrual basis as an adjustment to the
interest expense related to the attendant liability, The swap agreements are generelly accounted for on a held-to-
maturity basis, and, in cases where they are terminated early, any gain or loss is generatly amortized over the
remaining life of the hedged item. These swap agreements must be effective in reducing the variability of cash
flows of the hedged items in order to qualify for the aforementioned hedge accounting treatment. Changes in
vatue of effective cash flow hedges are reflected in our financial statements through accumulated other
comprehensive income/(loss} and do not affect our net income. To the extent a derivative does not qualify for
hedge accounting, and is deemed a non-hedge derivative, the changes in its value are included in net income.

To determine the fair value of derivative instntmenis, we use third parties to periodically value our interests.

Income Taxes

Qur financial results generally do not reflect provisions for current or deferred income taxes on our REIT taxable
income. Management believes that we operale in a manner that will continue to atlow us to be taxed as a REIT
and, as a result, do not expect to pay substantial corporate level taxes (other than taxes payable by our taxable
REIT subsidiaries which are accounted for in accordance with FASB Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”, or FAS 10%). Many of these requirements, however, are
highly technical and complex. If we were to fail to meet these requirements, we may be subject to federal, state
and locat income tax on current and past income, and we may also be subject to penalties.
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In June 2006, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No. 48, or FIN 48. This interpretation clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with
FAS 109. This interpretation prescribes 2 recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of 8 1ax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax retum. FIN 48
also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure, and transition. This interpretation was effective January 1, 2007 for the company. The adoption of
FIN 48 did not have a material impact on our financial results.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value
Mecasurements” or FAS 157. FAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and
expands disclosures about fair velue measurements. FAS 157 applies to reporting periods beginning after
November 15, 2007. As discussed above, the company reports the changes in the value of effective cash flow
hedges through accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss). If the cash flow hedges were accounted for
under FAS 157 as of December 31, 2007, the value would be a liability on our consolidated balance sheet of
$17.7 million as compared to a liability of $18.7 million

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, *“The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”, or FAS 159. FAS 159 permits entities to choose to
measure many financial instruments, and certain other items, at fair value. FAS 159 also establishes presentation
and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different
measurement attributes for similar types of asscts and liabilitics. FAS 159 applies to reporting periods beginning
after November 15, 2007. We will adopt FAS 159 as required,
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The principal objective of our asset/liability management activities is to maximize net interest income while
minimizing levels of interest rate risk. Net interest income and interest expense are subject to the risk of interest
rate fluctuations. In certain instances, to mitigate the impact of fluctuations in interest rates, we use interes! rate
swaps to effectively convert variable rate liabilities to fixed rate liabilities for proper matching with fixed rate
assets. Each derivative used as a hedge is matched with an asset or liability with which it is expected to have a
high correlation. The swap agreements are generally held-to-maturity and we do not use interest rate derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes. The differential to be paid or received on these agreements is
recognized as an adjustment to the interest expense related to debt and is recognized on the accrual basis.

Our loans and investments, including our fund investments, are also subject to credit risk. The ultimate
performance and value of our loans and investments depends upon the owner’s ability to operate the properties
that serve as our collateral so that they produce cash flows adequate to pay interest and principal due to us. To
monitor this risk, our asset management team continuously reviews the investment portfolio and in certain
instances is in constant contact with our borrowers, monitoring performance of the collateral and enforcing our
rights as necessary.
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The following table provides information about our financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest
rates at December 31, 2007, For financial assets and debt obligations, the table presents cash flows (in certain
cases, face adjusted for expected losses) to the expected maturity and weighted average interest rates. For interest
rate swaps, the table presents notional amounts and weighted average fixed pay and variable receive interest rates
by contractual maturity dates. Notional amounts are used to calculate the contractual cash flows to be exchanged
under the contract. Weighted average variable rates are based on rates in effect as of the reporting date.

Assets:

CMBS
Fixed Rale
Avg Im Raie
Variable Rate
Avg Int Rate

Loany
Fixed Rate
Avg [t Rate
Variable Rnic
Avg lnt Rate

Total return swaps
Variable Rate
Avg Im Rate

Interest rate swaps
Notional Amounts
Avg Fixed Pay Rate
Avg Veriable Receive Rate

Linbilities:

Repurchase obligations
Varisble Rate
Avg Int Rate

CDOs
Fixed Rate
Avg Int Rate
Variable Rate
Avg Int Rate

Senior unsecured credit fucility
Fixed Rate
Avg Int Rate

Junior subordinated debi
Fixed Ratc
Avg Inl Rare

FParvicipailons sold
Variable Rate
Avg Inl Rate

Expected Maturity Dates
2008 2009 2010 ol 212 Ihereafler Total Eair Valug
(dollars in thousands)
549,813 $6,858 $14,013 $76.001 $195,184 $396,970 $738.841 $679.986
6.38% 7.65% 1.28% 14 TI™% 607% 6.56%
519618 $29,797 $83,164 _— $2.651 516,350 $171.620 $150,425
6.39% 6.92% 1.94% —_ 10.00% 10.50% B.16%
$61,400 $17.967 51,997 $24,864 $2,124 194,861 $203,213 $214,798
10.68% B.52% 8.23% B.42% 1.76% 13™% 3.61%
§989,307 $670,210  $126,845 $10,429 $249,180 $13,000 $2,058,971 $2.011,647
7.46% 1.40% 8.49% 7.35% 3.20% 6.56% T.59%
$41,825 $49,553 514,280 $50,023 $81.887 $275,475 §$513,043 (318,686)
5.08% 4.717% 5.04% 4.66% 4.98% 5.06% 4.96%
4.60% 4.60% 4.60% 4.60% 4.60% 4.60% 4.60%
§644,372 $246,215 $21,.250 —_ —_ —_ $911,857 §911,857
5.50% 573% 5.60% —_ —_ -— 5.56%
$4,502 $3,042 55473 $44.255 568,965 $148,273 $274.510 $243,309
5.60% 6.22% 5.19% 5.10% 5.16% 5.42% $.31%
$37,226 $268,532 $49,443 $155.101 5196410 $209.226 $915,938 $824,204
497% 5.05% 577% 4.90% 4.98% 5.20% 5.08%
-_— $75,000 - e —_ —_ §75,000 $75,000
-— 6.10% _ — —_ —_ 6.10%
—_ _ — - — 128,875 $128,875 $98,863
—_ - - - — 1.20% 7.20%
5164,830 $97,465 $29,050 —— $117,089 — $408,434 $1%6,900
% B.25% 9.10% —_ 8.42% - 7.98%
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Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required by this item and the reports of the independent accounlants thereon required by
Item 14(a)(2) appear on pages F-2 to F-48. See accompanying [ndex 1o the Consolidated Financia! Statements on
page F-1. The supplementary financial data required by Item 302 of Regulation S-K appears in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ftem9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our “disclosure controls and procedures” (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(¢)) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as of the end of the period
covered by this annual report on Form 10-K was made under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based upon this evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
(a) are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the
Securities Exchange Acl is timely recorded, processed, summarized and reported and (b)include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports
filed or submirted under the Securities Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, which appears on page F-3, is incorporated
herein by reference.

Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been audited by
Emst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears on
page F-2, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Changes in Internal Controls

There have been no significant changes in our “internal control over financial reporting” (as defined in
rule |3a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2007 that have
materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our intemal control over financiat reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART II
Item 10, Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by Items 401, 405, 406 and 407(c}3), (d)(4)and (d)(5) of Regulation S-K is
incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed not later than April 29,
2008 with the Sccurities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.

Item [1. Executive Compensation

The information required by ltem 402 and paragraph (e)(4) and (e}5) of Item 407 of Regulation S-K is
incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed not later than April 29,
2008 with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by Items 201(d) and 403 of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the
Company's definitive proxy statement 10 be filed not fater than Apnl 29, 2008 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by Items 404 and 407(a) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the
Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed not later than April 29, 2008 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by [tem 9(¢) of Schedule 14A is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s
definitive proxy statement to be filed not later than Apnl 29, 2008 with the Securities and Exchange Commission
pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.
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Item 15.

5

PART IV
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements
See the accompanying Index to Financial Statement Schedule on page F-1.

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules
See the accompanying Index to Financial Statement Schedule on page F-1.

Exhibits
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Exhibit
Number

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

3.1a

3l

32a

3.2b

33

+10.1

+10.2

+10.3

+10.4

+10.5

+10.6
+10.7

+10.8

+10.9

Charter of the Capital Trust, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1.a to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on April 2, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Centificate of Notice (filed as Exhibit 3.1 1o Capital Trust, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 1-14788) filed on February 27, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Capital Trust, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on January 29, 1999 and incorporated herein
by reference).

Second Amended and Restated By-Laws of Capital Trust, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-4788) filed on February 27, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference).

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws of Capital Trust, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to
Capital Trust, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on August 16, 2004
and incorporated herein by reference).

Capital Trust, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 1997 Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan (the
“1997 Plan™) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Capital Trust, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on
January 29, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference) (the “1997 Director Plan”).

Capital Trust, Inc. 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on January 29, 1999 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Capital Trust, Inc. 1998 Non-Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.4 1o Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on January 29, 1999 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Capital Trust, Inc. Amended and Restated 2004 Long-Term [ncentive Plan (the “2004 Pian”) (filed
as Exhibit 10.5 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K {File No. 1-14788) filed on
March 10, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

2007 Amendment to the 2004 Plan.

Form of Award Agreement granting Restricted Shares and Performance Units under the 2004 Plan
(filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Capital Trust, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed
on February 10, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Award Agreement granting Performance Units under the 2004 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.7
to Capital Trust, [nc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005
and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Award Agreement granting Performance Units under the 2004 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.8
1o Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005
and incorporated herein by reference).
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+10,10

+10.11

+10.12

+10.13

+10.14

+10.15

+10.16

+10.17

+10.18

+10.19

*+10.20
+10.21

Form of Award Agreement granting Performance Units under the 2004 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.9
to Capita! Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005
and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under the 2004 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-X (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement under the 2004 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.11 to Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Deferral and Distribution Election Form for Restricted Share Award Agreement under the 2004
Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.12 1o Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Restricied Share Unit Award Agreement under the 2004 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to
Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Deferral and Distribution Election Form for Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement under the
2004 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Deferred Share Unit Program Election Forms under the 2004 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Capital
Trust, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788} filed on March 10, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Director Retainer Deferral Election Form for Stock Units under the 1997 Plan. (filed as
Exhibit 10.16 to Capital Trust, [nc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K {File No. 1-14788} filed on
March 10, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Award Agreement granting Performance Awards under the Company's Amended and
Restated 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on May 4, 2005 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Capital Trust, Inc. 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan™) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No, 1-14788) filed on June 12, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference).

2007 Amendment to the 2007 Plan.

Form of Award Agreement granting Restricted Shares and Performance Units under the 2007 Plan
(filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quanterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788)
filed on November 7, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).
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+10.22

+10.23

+10.24

+10.25

+10.26

+10.27

*+10.28

=+10.29

=+10.30

~+10.31

+10.32

«+10.33

+10.34

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement under the 2007 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on November 7, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Performance Unit and Performance Share Award Agreement under the 2007 Plan (filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on
November 7, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under the 2007 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Quanterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on November 7, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of SAR Award Agreement under the 2007 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.7 1o Capital Trust, Inc.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on November 7, 2007 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement under the 2007 Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to
Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on November 7, 2007
and incorporated herein by reference).

Deferral Election Agreement for Deferred Share Units under the 2007 Plan {filed as Exhibit 10.9 w
Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Repont on Form 10-Q (File No., 1-14788) filed on November 7, 2007
and incorporated herein by reference).

Deferrat Election Agreement for Selected Plan Awards, dated as of December 24, 2007, by and
between Capital Trust, Inc. and John R. Klopp.

Deferral Election Agreement for Selected Plan Awards, dated as of December 24, 2007, by and
between Capital Trust, Inc. and Geoffrey G. Jervis.

Deferral Election Agreement for Selected Plan Awards, dated as of December 24, 2007, by and
berween Capital Trust, Inc. and Geoffrey G. Jervis.

Deferral Election Agreement for Selected Plan Awards, dated as of December 24, 2007, by and
between Capital Trust, Inc. and Geoffrey G. Jervis,

Deferral Election Agreement for Selecied Plan Awards, dated as of December 24, 2007, by and
between Capital Trust, Inc. and Stephan D. Plavin.

Deferral Election Agreement for Selected Plan Awards, dated as of December 24, 2007, by and
between Capital Trust, Inc. and Thomas C. Ruffing.

Employment Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2004, by and between Capital Trust, Inc. and CT
Investment Management Co., LLC and John R. Klopp (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on May 12, 2004 and incorporated herein

by reference).

61




Exhibit
Number

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

+10.35

+10.36

+10.37

+10.38
+10.39

+10.40

10.41

1042.a

10.42.b

10.43

10.44.a

Employment Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2005, by and between Capital Trust, Inc. and
Stephen D. Plavin (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annua! Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2006, by and among Capital Trust, [nc., CT
Investment Management Co., LLC and Geoffrey G. Jervis (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on October 30, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2006, by and among Capital Trust, Inc., CT
Investment Managemem Co., LLC and Thomas C. Ruffing (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on August 8, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Termination Agreement, dated as of December 29, 2000, by and between Capital Trust, Inc. and
Craig M. HatkofY (fited as Exhibit 10.9 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 1-14788) filed on April 2, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).

Transition Agreement dated May 26, 2005, by and between the Company and Brian H. Oswald
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on
May 27, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Consulting Services Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2003, by and between CT Invesiment
Management Co., LLC and Craig M. HatkofT. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Capital Trust, Inc."s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on November 6, 2003 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Agreement of Lease dated as of May 3, 2000, between 410 Park Avenue Associates, L.P., owner,
and Capital Trust, Inc., tenant (filed as Exhibit 10.11 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annuzl Report on
Form [0-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on April 2, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Master Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2003, between
Capital Trust, Inc., CT Mezzanine Partners | LLC and Morgan Stanley Mortgage Capital Inc. (filed
as Exhibit 10.4 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q {File No. 1-14788) filed on
November 6, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Joinder and Amendment, dated as of July 20, 2004, among Capital Trust, Inc,, CT Mezzanine
Partners | LLC,-CT RE CDO 2004-1 Sub, LLC and Morgan Stanley Mortgage Capital Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 10.21.b to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on
March 10, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of July 29, 2005, by and between the Company and
Morgan Stanley Bank (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Capital Trusl, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
{File No. 1-14788) filed on November 1, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of July 29, 2005, by and among the Company, CT RE
CDO 2004-1 Sub, LLC, CT RE CDO 2005-1 Sub, LLC and Morgan Stanley Bank {filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to Capital Trust, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on
November 1, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.44.b

*10.44.¢c

10.45.a

10.45.b

10.45.c

10.46

10.47.a

10.47.b

10.47.c

10.48

Amendment No. | to the Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2005, by and
among Capital Trust, Inc., CT RE CDO 2004-1 Sub, LLC, CT RE CDO 2005-1 Sub, LLC and
Morgan Stanley Bank (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 1-14788) filed on November 9, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment No. § to Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of February 14, 2007, by and among
Capital Trust, Inc., CT RE CDO 2004-1 SUB, LLC, CT RE CDO 2005-1 SUB, LLC and Morgan
Stanley Bank (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Capital Trust, In¢.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File
No. 1-14788) filed on May 1, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of August 15, 2006, by and
between Goldman Sachs Mortgage Company and Capital Trust, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1.a 10
Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on October 30, 2006
and incorporated herein by reference).

Annex | 10 Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of August 15, 2006, by
and between Goldman Sachs Montgage Company and Capital Trust, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1.b to
Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quanterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on October 30, 2006
and incorporated herein by reference).

Letter, dated as of August 15, 2006, by and between Goldman Sachs Mortgage Company and
Capital Trust, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1.c 1o Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(File No, 1-14788) filed on October 30, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Master Loan Repurchase Facility, dated as of August 17, 2004, by and between Goldman Sachs
Mortgage Company and Capital Trust, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on November 3, 2004 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of February 19, 2002, by and between Liquid Funding,
Ltd. and CT LF Funding Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.24.a to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Terms Annex, dated March 1, 2005, by and between Liquid Funding, Ltd. and CT LF Funding
Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.24.b to Capitai Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File
No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Confirmation, dated as of March 20, 2006, by and between CT LF Funding Corp. and Liquid
Funding, Ltd (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File
No. 1-14788) filed on May 4, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of March 4, 2005, by and among Capital Trust, Inc., Bank
of America, N.A, and Banc of America Securitics LLC. (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to Capital

Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference).
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10.49.a

10.49.b

10.49.c

*10.49.d

10.50.2

10.50.b

10.50.¢c

*10.50d

10.51

10.52

Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2006, by and
among Bear, Stearns Funding, Inc., Capital Trust, [n¢. and CT BSI Funding Corp. (filed as
Exhibit 10.31.a to Capital Trust, In¢.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on
March 10, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Letter agreement, dated as of February 15, 2006, by and among Bear, Stearns Funding, Inc., Capital
Trust, Inc. and CT BSI Funding Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.31.b to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference),

Amendment No. |, dated as of February 7, 2007, to the Amended and Restated Master Repurchase
Agreement, by and among Bear, Stearns Funding, Inc., Capital Trust, Inc. and CT BS! Funding
Corp.(filed as Exhibit 10.7.2 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. I-
14788) filed on May 1, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Letter Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2007, by and among Bear, Steams Funding, Inc., Capital
Trust, Inc. and CT BSI Funding Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.7b te Capital Trust, Inc.'s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on May 1, 2007 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agrecment, dated as of February 15, 2006, by and
among Bear, Stearns International Limited, Capital Trust, Inc. and CT BS] Funding Corp. (filed as
Exhibit 10.32.a to Capital Trust, [nc.’s Annual Report an Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on
March 10, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Letter agreement, dated as of February 15, 2006, by and among Bear, Steams International
Limited, Capital Trust, Inc. and CT BSI Funding Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.32.b to Capital
Trust, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 10, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment No. 1, dated as of February 7, 2007, to the Amended and Restated Master Repurchase
Agreement, by and among Bear, Stearns International Limited, Capital Trust, In¢, and CT BSJ|
Funding Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.6.a to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File
No. 1-14788) filed on May 1, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Letter Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2007, by and among Bear, Stearns International Limited,
Capital Trust, Inc. and CT BSI Funding Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.6.b to Capital Trust, Inc."s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on May 1, 2007 and incorporated herein
by reference).

Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2006, by and between Capital Trust, [nc.
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (filed as Exhibit 10.35 10 Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annua] Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on February 28, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Limited Liability Company Agreement of CT MP 11 LLC, by and among Traveters General Real
Estate Mezzanine Investments 11, LL.C and CT-F2-GP, LLC, dated as of March 8, 2000 (filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form §-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 23,
2000 and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59

10.60

10.61

Venture Agreement amongst Travelers Limited Real Estate Mezzanine Investments I, LLC,
Travelers General Real Estate Mezzanine Investments 1}, LLC, Travelers Limited Real Estate
Mezzanine Investments 11, LLC, CT-F!, LLC, CT-F2-GP, LLC, CT-F2-LP, LLC, CT Investment
Management Co., LLC and Capital Trust, Inc., dated as of March 8, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Fite No. 1-14788) filed on March 23, 2000 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Guaranty of Payment, by Capital Trust, [nc. in favor of Travelers Limited Real Esiate Mezzanine
Investments 1, LLC, Travelers General Real Estate Mezzanine Investments [1, LLC and Travelers
Limited Real Estate Mezzanine Investments 1!, LL.C, dated as of March 8, 2000 (filed as

Exhibit 136 to the Company's Current Repert on Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on March 23,
2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

Guaranty of Payment, by The Travelers Insurance Company in favor of Capital Trust, Inc., CT-Fi,
LLC, CT-F2-GP, LLC, CT-F2-LP, LLC and CT Investment Management Co., LLC, dated as of
March 8, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File

No. 1-14788} filed on March 23, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Investment Management Agreement, dated as of April 9, 2001, by and
among CT Investment Management Co. LLC, CT MP 11 LLC and CT Mezzanine Partners |1 LP
(filed as Exhibit 10.37 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788)
filed on March 10, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference}.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 28, 1998, among Capital Trust, Vormado Realty
L.P., EOP Limited Partnership, Mellon Bank N.A., as trustee for General Motors Hourly-Rate
Employees Pension Trust, and Mcllon Bank N A, as trustee for General Motors Salaried
Employees Pension Trust (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Capital Trust's Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 1-8063) filed on August 6, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2003, by and between Capital Trust, Inc.
and Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP (filed as Exhibit 10.24 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) fited on March 28, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2003, by and among Capital Trust, Inc. and the
parties named therein (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
{File No. 1-14788) filed on May 12, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference}.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2004, by and among Capital Trust, Inc. W. R.
Berkley Corporation and certain shareholders of Capital Trust, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on May 11, 2004 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of May | 1, 2004, by and among Capital Trust, Inc, and W.
R. Berkley Corporation (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K
{File No. 1-t4788) filed on May 11, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.62

10.63

10.64

10.65

10.66

+10.67

10.68

10.69

10.70

10.71

Junior Subordinate Indenture, dated February 10, 2006, by and between Capital Trust, Inc. and JP
Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. {filed as Exhibit 10.] to Capital Trust, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on May 4, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement, dated February 10, 2006, by and among Capital

Trust, Inc., JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., Chase Bank USA, N.A. and the Administrative Trustees
named therein (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File
No. 1-14788) filed on May 4, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Investment Management Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2006, by and betwcen Berkley
Insurance Company and CT High Grade Mezzanine Manager, LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.48 to
Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on February 28, 2007
and incorporated herein by reference).

Investment Management Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2006, by and between Berkley
Regional Insurance Company and CT High Grade Mezzanine Manager, LLC (filed as Exhibit
10.49 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on February
28, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Investment Management Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2006, by and between Admiral
Insurance Company and CT High Grade Mezzanine Manager, LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.50 to
Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on February 28, 2007
and incorporated herein by reference).

Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation (filed as Exhibit 10.51 o Capital Trust, Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No, 1-14788) filed on February 28, 2007 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Junior Subordinated Indenture, dated as of March 29, 2007, by and between Capital Trust, Inc. and
The Bank of New York Trust Company, National Association (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on May 1, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2007, by and among Capital Trust,
Inc., The Bank of New York Trust Company, National Association, The Bank of New York
{Delaware) and the Administrative Trustees named therein. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Capital Trust,
Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on May 1, 2007 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Credit Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2007, by and among Capital Trust, Inc., the lenders
identified therein and WestLB AG, New York Branch (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on May 1, 2007 and incorporated herein
by reference).

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2007, by and among Capital Trust, Inc.,
the lenders identified therein and WestLB AG, New York Branch (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Capital
Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on August 1, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference).

66




EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description
*10.72  Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2007, by and among Capital Trust, Inc.,
Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Citigroup Financial Products Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.] to
Capital Trust, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-14788) filed on November 7, 2007
and incorporated herein by reference).
+10,73  Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation (filed as Exhibit 10.51 to the Company’s
Annusl Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on February 28, 2007 and incorporated
herein by reference).
*10.74  Additional Space, Lease Extension and First Lease Modification Agreement, dated as of May 23,
2007, by and between 410 Park Avenue Associates, L.P. and Capital Trust, Inc.

11.1  Statements regarding Computation of Eamings per Share (Data required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 128, Eamings per Share, is provided in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this report}.

*14.1  Capital Trust, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

*21.1  Subsidiaries of Capital Trust, Inc.

«23.1  Consent of Emst & Young LLP

+31.1  Cerntification of Chief Executive Officer, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

*31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002,

+32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

+32.2  Cerntification of Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

+  Represents a management contract of compensatory plan or erangement,
«  Filed herewith. '

. Portions of this cxhibit has been omirted and filed separately with the Securitics and Exchange Cammission pursuant to a confidentia)
treatment request urkier Rule 24b-2 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section I3 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report (o be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

March 4, 2008 Is/ John R. Klopp
Date John R. Klopp
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant 1o the requirements of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of
the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

March 4, 2008 /s/ Samuel Zell
Date Samuel Zell

Chairman of the Board of Directors
March 4, 2008 /s/ John R. Klopp
Date John R. Klopp

Chief Executive Officer and Director
March 4, 2008 /s/ Geoffrey (. Jervis
Date Geoffrey G, Jervis

Chief Financial Officer
March 4, 2008 fs/ Thomas E. Dobrowski
Date Thomas E. Dobrowski, Director
March 4, 2008 /sf Martin L. Edelman
Date Martin L. Edelman, Director
March 4, 2008 /s/ Craig M. Hatkoff
Date Craig M. Hatkoff, Director
March 4, 2008 /sf Edward S. Hyman
Date Edward S. Hyman, Director
March 4, 2008 /s/ Henry N, Nassau
Date Henry N. Nassau, Director
March 4, 2008 /s/ Joshua A. Polan
Date Joshua A. Polan, Director
March 4, 2008 /s/ Lynne B. Sagalyn
Date Lynne B. Sagalyn, Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Capital Trust, Inc.

We have audited Capital Trust, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Capital Trust, Inc.’s management is responsible
for maimaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on the company's internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit,

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepied accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financia! reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reascnable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance thal transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Capital Trust, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated
statements of income, changes in shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2007 of Capital Trust, Inc. and our report dated March 3, 2008 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/s/ Emst & Young LLP
New York, NY
March 3, 2008
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intenal control over financial reporting,
and for performing an assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007. Intemnal control over financial reponing is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemnal
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s system of internal controt
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(i) provide reasonable assurance thal transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement
preparation and presentation.

Management performed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007 based upon criteria in Intenal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (‘*COSO"'). Based on our assessment,
management determined that the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2007 based on the criteria in Internal Conirol-Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

The effectiveness of the Company’s intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been
audited by Emst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which
appears herein.

Dated: March 4, 2008

John R. Klopp Geoffrey G. Jervis
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer




MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Capital Trust, Inc.’s management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of all financial information
included in this Annual Report. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The financial statements include
amounts that are based on the best estimates and judgments of management. All financial information in this
Annual Report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.

Emst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited these consolidated financial
statenents in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
and have expressed herein their unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which oversees Capital Trust, Inc.’s financial reporting process
on behalf of the Board of Directors, is composed entirely of independent directors (as defined by the New York
Stock Exchange). The Audit Committee meets periodically with management, the independent accountants, and
the inemal auditors to review matters relating to the Company's financial statements and financial reporting
process, annual financial statement audit, engagement of independent accountants, intemal audit function, system
of interna) controls, and legal compliance and ethics programs as established by Capital Trust, Inc.’s management
and the Board of Directors. The internal auditors and the independent accountants periodically meet alone with
the Audit Committee and have access to the Audit Committee at any time.

Dated;: March 4, 2008

John R. Klopp Geoffrey G. Jervis
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Sharcholders of Capital Trust, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in
shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. Our
audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and
Schedules. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statemeni presentation. We believe that cur audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all matcrial respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Company ai December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated resuits of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in-relation to the basic financial statements taken as & whole, presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in 2006 the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share Based Payments. As discussed in Note 2 1o the
consolidated financial statemenis in 2007 the Company adopted Financial Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States), the Company's intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our repont dated March 3, 2008 expressed an unqualified
opinion thercon.

/s/ Emst & Young LLP

New York, New York
March 3, 2008
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Capitsl Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2007 and 2006

(in thousands, except per share data)

Assets 2007 2006

Cash and cash equivalents 4 25,829 $ 26,142
Restricted cash 5,696 1,707
Commercial mortgage backed securitics B76,864 810,970
Loans receivable 2,257,563 1,754,536
Total return swaps —_— 1,815
Equity investment in unconsolidated subsidiarics 977 11,485
Deposits and other receivables 3,927 3,128
Accrued interest receivable 15,091 14,888
Interest rate hedge assets — 2,565
Deferred income taxes 3,659 3,609
Prepaid and other assets 21,876 17,719
Tota) assets 3 3,211,482 $ 2,648,564

Liabilities & Sharebolders’ Equity
Liabilitics:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 65,682 $ 18,061
Repurchase obligations 911,857 704,444
Collateralized debt obligations 1,192,299 1,212,500
Senior unsecured credit facility 75,000 —
Junior subordinated debentures 128,875 51,550
Participations sold 408,351 209,425
Interest rate hedge liabilities 18,686 1,688
Deferred origination fees and other revenue 2.495 4,624
Total liabilities ’ 2,803,245 2,222,292
Sharcholders' equity:
Class A common stock $0.01 par value 100,000 shares authorized, 17,166 and
16,933 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007 and December 31,
2006, respectively ("class A common stock™) 172 169
Restricted class A commen stock $0.01 par value, 424 and 481 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively
("restiricted class A common stock”™ and together with class A common stock,
"common stock”) 4 5
Additional paid-in capilal 426,113 417,641
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)income (8,684) 12,717
Accumulated deficit (9,368) (4,260)
Total shareholders' equity 408,237 426,272
Total Jiabilities and shareholders' equity b 3,211,482 3 2,648,564

See accompanying notes 1o consolidated financial statements.
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income
For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

2007 2006 2005
Income from loans and other investments:
Interest and related income $ 253,422 $ 175,404 M 86,200
Less: Interest and related expenses 162,377 104,607 37,229
Income from loans and othet investments, net 91,045 70,797 48,971
Other revenues:
Management fees 3,499 2,650 5,091
Incentive management fees 6,208 1,652 8,013
Servicing fees 623 105 -
Cther interest income 1,083 1,354 553
Total other revenues 11,413 5,761 13,677
Other expenses:
General and administrative 29,956 23,075 21,939
Depreciation and amortization 1,810 3,049 1,114
Total other expenses 31,766 26,124 23,053
Recovery/{provision) for losses — — —
Gain on sale of investments ‘ 15,077 — 4,951
Income/(loss) from equity investments {2,109) 893 (222)
Income before income taxes 83,660 51,332 44,324
(Benefityprovision for income taxes (706} (2,735) 213
Net income 5 84,366 $ 54,067 3 44111
Per share information:
Net eamnings per share of commeon stock:
Basic $ 480 § 3.43 S 291
Diluted $ 4.17 $ 3.40 $ 2,88
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding:
Basic 17,569,650 15,754,655 15,181,476
Diluted 17,690,266 15,923,397 15,335,914
Dividends declared per share of common stock $ 500 8 3.45 $ 245

See accompanying notes ro consolidated financiaf statements.




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the Yeers Ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005
(In thousands)

Restricted Accamolated
Qs A Chiss A Additional Otber
Comprehensive Commen Common Pald-la Comprebentive Accomolsted
1 Stock Steck Cagltal Income/{Los} Delicht Total

Balance at December 31, 2004 S 149 Y § ;T 1815 § (9.406) § 316497
Net income 5 4110 —_ —_— _— -_ “i RN
Unrealized gain on derivative Gnancial instnsments 2079 - - - 2,079 - 2,079
Urmrealized gain on securitics 8,684 -_ - — 8,604 - 8,684
Amortization of unrealized gain on securilics {6} - - —_ (671} - (671)
Deferred gain on setement of swap 1,410 - - - 1410 - 1410
Amontization of defermed gain on senletnem of swap {438) - - — (438) — (438)
Sale of shares of ¢lass A comunon stock under stock option agreement - 1 - 1510 - _ 1,571
Restricted class A common siock eamned - - I 2.804 - -— 2,805
Restricted class A common stock fockeited - - - {260) - —_ (260)
Reimbursemen of offering expenses - - - 248 - - 48
Dividensds dectared on common stock —_ —_ — _— — {37,186} {37,188)
Balance ot December 31, 2005 $ SSII‘IS 149 4 326299 14879 (2430 338,850
Nzt income H 34,067 — —_ —_— - 54,067 34,067
Unsealized Joss on derivative financial instruments {1,401) — —_ — (1.401) - (1401
Unreatized loss on svailable for sale security (H4) - —_ -_ (54) - (34)
Amortization of unrealized gain on securitics (1,640) - - - (1.640) - (1.640)
Currency transiation sdjustments ? - - -_ 2 - 2
Deferred gain oo seulemtwt of swap 1,188 —_ - — L8 - 1,186
Amortization of deferred gain on setlement of swap (255) - — - (255) - (255)
Shares of chass A tomunon stock isswed in public offering —_ 0 - 86,539 - - 86,609
Sale of shares of class A common gock under stck option agreement - - - 662 - - 642
Rcimburseroent of offering expenses — - - 124 -_ - 124
Restriceed class A common stock camed - —_ - 4013 -— — 4013
Restricted class A stack forfeined wpon resignation of holder - - - (43) - - {45)
Issuance of restricied Class A common Kock — — ] ((}] _ - —
Dividends declared on comman stock — — — - — {35.346) 53 846
Batance at December 31, 2006 $ 51,905 169 5 417,641 [F%T}] (4.260) 262712
Net Income H 54,360 - - — - 84,366 B4.366
Unrealized Toss on derivative financigl instrurnents {19,559) -— -— —_ (19,359} -— £19.55%)
Unrealized gain on seeurities 59 - -— - 159 - 59
Amortizstion of unsealired gain on securities (1,684) — — — (1.684) - {1.684)
Deferred low on setilement of swaps (155 - - — (153) - (153)
Amortization of deferred gains and lesses on seitlement of swaps (262) - - - {262) -_ (262)
Currency transivion sdjusment 2451 —_ —_ — 2,454 — 1451
Reclassification to gain on sale of investments:

Currenicy tramlation adjustment (2453} - - - (2453) (2453
Issuance of stock relating {o business purchase - — - o7 - - 707
Sale of shares of class A common stock under stock option agreement — _ _— 3,159 —_ - 3,159
Restniceed class A common stock camed — 3 1) 4 506 - —_ 4,608
Dividends declared on common stock —_ -—_ —_ - — (89.474) {89.474)
Batance st December 31, 2007 3 52965 § 172§ 4§ 426013 % {8.884) 3 (83¢8) ' $ 301237

See accompanying notes io lidated financial statements.




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005
{in thousands)

2007 2006 2005

Cash flows from opersting activities:
Net income 5 84,356 $ 54,067 $ 40N
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operaling sctivities:

Depreciation and amortization 1810 3,048 114
Provision for loases 4,000 —_ —_
Gain on sale of investment (15,0TN _— -—
Losy/(Income) from cquity invesiments 2,109 (B98) 222
Distribattions af income from equity investments in unconsolidated
subsidiaries 56 1373 1,104
Restricied class A common stock camed 4,606 3.968 2,545
Amortization of premivms and discounts on loans, CMBS,
and debt, net (2.68%) (2,029} {3.842)
Amontization of deferred gains on interest rate hedges (262) {235) N
Amonization of finance costs 5,247 3,504 3,083
Changes in 2s3¢1s and liabilitics, net:
Deposits and other receivables 1,772 2,568 4,603
Accrued imerest receivable (204) (5,451) (5.408)
Deferred income taxes [&11)] 370 1.644
Prepaid and other nssets (1L,0IR) (784) (84%)
Deferred origination fees and other revenue (2,129 4197 (608)
Accounts payable and accrucd expenses 4,308 946 2876
Net cash provided by operating activities 87,054 64,824 50,762
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of commercinl morgage-backed securities (110,550) (392,132} (245,17%)
Principat collections on and pr ds from cial tgage-
backed securities 44,761 69375 14339
Origination and purchase of loans receivable (1.058.968) (1,423,917) (190,997)
Principal ¢ollections on loans reccivabte 149,145 582,519 359383
Equity inv in lidated subsidiarics (24,122) (5,845) {4,660)
Retum of capital from equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiarics 2314 5240 8812
Proceeds from sale of equity invesiment 43,638 — -_
Purchase of tolal retum swaps —_ (4,138 (4.000)
Proceeds (rom tntal return swaps 1,815 6,32}
Purchase of equipment and leaschold improvements (662) —— 23)
Payments for business purchased {1.853) — —
Payment of capitolized costs (126) _ —
Increase in restricied cash (3,989) (443) (653)
Net cash uscd in investing activities (358.597) (1,163 618) (662,974)
Cash Nlows from financing activities:
Proceeds (rom repurchase obligations 1,503,568 1,508,970 T13.474
Repoyment of repurchase obligations (1.296,154) {1,174,217) (568,814}
Procecds from credit facilitics 150,000 — 104,704
Repoyment of credit facilitics (75,000} -_ {169.880)
Issuance of junior subordinated debentures 77,325 51,550 —_
Purchase of common equity in CT Preferred Trust 1 & CT Prefermed
Trust 1 (2.325) (1,550 -
Proceeds from issuance of collaternlized detn obligations — 419,398 571087
Repayment of collateralized dety obligations {19,892 {40.643) _
Proceeds from participations sold — 287,102 -_
Senl of interest rate hedg (151 1,186 1,410
Paymeni of deferved financing costs 2,936) {5.483) (8,704)
Sale of class A common stock upon stock option exercise 3,251 662 1571
Dividends paid on common siock (66,362) (43,686} {32,493)
Procecds from sale of shares of class A common tlock —_ 86,609 —
Paymenl/Reimbursemeni of offering expenscs (92) 124 248
Net cash provided by financing nctivitics 271,230 1,099,962 612,60]
Net {decrease) increasc in cosh and cash equivalents 313) 1,168 N
Cash nnd cash equivalents a1 beginning of year 26,142 24,974 24,583
Cash ond cash equivalents al end of period [ 25,829 3 26,142 $ 14974

See accomparnying notes to consolidated financial starements,
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

1. Organization

”"

References herein to “we,” “us™ or “our” refer to Capital Trust, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context
specifically requires otherwise.

We are a fully integrated, self-managed finance and investment management company that specializes in credit
sensitive structured financial products. To date, our investment programs have focused on loans and securities
backed by commercial real estate assels. We invest for our own eccount directly on our balance sheet and for
third parties through a series of investment management vehicles. From the commencement of our finance
business in 1997 through December 31, 2007, we have completed over $10.5 billion of investments in the
commercial real estate debt arena. We conduct our operations as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for
federal income tax purposes and we are headquartered in New York City.

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include, on a consolidated basis, our accounts, the accounts
of our wholly-owned subsidiaries and our interests in variable interest entities in which we are the primary
beneficiary. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Our
interests in CT Preferred Trust I and CT Preferred Trust ), the issuers of trust securities backed by our junior
subordinated debentures, are accounted for using the equity method and their assets and liabilities are not
consolidated into our financial statements due to our determination that CT Preferred Trust | and CT Preferred
Trust 11 are variable interest entities in which we are not the primary beneficiary under Financial Accounting
Standards Board, or FASB, Interpretation No. 46(R), or FIN 46R. We account for our co-investment interest in
the private equity funds we co-sponsored and continue o manage, CT Mezzanine Partners 111, Inc., or Fund I,
and CTOPI, under the equity method of accounting. We also account for our investment in Bracor Investimentos
Imobiliarios Ltda., or Bracor, under the equity method of accounting. As such, we report a percentage of the
earnings of the companies in which we have such investments equal to our ownership percentage on a single line
item in the consolidated statement of income as income from equity investments.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income from our loans receivable is recognized over the life of the investment using the effective interest
method and is recorded on the accrual basis. Fees, premiums, discounts and direct costs in connection with these
investments are deferred until the loan is advanced and are then recognized over the term of the loan as an
adjustment (o yield. Fees on commitments that expire unused are recognized at expiration. For loans where we
have unfunded commitments, we amortize the appropriate items on a straight line basis. Income recognition is
generally suspended for loans at the earlier of the date at which payments become 90 days past due or when, in
the opinion of management, a full recovery of income and principal becomes doubtful. Income recognition is
resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and performance is demonstrated to be resumed.

Fees from special servicing and asset management services are recognized as services are rendered. We account
for incentive fees we cam from our investment management business in accordance with Method 1 of Emerging
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Issues Task Force Topic D-96. Under Method 1, no incentive income is recorded until all contingencies have
been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We classify highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase
as cash equivalents. At December 31, 2007, a majority of the cash and cash equivalents consisted of ovemight
deposits in demand deposit accounts. At December 31, 2006, a majority of the cash and cash equivalents
consisted of overnight investments in commercial paper. As of, and for the years ended, December 31, 2007 and
2006 and 2005, we had bank balances in excess of federally insured amounts. We have not experienced any
losses on our demand deposits, commercial paper or money market investments.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash at December 31, 2007 was comprised of $5.7 millicn that was on deposit with the trustee for our’
collateralized debt obligations, or CDOs and is expected to be used to pay contractual interest and principal and
to purchase replacement collateral for our reinvesting CDOs during their respective reinvestment periods.
Restricted cash at December 31, 2006 was $1.7 million.

Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities (“CMBS™)

We classify our CMBS investments pursuant to FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 1135,
“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”, or FAS 115, on the date of acquisition of
the investment. On August 4, 2005, we made a decision to change the accounting classification of our CMBS
investments from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are stated at cost adjusted
for the amortization of any premiums or discounts and any premiums or discounts are amortized through the
consolidated statements of income using the effective interest method. Other than in the instance of impairment,
these held-to-maturity investments are shown in our financial statements at their adjusted values pursuant to the
methodology described above.

We may also invest in CMBS and certain other securities which may be classified as available-for-sale.
Available-for-sale securities are carried at estimated fair value with the net unrealized gains or losses reported as
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) in shareholders’ cquity. Many of these
investments arc relatively illiquid and management must estimate their values. Jn making these estimates,
management utilizes market prices provided by dealers who make markets in these securities, bul may, under
certain circumstances, adjust these valuations based on management’s judgment. Changes in the valuations do
not affect our reported income or cash flows, but impact sharcholders® equity and, accordingly, book value per
share.

Income on these securities is recognized based upon a number of assumptions that are subject to uncertainties and
contingencies. Examples include, among other things, the rate and timing of principal payments, including
prepayments, repurchases, defaults and liguidations, the pass-through or coupon rate and interest rates.
Additional factors that may affect our reported interest income on our mortgage backed securities include interest
payment shonfalls due to delinquencies on the underlying mortgage loans and the timing and magnitude of credit
losses on the mornigage loans underlying the securities that are impacted by, among other things, the general
condition of the real estate market, including competition for tenants and their related credit quality, and changes
in market rental rates. These uncertainties and contingencies are difficult to predict and are subject to future
events that may alter the assumptions.




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

We account for CMBS under Emerging Issues Task Force 99-20, “Recognition of Interest Income and
Impairment on Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets™, or EITF 99-20.
Under EITF 99-20, when significant changes in estimated cash flows from the cash flows previously estimated
occur due to actual prepayment and credit loss experience and the present value of the revised cash flows using
the current expected yield is less than the present value of the previously estimated remaining cash flows,
adjusted for cash receipts during the intervening period, an other than temporary impairment is deemed to have
occurred. Accordingly, the security is written down to fair value with the resuling change being included in
income and a new cost basis established with the originat discount or premium writien off when the new cosi
basis is established. In accordance with this guidance, on a quarterly basis, when significant changes in estimated
cash flows from the cash flows previously estimated occur due to actual prepayment and credit oss experience,
we calculate a revised yield based upon the current amortized cost of the investment, including any other than
temporary impairments recognized to date, and the revised cash flows, The revised yield is then applied
prospectively 10 recognize interest income. Management must also assess whether unrealized losses on securities
reflect a decline in value that is oiher than temporary, and, accordingly, write down the impaired security to its
fair value, through a charge 1o eamings. Significant judgment of management is required in this analysis that
includes, but is not limited to, making assumptions regarding the collectibility of the principal and interest, net of
related expenses, on the underlying loans.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, we concluded that two of our CMBS investments had incurred other than
temporary impairment and we incurred a charge of $5.9 million through the income statement. At December 31,
2007 we believe there has not been any adverse change in cash flows relating to existing CMBS investments,
therefore we did not recognize any additional other than temporary impairment on any CMBS investments.
Significant judgment of management is required in this analysis that includes, but is not limited to, making
assumptions regarding the collectibility of the principal and interest, net of related expenses, on the underlying
loans. .

From time to time we purchase CMBS and other investments in which we have a level of control over the issuing

. entity, we refer lo these investments as controlling class invesiments. The presentation of controlling class

investments in our financial statements is governed in part by FIN 46R. FIN 46R could require that certain
controlling class investments be presented on a consolidated basis. Based upon the specific circumnstances of
certain of our CMBS investments that are controlling class investments and our interpretation of FIN 46R,
specifically the exemption for qualifying special purpose entities as defined under FASB Statements of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments
of Liabilities”, or FAS 140, we have concluded that the entities that have issued the controlling class investments
should not be presented on a consolidated basis. We are aware that FAS 140 is currently under review by
standard setters and that, as a result of this review, our current interpretation of FIN 46R and FAS 140 may
change.

Loans Receivable and Reserve for Possible Credit Losses

We purchase and originate commercial real estate debt and related instruments, or Loans, 10 be held as leng term
investments at amortized cost. Management must periodicaily evaluate each of these Loans for possible
impairment. Impairment is indicated when it is deemed probable that we will not be able to collect ali amounts
due according to the contractual terms of the Loan. If a Loan were determined to be permanently impaired, we
would write down the Loan through a charge to the reserve for possible credit losses, Given the nature of our
Loan portfolio and the underlying commercial real estate collateral, significant judgment on the pan of
management is required in determining permanent impairment and the resulting charge to the reserve, which
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

includes but is not limited to making assumptions regarding the vatue of the real estate that secures the loan. Each
Loan in our portfolio is evaluated at least quarterly using our loan risk rating system which considers loan-to-
value, debt yield, cash flow stability, exit plan, loan sponsorship, loan structure and other factors deemed
necessary by management 1o assess the likelihood of delinquency or default. If we believe that there is a potential
for delinquency or default, a downside analysis is prepared to estimate the value of the collateral underlying our
Loan, and this potential loss is multiplied by the default likelihood to determine the size of the reserve. Actual
losses, if any, could ultimately differ from these estimates.

Deferred Financing Costs

The deferred financing costs which are included in prepaid and other assets on our consclidated batance sheets
include issuance costs related to our debt and are amortized using the effective interest method or a method that
approximaies the effective interest method.

Repurchase Obligations

In certain circumstances, we have financed the purchase of invesiments from a counterparty through a repurchase
agreement with that same counterparty. We currently record these investments in the same manner as other
investments financed with repurchase agreements, with the investment recorded as an asset and the related
borrowing under any repurchase agreement as a liability on our consolidated balance sheets. Interest income
earned on the investments and interest expense incurred on the repurchase obligations are reported separately on
the consolidated statements of income. There is a position under consideration by standard setters, based upon a
technical interpretation of FAS 140, that starting in fiscal 2009 these wansactions will not qualify as a purchase
by us. We believe, consistent with indusiry practice, that we arc accounting for these transactions in an
appropriate manner; however, if these investments do not qualify as a purchase under FAS 140, we would be
required to present the net investment (assel balance less the repurchase obligation balance) on our consolidated
balance sheets together with an embedded derivative with the corresponding change in fair value of the derivative
being recorded in the consolidated statements of income. The value of the derivative would reflect not only
changes in the value of the underlying investrnent, but also changes in the value of the underlying credit provided
by the counterpariy. Income from these arrangements would be presented on a net basis. Furthermore, hedge
instruments related 10 these assets and liabilities, currently deemed effective, may no longer be effective and may
have 10 be accounted for as non-hedge derivatives. As of December 31, 2007 we had entered into 26 such
transactions, with a book value of the associated assets of $669.2 million financed with repurchase obligations of
$475.5 million.

Interest Rate Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, we use interest rate derivative financial instruments to manage, or hedge, cash
flow variability caused by interest rate fluctuations. Specifically, we cumently use interest rate swaps to
effectively convert variable rate liabilities, that are financing fixed rate assets, to fixed rale liabilities. The
differential to be paid ar received on these agreements is recognized on the accrual basis as an adjustiment to the
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

interest expense related to the attendant liability. The swap agreements are generally accounted for on a held-to-
maturity basis, and, in cases where they arc terminated early, any gain or loss is generally amottized over the
remaining life of the hedged item. These swap agreements must be effective in reducing the variability of cash
flows of the hedged items in order to qualify for the aforementioned hedge accounting treatment. Changes in
value of effective cash flow hedges are reflected in our financial statements through accumulated other
comprehensive income/(loss) and do not affect our net income. To the extent a derivative does not qualify for
hedge accounting, and is deemed a non-hedge derivative, the changes in its value are included in net income.

To determine the fair value of derivative instruments, we use third parties to periodically value our interests.
Income Taxes

Our financial results generally do not reflect provisions for current or deferred income taxes on our REIT taxable
income. Management believes that we operate in 8 manner that will continue to allow us to be taxed as a REIT
and, as a result, do not expect to pay substantial corporate level taxes (other than taxes payable by our taxable
REIT subsidiaries which are accounted for in accordance with FASB Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes™, or FAS 109). Many of these requirements, however, are
highly technical and complex. If we were to fail 10 meet these requirements, we may be subject to federal, state
and local income tax on current and past income, and we may also be subject to penalties.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109", or FIN 48, This interpretation clarifies the accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FAS 109. This
interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition
and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. This
interpretation was effective January 1, 2007 for us. The adoption of FIN 48 did not have a material impact on our
financial results.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock based compensation in accordance with FASB Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123(R) “Share Based Payment,” or FAS 123(R). Upon adoption of FAS 123(R), as of January 1,
2006, we have elected to utilize the modified prospective method, and there was no impact from this adoption.
Compensation expense for the time vesting of stock based compensation grants is recognized on the accelerated
aftribution method and compensation expense for performance vesting of stock based compensation grants is
recognized on a straight-line basis. Compensation expense relating 1o stock-based compensation is recognized in
net income using a fair value measurement method.

Comprehensive Income

We comply with the provisions of the FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, “Reporting
Comprehensive Income™, or FAS 130, in reporting comprehensive income and its components in the full set of
general-purpose financial statements. Total comprehensive income was $63.0 million, $51.9 million and $55.2
million, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The primary components of
comprehensive income, other than net income, were the unrealized gain/{loss) on derivative financial instruments
and CMBS. At Decemnber 31,2007, accumulated other comprehensive loss is $8.7 million, comprised of
unrealized gains on CMBS of $8.5 million, unrealized losses on cash flow swaps of $8.7 million and $1.5
million of deferred realized gains on the settlement of cash flow swaps.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Earnings per Share of Common Stock

Eamings per share of common stock are presented based on the requirements of the FASB Statement of
Accounting Standards No. 128, “Eamings Per Share”, or FAS 128. Basic EPS is computed based on the net
earnings applicable to common stock and stock units divided by weighted average number of shares of common
stock and stock units outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is based on the net eamings allocable to
common stock and stock units, divided by weighted average number of shares of common stock and steck units
and potentially dilutive common stock options.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles gencrally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made in the presentation of the 2006 and 2005 consolidated financial
statements to conform to the 2007 presentation.

Segment Reporting

We operate in two reportable segments. We have an intenal information system that produces performance and
asset data for the two segments along service lines.

The “Balance Sheet Investment” segment includes our portfolio of interest earning assets (including our co-
investments in investment management vehicles and our investment in Bracor) and the financing thereof.

The “Investment Management™ segment includes the activities of our wholly-owned investment management
subsidiary, CT Investment Management Co. LLC, or CTIMCO and its subsidiaries. CTIMCO is a taxable REIT
subsidiary and serves as the investment manager of Capital Trust, Inc., all of our investment management
vehicles, all of our CDOs and serves as senior servicer and special servicer on certain of our investments and for
third parties. In addition, CTIMCO owns certain of our assets.

Business Combination

On June 15, 2007, we purchased a healthcare loan origination platform with 18 employees, located in
Birmingham, Alabama. We paid a $2.6 million initial purchase price ($1.9 million in cash and $707,000 in
common stock) and we have a contingent obligation to pay up to an additional $1.8 million ($1.1 million in cash
and $700,000 in stock) on March 15, 2009, if the acquired business meets certain performance criteria. We have
recorded $2.1 million of goodwill associated with the initial purchase price.

Goodwill .

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition costs over the fair value of net assets of businesses acquired.
Goodwill is reviewed annually in the fourth quarter to determine if there is impairment at a reporting unit level,
or more frequently if an indication of impairment exists. No impairment charges for goodwill were recorded in
2007.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements” or FAS 157. FAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. FAS 157 applies to reporting periods beginning after
November 15, 2007. As discussed above, we report the changes in the value of effective cash flow hedges
through accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss). If the cash flow hedges were accounted for under FAS
157 as of December 31, 2007, the value would be a liability on our consolidated balance sheet of $17.7 million as
compared to a liability of $18.7 million.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”, or FAS 159. FAS 159 permits entities to choose to
measure many financial instruments, and certain other items, at fair value. FAS 1359 also establishes presentation
and disclosure requirements designed lo facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different
measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. FAS 159 applies to reporting periods beginning
afier November 15, 2007. We will adopt FAS 159 as required.

F-16
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3. Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities
Activity relating to our CMBS for the year ended December 31, 2007 was as follows (§ values in thousands):

Weighted Avernge
Number of Number of Maturity
Asset Type Face Volue  Book Value _ Securitics  lssues  Rating Coupon™ _ Yield™ (Years)
December 31, 2006
Floating Rate $ B6,012 § 84807 1 9 BBB- 742% 1.51% 20
Fined Rate 764,607 726,163 66 48 BB+ 6.68% 1.13% 8.5
Towal/Average 850,619 §10.970 77 57 BB+ 6.75% 117% 13
Originations
Floating Rate 109,621 109,617 7 4 BB- 8.94% £.94% 33
Fixed Rate 1,000 933 1 I BB+ 6.13% 6.57% 13
Total/Average 10,621 110,550 8 5 BB- 8.91% §.92% 3.3
Repayments & Cther
Floating Rate 24013 23,881 4 2 N/A NI/A N/A N/A
Fixed Rate 20,817 20,775 2 2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Total/Average 44,830 44,656 6 4 NIA N/A NIA N/A
e
December 31, 2007
Floating Rate 171,620 170,543 14 11 BB g.16% 8.19% 26
Fixed Rate 744,790 706,321 65 47 BB+ 6.69% 1.14% 7.5
Total/Average $ 95410 § 876864 79 58 BB+ 6.97% 7.35% 6.5

(1) Weighted average mtings are based on the lowest rating published by Fitch Ratings, Standard & Poor's or Moody's Investors Service for
cach security and exclude $37.9 million face value (337.1 million book value) of unrated equity investments in collateralized debi
obligztions.

{2) Calculations based on LIBOR of 4.60% as of December 31, 2007 and LIBOR of 5.32% as of December 31, 2006.

{3) Represents the maturity of the investment assuming all extension options are executed.

(4) Includes full repayments, sales, partial repayments, mark-to-market adjustments on availablc-for-sale securitics, and the impact of
premium and discount amorntization ond losses, if any. The figures shown in “Number of Securities” and "Number of issues” represem
only the full repayments/sales, if any.
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Notes to Consclidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities (Continued)

The charts below detail the ratings, vintage, property type and geographic distribution of the collateral securing

our CMBS at year end 2007 (3 values in thousands).
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Coatinued)

3. Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities (Continued)

Geoprephic Location Book Value Percentage
Northeast ... i e e e e $238,682 27%
b T 1431 L 224,774 26

B - 146,213 17
N1 1 S N 118,311 13

8 LT - 116,462 13
N hWeESt. .. it i ettt 22,329 3
OB, L e e e e 14,093 1

1 | S $876,864 100%

As detailed in Note 2, on August 4, 2005, pursuant 10 the provisions of FAS 115, we made a decision to change
the accounting classification of our then portfolio of CMBS investments from available-for-sale to held-to-
maturity.

While we typically account for our CMBS investments on a held-to maturity basis, under certain circumstances
we will account for CMBS on an available-for-sale basis. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, we had one CMBS
investment that we designated and account for on an available-for-sale basis with a face value of $7.7 mitlion and
$10.0 million, respectively. The security eamed interest at a weighted average coupon of 8.34% and 7.87% at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the security was carried at its fair
market value of $8.3 million and $10.5 million, respectively. The investment matures in February 2010.

Quarterly, we reevaluate our CMBS portfolio to determine if there has been an other-than-lemporary impairment
based upon our assessment of future cash flow receipts. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005
we believe that there has not been any adverse change in cash flows for our CMBS portfolio and, therefore, did
not recognize any other-than-temporary impairments. Significant judgment of management is required in this
analysis that includes, but is not limited to, making assumptions regarding the collectibility of principal and
interest, net of related expenses, on the underlying loans.

Certain of our CMBS investments are carried at values in excess of their market values. This difference can be
caused by, among other things, changes in interest rates, changes in credit spreads, realized/unrealized losses and
general market conditions.

At December 31, 2007, 58 CMBS investments with an aggregate carrying value of $618.4 million were carried at
values in excess of their market values. Market value for these CMBS investments was $555.3 million at
December 31, 2007. In total, we had 79 CMBS investments with an aggregate carrying value of $876.9 million
that have an estimated market value of $830.4 million (this valuation does not include the value of interest rate
swaps entered into in conjunction with the purchase/financing of these investments). Because we have the ability
and intent to hold these investments until a recovery of book value plus unamortized discounts/premiums, which
may be maturity, we do not consider these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired.
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3. Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities (Continued)

The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value of our CMBS with unrealized losses as of
December 31, 2007 that are not deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired ($ values in millions).

Less Than 12 Months Greater Than 12 Months Total
Estimated Fair Gross Unrealized Estimated Fair Gross Unrealized Estimated Fair Gross Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss
Floating Rate 3 1213 s (e.) § 29.1 $ 00 § 150.4 5 {20.1)
Fixed Raie 1444 (21.1) 260.5 (21.9) 4049 {41.0)
Total $ 265.7 $ 402y § 28%.6 $ (229) § 355.3 § (63.1)

4. Loans Receivable
We have classified our loans receivable into the following general categories:

» Mortgage Loans—These are secured property loans evidenced by a first mortgage which is scnior to any
mezzanine financing and the owner’s equity. These loans may finance stabilized properties, may be
bridge loans to finance property owners that require interim funding or may be construction loans. Our
morigage loans range in duration and typically require a balloon payment of principal at maturity. These
loans may include pari passu participations in mortgage loans, We may also originate and fund first
morigage loans in which we intend to scli the senior tranche, thereby creating what we refer to as a
subordinate mortgage interest.

 Subordinate Mortgage Interests—Sometimes known as B Notes, these are loans evidenced by a junior
participation in a first mortgage, with the senior participation known as an A Note. Although a
subordinate mongage interest may be evidenced by its own promissory note, it shares a single borrower
and mortgage with the A Note and is secured by the same collateral. Subordinate mortgage interests have
the same borrower and benefit from the same underlying obligation and collateral as the A Note lender.
The subordinate mortgage interest is subordinated to the A Note by virtue of a contractual arrangement
between the A Note lender and the subordinate morigage interest lender, and in most instances are
contractually limited in rights and remedies in the case of defaul. In some cases, there may be multiple
senior and/er junior interests to our interest in a single mortgage loan.

e Mezzanine Loans—These include both property and corporate mezzanine loans. Property mezzanine
loans are secured property loans that are subordinate to a first mortgage loan, but senior to the owner’s
equity. A mezzanine loan is evidenced by its own promissory note and is typically made to the owner of
the property-owning entity, which is typically the first morigage borrower. It is not secured by a morigage
on the property, but by a pledge of the borrower’s ownership interest in the property-owning enlity.
Subject to negotiated contractual restrictions, the mezzanine lender generally has the right, following
foreclosure, to become the owner of the property, subject to the lien of the first mortgage. Corporate
mezzanine loans, on the other hand, are investments in or loans to real estate related operating companies,
including REITs. Such investments may take the form of secured debt, preferred stock and other hybrid
instruments such as convertible debt. Corporate mezzanine loans may finance, among other things,
operations, mergers and acquisitions, management buy-outs, recapitalizations, start-ups and stock buy-
backs generally involving real estate and real estate related entities.
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4. Loans Reccivable (Continued)

Activity relating 10 our loans receivable for the year ended December 31, 2007 was as follows ($ values in

thousands):
Wciﬁhu:d Avermge
Number of Maturity
Assct Type Foco Value'' Book Value'!  Investmenis''’  Coupon'’ Yield?' J_VEIH)“’
December 31, 2006
Flooling rate '
Morigage loans 4 234,419 § 234,419 14 7.85% R.47Y% 4.0
Subordinate mongage interesis 669,532 #6863 29 8.29% B37% 39
Mezzanine loans 622,055 621,877 23 9.57% 9. 76% 4.3
TotaVAverage 1,526,006 1,524,661 66 8.75% B.96% 4.1
Fixed rote
Mortgage loons —_— _— —-— —_— _— —_
Subordinaie mortgoge intcrests 42309 41,486 3 7.72% 7.82% 1B.2
Mezzaning loane 187,161 IRS. 751 11 9.07% 9.25% 4.9
TolaVAvernge 229,470 227,237 14 B.R2Y H5.599% 7.4
Towl/Avermge - December 31, 2006 1.755.476 1,751 HOB BU B.76% £.97% 4.5
Originations'®?
Flonting rute
Margage loans A58.023 458,023 10 T.00% T.24% 18
Subordinate monignge intercsis 281,917 278,915 12 1.32% 7.46% 4,3
Mezzunine loens 644,371 6IR 499 16 B.0M4% 7.86% 3.3
Total/Averoge 1.380.311 1,375,427 as 7.54% 7.57% X
Fixed rote
Murigoge toans —_ _— —_ —_ — _—
Subordinatc mortgage intereots _— - _ —_ — —
Mgezsnine ioans — — o — — -
Towl/Avernga — — _— — — —_
Toml/Average ),380,311 1,375,437 348 7.54% 7.57% 3.6
Repoyments & Other'®
Floating rolo
Mortgoge lonns 71,856 71,856 K N/A N/A NIA
Suburdinatc mongnge intercsis 448,103 446,H23 14 N/A IN/A MNIA
Mczzaninag loons 322 307 327167 13 MN/A ™N/A NIA
Total/Avernge 841,346 845 846 34 NIA N/A NIA
Fixed rotc
Mortgage loans — — —_ NIA IN/A N/A
Subordinaio mongoge intereses BO (52) -— WN/A N/A N/A
Mczzanine ioans 26,177 23,978 3 BIA IN/A N/A
FowlfAverogs 26,257 23,926 3 INVA N/A N/A
‘Total/Averuge 849,603 BEY, 772 37 MN/A N/A N/A
Decembuer 31, 2007
Floating rate
Mongage losns 620,586 620.586 17 5.93% 7.23% a6
Subordinate montgage interests 503346 500,457 27 7.40% 7.46% 37
Mezzanine loans 939,039 433,209 26 R.15% R.18% 3.5
Toll/Avemge 2,062,971 2,054 252 70 7.60% 7.71% 3.6
Fixed rate
Morngage loans _— — — —_— — —
Subordinale mongnge interesty 42,229 41,538 3 T.72% TIM 17.2
Mezzanine loans | 60,9R3 161,773 8 8.85% R, B4% 4.2
TolaVAvernge 203,213 203,311 11 8.61% 8.63% 6.9
Towl/Average - December 31, 2007 [T] 7.69% 7 R 1.9

{3} Decertiber 11, 2006 values do not include mme non performing en et was succesaflly resolved in the scond quancr of 2007,

s_——n-h-—

2,266,184 5 2,257,563
e ve—

{2) Caleulstions hased on LIBOR of 4.60% as of December 31, 2007 and LIBOR of 4.32% o3 of December 31, 2006,
(3} Represents the maarity of the mvestoen sssuming ol €xlersion options ere executed.
(4) Duting tw rocond quanier of 2007, ons subordinste mortgage imtenes with # book value of $6,366 switched from a fined reto 1o a floating rute.

(3) In¢ludes additional fundings on pricr period originations. The figures thown in “Number of [nvestiens™ reprosent the actual numsher of originstion during the period.
(6) bacludes full repayments, sales, partial epaymonts sad the mpac of p v et di irati

™ only the full repay feales, if any.
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4. Loans Receivable (Continued)

Property Type Book Value Percentage
L0 ) | 77— A AP $ 963,558 43%
5 [ =) 712,145 31%
Muhifamily ... ... e 174,490 8%
0 11 - 162,730 7%
Healthcare ... .ot it a e 147,883 6%
Retai] ... e 85,072 4%
Industrial ......c it i i e e e 11,685 1%
B 7Y R S $2,257,563 100%
Geogrn ion Book Value Percentage
[ 1] 1112 1-1 O $ 887,268 39%
VT OUS . Lottt e e 599,943 27%
SOUTWESL. . o vt i e e e e 231,416 10%
L S 222,450 10%
SOUTREaSt . ...t tie eeeaaas 182,248 8%
NOMTRWESE. . . . i i it st rr i arar et et e 111,002 5%
MIdWeESt . . it e e e s 23,236 1%
I -1 [ $2,257,563 100%

Quarterly, management reevaluates the reserve for possible credit losses based upon our current portfolio of
loans. Each loan in our portfolio is evaluated using our loan risk rating system which considers loan-to-value,
debt yield, cash flow stability, exit plan, loan sponsorship, loan structure and other factors necessary to assess the
likelihood of delinquency or default. If we believe that there is a potential for delinquency or default, a downside
analysis is prepared to estimate the value of the collateral underlying our loan, and this potential loss is multiplied
by the default likelihood. Based upon our review of the portfolio, in the fourth quarter of 2007 we recorded a
$4.0 million reserve for possible credit losses related to one second mortgage loan with a face value of $10.0
million. As of December 31, 2006, we concluded that a reserve for possible credit losses was not warranted on
any of our loans.

During the second quarter of 2007, we successfully resolved our one non-performing toan. The loan was a first
mortgage with an original principal balance of $8.0 million that reached maturity on July 15, 2000, As of
December 31, 2002, the loan was writien down to $4.0 million. From 2002 to March 31, 2007, we had received
$1.4 million in cash collections, which further reduced the carrying value of the loan 1o $2.6 million. During the
second quarter of 2007, we received net proceeds of $10.9 million which resulted in reducing the carrying value
of the loan 10 zero and recording $4.0 million of a recovery of provision for losses and $4.3 million of interes
income.

In some instances, we have a further obligation to fund additional amounts under our loan arrangements; we refer
to these funding commitments as Unfunded Loan Commitments. At December 31, 2007, we had 11 such
Unfunded Loan Commitments for a total future funding obligation of $177.0 million.

There are no loans to a single borrower or to related groups of borrowers that exceeded ten percent of total assets.
Approximately 29% of all performing loans are secured by properties in New York State.
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4, Loans Receivable (Continued)

In connection with the loan portfolio, at December 31, 2007 and 2006, we have deferred origination fees, net of
direct costs of $2.1 million and $4.6 million, respectively, which are being amortized into income over the life of
the loans.

5. Total Return Swaps

Total retum swaps are derivative contracts in which one party agrees to make payments that replicate the total
return of a defined underlying asset, typically in return for another party agreeing to bear the risk of performance
of the defined underiying asset. Under our current total return swaps, we bear the risk of performance of the
underlying asset and receive payments from our counterparty as compensation. In effect, these total return swaps
allow us to receive the leveraged economic benefits of asset ownership without our acquiring, or our counterparty
selling, the actual underlying asset. Our total return swaps reference commercial real estate loans and contain a
put provision whereby our counterparty has the right to require us to buy the entire reference loan at its par value
under certain reference loan performance scenarios. The put obligation imbedded in these arrangements
constitutes a recourse obligation for us to perform under the terms of the contract.

Activity relating to our total return swaps for the year ended December 31, 2007 was as follows (3 values in

thousands):
 Welghted Average
Fair Merket Value Cash Reference/Loan  Number of Matu
(Book Value) Collateral _Participation _ Investments _ Yietd®  (Years)®
December 31,2006 ............ £1,815 $1.815 $40,000 2 20.55% 1.4
Originations .................. — — — - — —_
Repayments .................. 1,813 1,815 20,000 1 — —
December 31,2007%........... $ — $ —  $20,000 — —_

(1) Calculations based on LIBOR of 4.60% os of December 31, 2007 and LIBOR of 5.32% as of December 31, 2006.
(2) Materity (years) based on initial maturity date of the commitments.
(3) The total return swaps currently have no outstanding balance and & $3.0 million unfunded commitment exists.

The total return swaps are treated as non-hedge derivatives for accounting purposes and, as such, changes in their
market value are recorded through the consolidated statement of operations. At December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006, our total return swaps were valued at par and no such consolidated statement of income
impact was recorded.

6. Equity Investment in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries

QOur equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries consist primarily of our co-investments in investment
management vehicles that we sponsor and manage. At year end 2007, we had co-investments in two such
vehicles, Fund 11l and CTOPI. In addition to our co-investments, we record capitalized costs associated with
these vehicles in equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries,

In 2007 we liquidated two investments that had previously been recorded as equity investments in unconsolidated
subsidiaries, CT Mezzanine Partners LI, LP, or Fund 1], and Bracor. In December of 2007, we sold our interest in
Bracor. We received $43.6 million in proceeds from the sale and recognized a gain of $15.1 million, which
included $2.5 million of gains from currency translation adjustments.
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was as follows (in thousands):

Equity Investment
Beginning balance
Equity investment
Loss from equity investments
Sales proceeds
Gain on sales
Distributiens from unconsolidated subsidiaties
Ending balance

Capitalized Costs
Beginning balance
Capitalized costs
Amortization of capitalized costs
Ending balance

Total Balance

6. Equity Investment in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries (Continued)

Capital Trust, [nc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Activity relating to our equity investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2007

Fund I FundIGP  Fund il Bracor CTOPL Total

$ 65 $§ smoos 299 8 sens s — 5 932

_ - — 24122 — 2,122

(152) (538) (119) (1237 (60) (2,106)

- - - {43,637) — (43,637)

— - - 15077 — 15077

{483) — {1,887) — — (2370)

s — 335 3 9 0§ __— 0§ _(6) S %

$ 1264 § — $§ 3368 2§ 4 0§ — § 16M

- - — @ — @)

(1,264) — (289) — — (1,553)

T — T — 3 B s - 5 - 5§ 7
f— - —————] f s ——— |

U S R BT A e BENLD g S
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(1) Includes $258,000 of sdditional basis that represents a difference between our share of net assets at Bracor snd our carrying value.

During 2007, in conjunction with the liquidation of Fund II, we received our final payment of incentive fees from
the fund of $962,000, bringing total incentive fees paid to us from Fund Il to $10.6 million. In addition, during
the first quarter of 2007, we expensed the remaining capitalized cost associated with Fund 11, $1.3 million from
our consolidated balance sheet and $384,000 through our equity interest in Fund II's general partner.




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
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6. Equity Investment in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries (Continued)

In accordance with the management agreement with Fund IlI, CTIMCO may eam incentive compensation when
cenain returns are achieved for the shareholders of Fund 111, which will be accrued if and when earned. During
the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded $5.2 million in incentive compensation.

Activity relating to our equity investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2006
was as follows (in thousands):

Veature
__Agmt Fudll _ FudIGP™  Fundll  _ Bracor® Total
Equity Investment
Beginning balance ] — $ 1218 3 692 § 1154 — 5§ 9TM
Equity investment — — — - 5,805 5,805
Gain (loss} from equity investments — 7 (1) 959 {132) 987
Currency trans!ation adjustments - - - — 2 2
Amortization of capitalized cosis —_— (%3) - — — {93)
Distributions from unconsolidated subsidiaries — {829) — (5,784) — (6,613}
Ending balance ] — 3 635 8 573 0§ 2929 § 5615 $ 9812
Capitalized Costs
Beginning balance $ 2020 § 2036 § — $ 1 — § 45T
Capitalized costs — — - - 41 41
Amortization of capitalized costs (2,020) (172 - (153) ~— {2,945)
Ending balance 5 — § 1264 8 — 8§ %8 4 5§ 160
Total Belance 3 — § 189 3 573 0§ 3291 5§ 576§ 11485
———] _—ee— ——— ———

{1) $384,000 of the equity investment consists of capitalized costs a1 Fund 11's geaeral partner which are being amortized over the expected
life of the fund.
(2) Includes $258,000 of additional basis that represents a difference between our share of net assets a1 Bracor and our canrying value.
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7. Debt

At December 31, 2007 and 2006 we had $2.3 billion and $2.0 billion of total debt outstanding, respectively. The
balances of each category of debt and their respective all in effective cost, including the amortization of fees and
expenses were as follows ($ values in thousands):

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006

Book Allin Book Allin
Face Value Value Coupon'”  Cost  Face Value Value Coupon'™ _ Cost

Repurchase Obligations,. § 911,857 § 911,857 556% S5.80% § 704,444 § 704,444 6.34% 6.53%
Collateralized debt

obligations

CDO 1 (Floating). .. .. 252,718 2527178 522%  5.6M% 252,778 252,718 5.94% 6.39%

CDO Ii (Floaling) ... . 298,913 208913 5.09%  5.32% 298,913 298913 5.81% 6.04%

CDO 111 (Fixed). . . ... 259,803 261654  522% 537% 264,594 266,754 5.2%  5.25%

CDO IV(Floating)'?.. 378954 _ 378954  5.04% 5.11% _ 394,055 _ 394055 574% 581%

Total CDOs . ...... 1,190,448 1,192,299 5.13% 5.34% 1,210,340 §,212,500 5.69% 5.86%

Senior Unsecured Credit

Facility 75,000 75,000 6.10% 6.40% -_ —_ — —_
Junior subordinated

debentures. ......... 128,875 128875  7.20% 1.30% 51,50 51,550  745% 1.53%

Total ........co.... $£2,306,180 $2,308,031 .2.'.2% ﬁ% $1.966,334 $1,568,494 5.=97% &%

(1) Calculations based on LIBOR of 4.60% as of December 31, 2007 and LIBOR of 5.32% os of December 31, 2006.
{2) Comprised of $364.2 million of Moating rate notcs sold and $14.7 million of fixed rate notes sold.

The annual face value maturities of our debt are as follows (in millions):
' 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter _ Total

Repurchase obligations ................... $6444 $2462 $ 2138 — % — 8 — $§ 919
CDOS (.t e 41.7 2716 549 1994 2654 3574  1,1904
Senior unsecured credit facility. . ........... — 750 — - - -— 15.0
Junior subordinated debentures. ............ — — — — — 1289 128.9
Totaldebt ...............ooiviiienens, $686.1 $5928 $ 762 31994 32654 $4863 $2,306.2

Repurchase Obligations

At December 31, 2007, we were party 10 nine master repurchase agreements with seven counterparties that
provide total commitments of $1.6 billion. At December 31, 2007, we borrowed $842.2 million under these
agreements and had the ability to borrow an additional $145.4 million without pledging additional collateral.

We were also a party to asset specific repurchase obligations. The term of these agreements are generally one
year or less and advance rates are up to 85% with cash costs ranging from LIBOR plus 0.45% to LIBOR plus
2.50%. At December 31, 2007, these asset specific repurchase obligations represent borrowings of $69.7 million
and we had the ability to borrow an additional $2.0 million without pledging additional collateral.

In total, our borrowings at December 31, 2007 under repurchase agreements were $911.9 million and we had the
ability 1o borrow an additional $147.4 million without pledging additional collateral. Loans and CMBS with a
carrying value of $1.4 billion are pledged as collateral for our repurchase agreements.

In August 2005, we entered into a master repurchase agreement with Bear Stearns & Co. Inc., or Bear Steams.
The agreement provided for a maximum aggregate purchase price of $75.0 millton and has an initial term of three
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years, expiring in August 2008. In December 2005, we entered into a related master repurchase agreement with
Bear Stearns, enabling us to use additional types of collateral. The related agreement increased the combined
repurchase commitment under both facilities to $125.0 million. In February 2006, we amended and restated our
master repurchase agreements with Bear Stearns increasing the combined commitment by $75.0 million to
$200.0 million, and in February 2007 we further increased the combined commitment by $250 million to $450
million. The agreements expire in August 2008 and are designed to finance, on a recourse basis, our general
investment activity as well as assets designated for one or more of our CDOs. Under the agreements, advance
rates are up 1o 85.0% and cash costs of funds range from LIBOR plus 0.55% to LIBOR plus 2.00%. At December
31, 2007, we had incurred borrowings under the agreements of $336.0 million and had the ability to borrow an
additional $5.3 million against the assets collateralizing the agreement.

In July 2005, we entered into a master repurchase agreement with Morgan Starley Inc., or Morgan Stanley. The
agreement originally provided for a maximum aggregate purchase price of $75.0 million. In October and
November 2005, we amended the agreement to increase the amount of its repurchase commitment to $125.0
million and to $150.0 million, respectively. The November 2005 amendment also provided for a further increase
of the repurchase commitment to $200.0 million as of January 2006. In February 2007 we further increased the
commitment to $300.0 million. The agreement expires in July 2009 and is designed to finance, on a recourse
basis, our general investment activity. Under the agreement, advance rates are up to 92.0% and cash costs of
funds range from LIBOR plus 0.40% to LIBOR plus 2.00%. At December 31, 2007, we had incurred borrowings
under the agreements of $142.5 million and had the ability to borrow an additional $123.4 million against the
assets collateralizing the borrowings under the agreements.

In July 2005, we entered into an additional master repurchase agreement with Morgan Stanley Inc., or Morgan
Stanley, The agreement provides for a maximum aggregate purchase price of $75.0 mitlion and has a term of
three years, expiring in July 2008. The agreement is designed to finance on a recourse basis assets designated for
one or more of our CDOs with advance rates of up to 85.0% and cash costs of funds ranging between LIBOR
plus 1.00% and LIBOR plus 1.75%. At December 31, 2007, we had incurred no borrowings under the agreement.

In November 2006, we entered into entered into a master repurchase agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A. The agreement provides for a maximum aggregate purchase price of $250.0 million and for a rolling one-
year term not to exceed three years. The agreement is designed to provide us with recourse financing for our
general loan and securities investment activity. Under the agreement, advance rates are up to 92.0% and cash
costs of funds range from LIBOR plus 0.30% to LIBOR plus 1.90%. At December 31, 2007, we had incurred
borrowings under the agreement of $208.5 million and had the ability to borrow an additional $1.6 million
against the assets collateralizing the borrowings under the agreement.

In May 2003, we entered into a master repurchase agreement with Goldman Sachs & Co. and Commerzbank. The
agreement provided for & maximum aggregate purchase price of $50.0 million and had an initial term of two
years, expiring June 2005. In August 2003, we amended the agreement to increase its size to $100.0 million and
extend its term to June 2006. In June 2006, we further amended the agreement extending its term to June 2009,
increasing its size to $150.0 million and removing Commerzbank as a party to the agreement. In October 2007,
we amended and restated the agreement and concurrently executed a second master repurchase agreement, which
we call the alternate funding agreement. The amendment increased the maximum purchase amount from $150.0
million to $200.0 million. Together the agreements are designed to provide us with recourse financing for our
general investment activity as well as assets designated for one or more of our CDOs. Under the agreements,
advance rates are up to 88.0% and cash costs of funds range between LIBOR plus 0.60% and LIBOR plus 2.00%.
At December 31, 2007, we had incurred borrowings under the agreements of $92.8 million and had the ability to
borrow an additional $i5.1 million apainst the assets collateralizing the agreements.
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[n July 2007, we entered into a master repurchase agreement with Citigroup Financial Products Inc. and
Citigroup Global Markets Inc. The agreement provides for a maximum aggregate commitment of $250.0 million
with a rolling one-year term and individual financing commitments of up to three years. The agreement is
designed to provide us with recourse financing for our general loan and securities investment activity. Under the
agreement, advance rates are up 10 92.0% and cash costs of funds range from LIBOR plus 0.40% to LIBOR plus
2.00%. At December 31, 2007, we had incurred borrowings under the agreement of $41.1 million.

In March 2005, we entered into a master repurchase agreement with Bank of America. The agreement provided
for a maximum aggregate purchase price of $150.0 million and has a term of five years, expiring in March 2010.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the amount of its repurchase commitment was reduced to $75.0 million
upon the closing of our second CDO in March 2005. The agreement is designed to finance on a recourse basis
assets designated for our second CDO with advance rates of 85.0% and a cash cost of funds of LIBOR plus
1.00%. At December 31, 2007, we had incurred borrowings under the agreement of $21.3 million.

In October 2006, we entered into a loan-specific repurchase obligation representing borrowings of $10.9 million
with UBS Real Estate Securities. The obligation is recourse, has a term of three years and the advance rate is
75.0% with a cash cost of LIBOR plus 1.25%.

In March 2006, we entered into a loan-specific repurchase obligation representing bormowings of $6.0 million
with Lehman Brothers. The obligation is non-recourse, had an initial term of one year, which we renewed for a
second year and the advance rate is 60.0% with a cash cost of LIBOR plus 2.50%.

At December 31, 2006, we were party to repurchase agreements with seven counterparties with total repurchase
commitments of $1.2 billion and had total outstanding borrowings of $704.4 million. The weighted average cash
borrowing cost for all outstanding borrowings under the repurchase agreements in effect at December 31, 2006
was LIBOR plus 1.02% (6.34% at December 31, 2006). Assuming no additional utilization under the repurchase
agreements and including the amortization of all fees paid and capitalized over the remaining term of the
repurchase agreements, the all in effective borrowing cost was LIBOR plus 1.21% (6.53% at December 31,
2006).

Collateralized Debt Obligations

At December 31, 2007, we had CDOs outslanding from four separate issuances with a total face value of $1.2
billion. Our existing CDOs are financing vehicles for our assets and, as such, are consolidated on our balance
sheet at $1.2 billion, representing the amortized sales price of the securities sold to third parties. In total, our two
reinvesting CDOs provide us with $551.7 million of debt financing at a cash cost of LIBOR plus 0.55% (5.15%
at December 31, 2007) and an all in effective interest rate (including the amontization of issuance costs) of
LIBOR plus 0.88% (5.48% at December 31, 2007). Qur two static CDOs provide us with $638.8 million of
financing with a cash cost of 5.12% and an all in effective interest rate of 5.23% at December 31, 2007. On a
combined basis, our CDOs provide us with $1.2 billion of non-recourse, non-mark-to-market, index matched
financing at a weighted average cash cost of 0.53% over the applicable index (5.13% at December 31, 2007) and
a weighted average all in cost of 0.74% over the applicable index (5.34% at December 31, 2007).

In July 2004 we issued our first CDO, which we refer to as CDQ |, issuing and selling to third party investors
$252.8 million of notes rated AAA through BBB- and retaining all of the below investment grade notes, as well
as the equity in the CDO issuers. CDO I is collateralized by a $324.0 million pool of commercial real estate
related assets and is a reinvesting CDO, During its four year reinvestment period, expiring in June 2008, principal
proceeds from collateral repayments can be reinvested into replacement collateral subject to certain criteria. We
have the option to call the entire financing at par beginning in July 2006. As a financing, CDO I has a cash cost
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of LIBOR plus 0.62% (5.22% at December 31, 2007) and including the amortization of fees and expenses, an all
in effective rate of LIBOR plus 1.07% (5.67% at December 31, 2007). In 2007, Moody's, Standard & Poors’,
and Fitch affirmed all of their ratings of the notes issued by CT CDQ I in connection with their annual review of
the transaction.

In March 2005 we issued our second CDO, which we refer 1o as CDO 1, issuing and selling to third party
investors $299.0 million of notes rated AAA through BBB- and retaining all of the below investment grade
notes, as well as the equity in the CDO issuers. CDO II is collateralized by a pool of $337.8 million of
commercial real estate related assets and is a reinvesting CDO. During its five year reinvestment peniod, expiring
in February 2010, principal proceeds from collateral repayments can be reinvested into replacement collateral
subject to certain rating agency criteria. We have the option to call the entire financing at par beginning in March
2007. As a financing, CDO Il has a cash cost of LIBOR plus 0.49% (5.09% at December 31, 2007) and including
the amontization of fees and expenses, an all in effective rate of LIBOR plus 0.72% (5.32% at December 31,
2007). In 2007, Standard & Poors and Fitch affirmed al! of their ratings of the notes issued by CT CDO Il in
connection with their annual review of the transaction.

In August 2005, we issued our third CDO, which we calt CDO 111, issuing and selling to third party investors
$269.6 million of notes rated AAA through BBB for proceeds of $272.2 million. We retained all of the BBB- and
below investment grade rated notes, as well as the equity in the CDO issuers. CDO 111 is collateratized by a pool
of $327.6 million (face value) of CMBS and is a static pool CDO. As such, it provides for the amortization of the
CDO notes rather than reinvestment with principal proceeds from collateral repayments. We have the oplion to
call the entire financing subject to yield maintenance beginning in September 2011]. As a financing, CDO [II has
a cash cost of 5,.22% and including the amortization of fees and expenses, an all in effective rate of 5.37% at
December 31, 2007. In 2007, Filch upgraded seven classes of the notes issued by CT CDO 11l and affirmed their
ratings of the remaining classes. And Standard & Poors affirmed alt of their ratings of the notes issued by CT
CDO [l in connection with their annual review of the transaction.

In March 2006, we issued our fourth CDO, which we refer to as CDO 1V, issuing and selling to third party
investors $429.4 million of notes rated AAA through BBB- and retaining all of the below investment grade notes,
as well as the equity in the CDO issuers. CDO IV was initially collateralized by a pool of $488.6 million (face
value) of CMBS and other commercial real estate debt. The securitization is a static pool CDO, and as such it
provides for the amortization of the CDO notes rather than reinvestment with principal proceeds from collateral
repayments. The total collateral pool is now $389.6 million and total outstanding liabilities are $379.0 million. In
terms of original balance, $16.7 million of the notes sold were fixed rate notes and $412.7 million were floating
rate. The structure includes an amortizing interest rate swap which effectively converts the floating rate payments
to a fixed rate payment. We have the option to call the entire financing beginning in March 2011. As a financing,
CDO IV has a cash cost of 5.04% and including the amortization of fees and expenses, the all in effective cost is
5.11% at December 31, 2007. In 2007, Standard & Pcors and Fitch affirmed all of their ratings of the notes
issued by CT CDO 1V in connection with their annual review of the transaction.

Senior Unsecured Credit Facility

In March 2007, we closed a $50.0 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility with WestLB AG, which we
amended in June 2007, increasing the size to $100 million and adding new lenders to the syndicate. The facility
has an initial term of one year {with a one year term out provision at our option) and a maximum term of four
years (including extension options). The Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.50% (LIBOR plus 1.80% on an
all in basis) and we expect to use the facility borrowings for gencral corporate purposes and working capital
needs, including providing additional flexibility for funding loan originations. At December 31, 2007, we had
borrowed $75.0 million under this facility.
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Junior Subordinated Debentures

At December 31, 2007, we had a total of $128.9 million of junior subordinated debentures cutstanding (that back
$125 million of trust preferred securities sold to third parties). Junior subordinated debentures are comprised of
two issuances of debentures, $77.3 million backing $75 million of trust preferred securities sold to third parties in
March 2007 and $51.6 million backing $50 million of trust preferred securities sold to third parties in 2006. On a
combined basis the securities provide us with $125.0 million of financing at a cash cost of 7.20% and an all in
effective rate of 7.30%.

In February 2006, our statutory trust subsidiary, CT Preferved Trust 1, issued $50.0 million of trust preferred
securities to a private investor and $1.6 million of common securities to us, and we issued to the trust $51.6
million principal amount of junior subordinated debentures. The trust preferred securities represent an undivided
beneficial interest in the assets of the trust thal consist solely of our junior subordinated debentures. The trust
preferred securities have a 30 year term, maturing in April 2036, are redeemable at par on or afier April 30, 2011
and pay distributions at a fixed rale of 7.45% for the first ten years ending April 2016, and thereafter, at a floating
rate of three month LIBOR plus 2.65%, which correspond to the interest rate payable on the junior subordinated
debentures. The all in cost of the junior subordinated debentures is 7.53%.

In March 2007, our statutory trust subsidiary, CT Preferred Trust !l sold $75.0 million of trust preferred securities
to third parties and $2.3 million common securities to us, and we issued to the trust $77.3 million principal
amount of subordinated debentures. The trust preferred securities have a 30 year term, maturing in April 2037,
are redeemable at par on or after April 30, 2012 and pay distributions at a fixed rate of 7.03% (or 7.14%
including the amortization of fees and expenses) for the first ten years ending April 2017, and thereafier, at a
foating rate of three month LIBOR plus 2.25%, which correspond to the interest note payable on the junior
subordinated debentures.

Our interests in CT Preferred Trust | and CT Preferred Trust !1 are accounted for using the equity method and the
assets and liabilities are not consolidated into our financial statements due to our determination that CT Preferred
Trust | and CT Preferred Trust Il are variable interest entities under FIN 46R and thal we are not the primary
beneficiary of the entities. Interest on the junior subordinated debentures is included in interest and related
expenses on our consolidated statements of income while the junior subordinated debentures are presented as a
separate item in our consolidated balance sheet.

8. Participations Sold

Participations sold represent interests in loans that we originated and subsequently sold to CT Large Loan and
third parties. We present these sold interests as both assets and liabilities (in equal amounts) in conformity with
GAAP on the basis that these arrangements do not qualify as sales under FAS 140. At December 31, 2007, we
had seven such participations sold with a total book balance of $408.4 million at a weighted average coupon of
LIBOR plus 3.38% (7.98% at December 31, 2007) and a weighted average yield of LIBOR plus 3.41% (8.01% at
December 31, 2007). The income eaned on the loans is recorded as interest and related income and an tdentical
amount is recorded as interest and related expenses on the consolidated statements of income. At December 31,
2006 we had four such participations sold with a total book balance of $209.4 million at a weighted average yield
of LIBOR plus 3.54% (8.86% at December 31, 2006).

9, Derivative Financial Instruments

To manage interest rate risk, we typically employ interest rate swaps or other arrangements, 0 convert a portion
of our floating rate debt to fixed rate debt in order to index match our assets and liabilities. The net payments due
under these swap contracts are recognized as interest expense over the life of the contracts.

F-30




Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financlal Statements (Continued)

9. Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we entered into one cash flow hedge agreement with a total current
notiona! balance of $780,000. Additionally, during the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, we paid
$153,000 to counterparties in setttement of two interest rate swaps and two interest rate swaps matured in the
fourth quarter of 2007. Recognition of these settlements has been deferred and is being amortized over the
remaining life of the previously hedged item using an approximation of the level yield basis,

The following table summarizes the notional and fair values of our derivative financial instruments as of
December 31, 2007. The notional value provides an indication of the extent of our involvement in the instruments
at that time, but does not represent exposure 10 credit or interest rate risk ($ values in thousands):

Hedge Type Notional Vatue  Interest Rate  Matrity _ Fair Vatue
Swap......eael Cash Flow Hedge $318,306 5.10% 2015 $(12,508)
T SWED . i * Cash Flow Hedge " 73,840 4.58% 2014 (1,242)

11 Cash Flow Hedge 18,718 3.95% 2011 (65)

SWap ... Cash Flow Hedge 18,234 5.14% 2014 (958)

SWEP. ... Cash Flow Hedge 16,894 4.83% 2014 (600)

SWap........oiiiiiie e Cash Flow Hedge 16,377 552% 2018 (1,331)

Swap.......oooiinn i Cash Flow Hedge 13,136 5.05% 2016 (529)

Swap......cooiiian. Cash Flow Hedge 12,310 5.02% 2009 (263)

Swap........ceiiuiiiian Cash Flow Hedge 7.062 5.10% 2016 (363)

Swap..........oiiiian Cash Flow Hedge 6,087 4.77% 2011 (150)

Swap........oieiiienaenn Cash Flow Hedge 5,104 5.18% 2016 (288)

Swap......oooviiiiie Cash Flow Hedge 3,325 5.45% 2015 (240)

SWaD . i i Cash Flow Hedge 2,870 5.08% 2011 (113)

Swap... ...l Cash Flow Hedge 780 5.31% 2011 (16)

Total/Weighted Average . . .. $513,043 122 % 2015 $(18,686)

As of December 31, 2007, the derivative financial instruments were reported at their fair vatue of $18.7 million
as interest rate hedge liabilities. Income and expense associated with these instruments is recorded as interest
expense on the company's consolidated statements of income. The amount of hedge ineffectiveness was not
material during any of the periods presented.

10. Shareholders’ Equity
Authorized Capital

We have the authority to issue up to 200,000,000 shares of stock, consisting of (i) 100,000,000 shares of class A
commeon stock and (i) 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock. The board of directors is generally authorized to
issue additional shares of authorized stock without shareholder approval.
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Commoeon Stock

Class A common stock are voting shares entitled to vote on all matters presented to a vote of shareholders, except
as provided by law or subject 10 the voting rights of any outstanding preferred stock. Holders of record of shares
of class A common stock on the record date fixed by our board of directors are entitled to receive such dividends
as may be declared by the board of directors subject to the rights of the holders of any outstanding preferred
stock.

Preferred Stock

We have 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized and have not issued any shares of preferred stock since
we repurchased all of the previously issued and outstanding preferred stock in 2001.

Dividends

Our dividend policy is subject to revision at the discretion of our board of directors. All distributions will be
made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our taxable income, our financial condition,
our maintenance of REIT status and other factors as our board of directors deems relevant. All dividends declared
in 2006 and 2007 are ordinary income.

We did not repurchase any of our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the calculation of Basic and Diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2007
and 2006 (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Year ended December 33, 2007 Year ended December 1, 2006
Per Share Per Share
Net Income Shares Amount Net Income Shares Awmount
Basic EPS:
Net camings allocable to
commonstock ............. $84,366 17,569,690 _' $54,067 15,754,655 $3.43
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Options outstanding for the
purchase of common stock .. ... — 120,576 — 168,742
Diluted EPS:
Net eamings per share of
common stock and assumed
CONMVEISIONS. . ... ovvvvnvrnns $84366 17,690,266 $4.77 $54,067 15,923,397 $3.40
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10. Shareholders’ Equity (Continued)

The following table sets forth the calculation of Basic and Diluted EPS for the year ended December 31, 2005 (in
thousands, except share and per share data):
Year ended December 31, 2005

Per Share
Ket Income Shares Amount
Basic EPS:
Net earnings allocable to common stock. ........ $44.011 15,181,476 2.91
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Options outstanding for the purchase of common
L (o] N — 154,438
Diluted EPS:
Net camnings per share of common stock and
assumed cOnversions ........ .. orereiiiinn $44.111 15,335,914 $2.88

11. General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31,2007, 2006 and 2005 consisted of (in
thousands):

2007 2006 2005
Salartesand benefits .. ...l $14,480 S$11,450 $10,084
Employee stock based compensation. . ................ 4,606 3,961 2,545
Operating and other costs . . ...........oovveeiann.n, 4,485 2,904 3,799
Professional Services. . .. ... v rin o 3,821 4,362 3,512
Employee promote compensation . ... ........... ... 2,564 398 1,999
11171 A $29,956 $23,075 $21,939

12. I[ncome Taxes

We made an election to be taxed as a REIT under Section 856(c) of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, commencing with the tax year ending December 31, 2003. As a REIT, we generally are not subject to
federal, state, and local income taxes except for the operations of our taxable REIT subsidiary, CTIMCO. To
maintain qualification as a REIT, we must distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our sharcholders
and meet certain other requirements. If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we may be subject to material penaltics such
as federal, state and local income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. At December 31, 2007
and 2006, we were in compliance with atl REIT requirements.

We did not pay any taxes at the REIT level in 2007, 2006 or 2005. However, CTIMCO, our investment
management subs:dnary is a taxable REIT subsidiary and subject to taxes on its eammgs In 2007, CTIMCO
recorded an operating loss before income taxes of $2.0 million, which resulted in an income tax benefit of
$833,000, $783,000 of which we reserved and $50,000 of which we recorded. In 2006, CTIMCO recorded an
operating loss before income taxes of $6.7 million, which resulted in an income tax benefit of $2.7 million, none
of which we reserved and the entire $2.7 million of which we recorded. In 2005, CTIMCO recorded net income
before income taxes of $104,000, which when combined with GAAP to tax difference resulted in a provision for
income taxes of $213,000, all of which we recorded. In addition to the benefit we recorded in 2007 as a result of
operations at CTIMCO, we reversed tax liability reserves at Capital Trust, Inc. and CTIMCO of $254,000 and
$402,000, respectively.

F.33




Capital Trust, 1nc, and Subsidlaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

12. [Income Taxes (Continued)

As we are operating in 2 manner to meet the qualifications to be taxed as & REIT for federal income tax purposes
during the 2007 tax year, we do not expect we will be liable for income taxes or for taxes on “built-in gain™ on
our assets at the federal and sate level in future years, other than income taxes on our taxable REIT subsidiaries.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary diflerences between the camying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax reporting purposes.

The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

Years ended
December 31
TI007__ 2008
Fund Il incentive ma.nsgcment - $§ — § 414
Unearned compensation expense for book purposes not rccogmzed
1) 7 4,125 3,049
NOL carryforwards Stateand Cify ...........coeeiiiiiiina sy 1,253 1,377
NOL carryforwards Federal . . ...............cccoiiiiiinaane, 469 744
0 11,7 116 146
Deferred tax 8556t .. ..voviniieiee it ettt 6,563 5,730
Valuation allowance .. .......ciiiiitiii ittt eiainiaenans (2,904)  (2,121)
Net deferred tax asset . ... ... A $ 3659 § 3609

The taxable REIT subsidiaries have federal and state and New York City net operating loss carryforwards as of
December 31, 2007 of approximately $1.3 million and $7.3 million, respectivety, which expire through 2026.

The REIT has federal net operating loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2007 of approximately $3.8 miilion
that expire through 2011. We also have federal capital loss carryforwards as of December 31,2007 of
approximately $1.5 million that expire through 2008,

13. Employee Benefit Plans

Employee 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan

We sponsor a 401(k) and profit sharing plan that allows eligible employees to contribute up to 15% of their salary
into the plan on a pre-tax basis, subject to annual limits. We have committed to make contributions to the plan
equal to 3% of all eligible employees’ compensation subject to annual limits and may make additional
contributions based upon eamings. Our contribution expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, was $198,000, $118,000 and $104,000, respectively.

Equity Incentive Plans

We had four benefit plans in effect at December 31, 2007: (1) the second amended and restated 1997 long-term
incentive stock plan, or 1997 Employee Plan, (2) the amended and restated 1997 non-employee director stock
plan, or 1997 Director Plan, (3) the amended and restated 2004 long-term incentive plan, or 2004 Employee Plan,
and (4) the 2007 long-term incentive plan, or 2007 Plan. The 1997 plans expired in 2007 and no new awards may
be issued under them. Activity under these four plans for the year ended December 31, 2007 is summarized in
the chart below in share and share equivalents:
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t3. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

Benefit T 1997 glxi:ployu lmpl:lar:ctnr 1004 g:ployee ‘l‘mz-ri:?;nnfm Total
1+ n L] n
Options”
Beginning Balance......... 323,457 76,668 — — 400,125
Granted 2007 ............. —_ — — —_ —
Exercised 2007............ (97,979) (48,334) —_ —  (146,313)
Canceled 2007 ............ (1,667) (11,667) — —  (13,334)
Ending Balance ........... 223,811 16,667 —_ — 240,478
Restricted Stock
Beginning Balance......... — —_ 480,967 — 480,967
Granted 2007 ............. — — 23,015 — 23,015
Vested 2007 .............. -_— — (80,051) —  (80,051)
Forfeited 2007 ............ - _ — — —
Ending Balance ........... —_ — 423,931 — 423,931
Stock Units”
Beginning Balance......... —_— 73,848 — —_ 73,848
Granted 2007 .. ........... _— 6,169 — 14,570 20,739
Converted 2007 ........... — — — — —
Ending Balance ........... — 80,017 — 14,570 94,587
Total Quistanding Shares .. ... 223,811 96,684 423,931 14,570 758,996

(1) All opticns are fully vested as of December 31, 2007.

{2) Comprised of both performance bascd swards that vest upon the antainment of certain common equity return thresholds and time bascd
awards that vest based upon an employee's continued smployment on vestinig dates.

(3) Stock units are granted to certain members of our board of dircctors in Jiew of cash compensation for scrvices and in liew of dividends
eamed on previously granted stock units.
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13. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

As of year end 2007, unvested share based compensation consisted of 423,931 shares of restricted stock with an
unamortized value of $4.1 million. Subject to vesting provisions, these costs will be recognized as compensation
expense over the next 4 years,

2007 Plan

At our 2007 annual meeting of shareholders held on June 7, 2007, the shareholders approved the adoption of the
2007 Plan. Under the 2007 Plan, a maximum of 700,000 shares of class A common stock may be issued.
Effective upon the adoption of sharcholders, no future awards will occur under our prior plans. At December 31,
2007, there were 685,430 shares available under the 2007 Plan.

These shares shall be authorized but unissued shares, or shares that we have reacquired or otherwise hold in
treasury or in a trust. The number of shares available for awards, as well as the terms of outstanding awards, are
subject to adjustment as provided in the 2007 Plan for stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations and other
similar events.

Shares that are subject to an award (or to any award under the 2004 Plan) that for any reason expires, is forfeited,
cancelled or becomes unexercisable, and shares that are for any other reason not paid or delivered under awards
pursuant to the 2007 Plan or the 2004 Plan shall again be available for subsequent awards, except as prohibited
by law. The committee may not make future awards with respect to sharcs that we retain from otherwise
delivering pursuant to an award either (i) as payment of the exercise price of an award, or (i) in order to satisfy
the withholding or employment taxes due upon grant, exercise, vesting or distribution of an award. The 2004
Plan and the 2007 Plan were modified during 2007 to allow certain employees to defer receipt of restricted stock.

The following table summarizes the outstanding options as of December 31, 2007:

Welghted Average Weighted
Exerclse Price Options Exercise Price Average
per Share Outsisnding per Share Remaining Life
1997 Employee 1997 Director 1997 Employee ™ 1997 Director 1997 Employee 1997 Director
Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan
$10.00 - $15.00 43,530 -— $ 1341 s — 301 —_
$15.00 - $20.00 126,947 — 16.38 —_ 3.52 —
$25.00 - $30.00 53,334 16,667 28.12 30.00 042 0.08
Total/Weighted Average 223,811 {6,667 $ 18,60 % 30.00 2.68 0.08

In addition to the equity interests detailed above, we have granted percentage interests in the incentive
compensation received by us from the private equity funds. At December 31, 2007, we had granted, net of
forfeitures, 43% of the Fund Il incentive compensation received by us.
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13. Employee Benefit Plans (Cantinued)

The following table summarizes employee option activity (that is limited to our 1997 Employee Plan) for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Weighted

Opilons Exercise Price Average Exercise

Qutstanding per Share Price per Share
Quustanding at January 1,2005 ........ 458,998 $12.375-$30.00 $19.67
Granted .......cooiiiiiiiiainans — —_ —_—
Exercised . ...........0oivvvinnn (83,815) $12.375-$30.00 18.75
Canceled . .....ovveeiiiiiniinnns (22,223) $30.00 30.00
Outstanding at December 31,2005 ... .. 352,960  $12.375-330.00 19.23
Granted .....oiii i — —_ -
Exercised........ccoivivevenrnnn, (29,503) §$12.375-518.00 17.37
Canceled ............iinin. — —= —_—
Outstanding at December 31,2006 .. ... 323,457 $12.375-$30.00 19.40
Granted .......... . i — — —
Exercised......cooiviiieiniinrnnns (97.979) $12.375-$18.00 21.26
Canceled .........ccovivinanns (1,667) — 18.00
Quistanding at December 31,2007 ..... 223,811 $18.60

At December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, options to purchase 223,811 shares, 323,457 shares and 352,960 shares,
respectively, were exercisable. At December 31,2007, the outstanding options have various remaining
contractual lives ranging from one month to 4.09 years with a weighted average life of 2.68 years.

The following table summarizes director option activity (that is limited 1o our 1997 Director Plan) for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Options Exercise Price Ave:‘:;::ggix:drciu

Outstonding per Share Price per Share
Outstanding at Janbary 1,2005............cooiinin 85,002 $18.00-30.00 $27.65
GraNtEd . .. it e it —_ — —
Exercised ... ...t iie ey — — —
Cancelled . ... i it ans -— —_ —
Outstanding at December 31,2005, ....................0 85,002 $18.00-30.00 27.65
Granted. . .. ot —_ — —_
EXEreised .. ..ovvirrr ittt (8,334) $18.00 18.00
Cancelled .. ... i i i i e e — —_— —_—
Quistanding at December 31,2006, ...................ccous 76,608 $18.00-30.00 28.70
ANt . .. i e e e — — —
BXErCISEd ..ottt ire e e (48,334) $18.00-30.00 27.93
Cancelled . ... e e (11,667) — 30.00
Outstanding at December 31,2007, ...............ovientn 16,667 $30.00

At December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, all of the options outstanding were exercisable. At December 31, 2007,
the outstanding options have a remaining contractual life of one month.
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14. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments”, or FAS 107, requires disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments, whether or
not recognized in the statement of financial condition, for which it is practicable to estimate that value. In cases
where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based upon estimates using present value or other
valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount
rate and the estimated future cash flows. In that regard, the derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by
comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, could not be realized in immediate settlement of the
instrument, FAS 107 excludes centain financial instruments and all non-financiat instruments from our disclosure
requirements. Accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts do not represent the underlying value of the
Company.

The following methods and assumptions were used lo estimate the fair value of each class of financial
instruments for which it is practicable to estimaie that value:

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount of cash on hand and money market funds is considered to
be a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Commercial morigage backed securities: These investments are presented on a held-lo-maturity basis and
not at fair value. The fair values were obtained from a securities dealer.

Loans receivable, net: These instruments are presented at the lower of cost or market value and not at fair
value. The fair values were estimated by using current institutional purchaser yield requirements for loans
with similar credit charactenistics.

Total return swap; This instrument is presented at fair value, The fair value was obtained from a third party
valuation.

Interest rate swap agreements: These instruments are presented at fair value. The fair value was obtained
from a third party valuation.

Repurchase obligations: The repurchase obligations bear interest at rates that may or may not be available in
the market currently. Given, most importantly, the short term nature of these investments, the carrying value
is a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Collateralized debt obligations: These obligations are presented on the basis of proceeds received at
issuance and not at fair value. The fair value was estimated based upon the amount at which similar placed
financial instruments would be valued today.

Senior unsecured credit facility: This instrument bears interest at rates that are similar to those available in
the market currently. Therefore, the carrying value is a reasonable estimate of fair value,

Junior subordinated debentures: These instruments bear interest at fixed rates. The fair value was obtained
by calculating the present value based on current market interest rates.
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14. Fair Values of Financial Instruments (Continued)

The carrying amounts of all other assets and liabilities approximaie the fair value except as follows (in
thousands):

Decernber 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Carrying Face Fair Carrylng Foce Falr
Amount Value Value Amount Value Value
Financial assets:
CMBS.................. $ 876864 § 916,410 $830,41] $ 810,970% 850,619 % 807,087
Loans receivable ......... 2,257,563 2,266,184 2,226,445 1,754,536 1,758,114 1,761,977
Financial liabilities:
CDOs ..ooviv e 1,192,299 1,190,448 1,067,513 1,212,500 1,210,340 1,190,612
Junior Sub. Debentures .. .. 128,875 128,875 98,863 51,500 51,500 52,431
Participations sold ................ 408,351 408,434 396,900 209,425 208,905 208,905

15. Supplementslt Disclosures for Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Interest paid on our outstanding debt for 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $161.2 million, $102.0 million and $34.3
million, respectively. Income taxes recovered (paid) by us in 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $1.5 million, $583,000
and ($7,000), respectively. Non-cash investing and financing activity of $198.9 and $77.7 million for 2007 and
2006, respectively, resulted from paydowns on the loans we classify as participations sold.

16. Transactions with Related Partles

Effective January 1, 2003, we entered into a consulting agreement with a director with a term of two years and
five months that expired on May 31, 2005. During the year ended December 31, 2005 we incurred expenses of
$50,000 in connection with this agreement.

Until 2007, we paid Equity Group Investments, L.L.C. and Equity Risk Services, Inc., affiliates under common
contro) of the chairman of the board of directors, for certain corporate services provided to us. These services
include consulting on insurance matters, risk management, and investor relations. During the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, we incurred $45,000 and $49,000, respectively, of expenses in connection with
these services,

We pay Global Realty Qutsourcing, Inc., a company in which we previously had an equity investment and upon
which our chief executive officer served on its board of directors prior to the sale of the company, for consulting
services relating to monitoring assets and evaluating potential investments. During the year ended
December 31, 2005 we incurred $557,000 of expenses in connection with these services. On December 30, 2005
we sold our equity investment in Global Realty Outsourcing, Inc. which resulted in a $5.0 million gain.

In September 2006, we made a founding investment in Bracor, a newly formed net lease commercial real estate
company located and operating in Brazil. Our ultimate commitment was $30.0 million. Bracor was owned 24%
by us, 47% by Equity International, or El, and 29% by third parties. Qur Chairman, Sam Zell, is the Chairman of
El and has an ownership position in EI. Qur share of profits and losses from Bracor were reported one quarter
subsequent to the period eamed by Bracor. On December 18, 2007, we sold our ownership interest in Bracor
which resulted in a $15.1 million gain. Our ownership interest was purchased by four investors on the same
terms, including W.R. Berkley Corporation, or WRBC. WRBC beneficially owns approximately 17.8% of our
outstanding class A common stock as of March 4, 2008 and a member of our board of directors is an employee of
WRBC.

On November 9, 2006, we commenced our CT High Grade Mezzanine investment management initiative and
entered into three separale account agreemenis with affiliates of WRBC, for an aggregate of $250.0 million.

SM
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Pursuant to these agreements, we invest, on a discretionary basis, capital on behalf of WRBC in low risk
commercial real estate mortgages, mezzanine loans and participations therein. The separate accounts are entirely
funded with committed capital from WRBC and are managed by a subsidiary of our wholly-owned investment
management subsidiary, CT investment Management Co. LLC, or CTIMCO. Each separate account has a one-
year investment period with extension provisions. CTIMCO will eamn a management fee equal to 0.25% per
annum on invested assets. On July 25, 2007, we amended the agreements to increase the aggregate commitment
of the WRBC effiliates to $350.0 million and extend the investment period to July 2008,

On April 27, 2007, we purchased a $20.0 million subordinated interest in 2 mortgage from a dealer. Proceeds
from the original mortgage financing provide for the construction and leasing of an office building in
Washington, D.C 1hat is owned by a joint venture in which an entity 80% controlled by WRBC is one of the two
joint venture partners. We believe that the terms of the foregoing transactions are no less fzvorable than could be
obtained by us from unrelated parties on an arm’s length basis.

17. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

We lease premises and equipment under operating leases with various expiration dates. Minimum annual rental
paymenits at December 31, 2007 are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,

0 S 5§ 931
2000, e e 1,377
113 1,377
13 O O 1,377
b ) 1,377
Therealter . ... ...t i 8,443

$14,882

Rent expense for office space and equipment amounted to $1.4 million, $990,000 and $959,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Future Distribution Requirements

In 1999, we acquired a portfolio of CMBS from a dealer at a discount. For purposes of GAAP income
recognition, we amortize the discount as interest income over the expected life of the securities using the
effective interest method, as we do for all of our securities purchased ai a discount. For income tax purposes,
specifically with respect to this portfolio, we elected 1o defer the recognition of the purchase discount until we
receive principal as the securities are sold, amortize or mature. In the future, assuming principal collection as
anticipated, as these securilies mature, we will recognize the purchase discount as income for tax purposes and, as
a REIT, those amounts will be factored into our distribution requirements. For the securities not in our CDOs,
we will receive cash payments as these securities are sold, amontize or mature. For the securities in our CDOs,
the cash flow waterfalls are designed to repay senior indebtedness with principal repayments, resulting in a
situation where we may not receive cash as these securities are sold, amortize or mature. In these cases, we may
have a distribution requirement without receipt of the cash to service the requirement, requiring us to fund these
distribution requirements from other sources of liquidity. As of December 31, 2007, the securities in question
have a face value of $197.2 million and were purchased at a discount of $60.1 million. $185.7 million of these
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17. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

securitics are in our CDOs and these securities were purchased at a discount of $57.8 million. Our current
expectation is for the securities in the entire portfolio to mature between 2008 and 2015 and for us to recognize,
for tax purposes, income of $124,000, $10.3 million, $4.6 miltion, $13.3 million, $17.7 million, $7.3 million,
$484,000, and $552,000 for the years 2008-2015, respectively,

Litigation

In the normal course of business, we are subject to various legal proceedings and claims, the resolution of which,
in management’s opinion, will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or our
results of operations.

Employment Agreements

John R. Klopp serves as our chief executive officer and president pursuant to an employment agreement entered
into on February 24, 2004. The employment agrcement provides for Mr. Klopp’s employment as chief executive
officer and president through December 31, 2008. Under the employment agreement, Mr. Klopp receives a base
salary and is eligible to receive annual performance compensation awards of cash and restricted shares of
common stock. The agreement is subject to termination under certain circumstances and provides for severance
payments under certain of these circumstances and contains provisions relating to non-competition during the
term of employment, protection of our confidential information and intellectual property, and non-solicitation of
our employees,

Effective December 28, 2005, we entered into an employment agreement with Stephen D. Plavin, pursuant to
which Mr. Plavin will serve as our chief operating afficer through December 31, 2008 (subject to our option to
extend the agreement for an additional twelve months). Pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Plavin
receives a base salary and is eligible to receive annual performance compensation awards of cash. The agreement
is subject to termination under certain circumsiances and provides for severance payments under certain of these
circumstances and contains provisions relating to non-competition during the term of employment, protection of
our confidentiat information and intellectual property, and non-solicitation of our employecs.

Effective August 4, 2006, we entered into an employment agreement, with Thomas C. Ruffing, pursuant to which
Mr. Ruffing will serve as our chief credit officer and head of asset management through December 31, 2008.
Pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Ruffing receives a minimum base salary and is eligible to receive an
annual cash bonus, subject to a minimum level. The agreement is subject 10 termination under certain
circumstances and provides for severance payments under certain of these circumstances and contains provisions
relating to non-compelition protection of our confidential information and iniellectual property, and non-
solicitation of our employees. ’

Effective September 29, 2006, we entered into an employment agreement with Geoffrey G. Jervis, pursuant to
which Mr. Jervis will serve as our chief financial officer through December 31, 2009 (subject to our option 10
extend the agreement for an additional twelve months). Pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Jervis
receives a base salary and is eligible 1o receive annual performance compensation awards of cash. The agreement
is subject to termination under certain circumstances and provides for severance payments under certain of these
circumstances and contains provisions relating to non-competition during the term of employment, protection of
our confidential information and intellectual property, and non-solicitation of our employees.

Additionally, in connection with our purchase of a healithcare loan origination platform, we entered into five
employment agreements. Pursuant to the employment agreements, the employees receive base salaries and
minimum annual cash bonuses.
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18. Segment Reporting

We have two reportable segments. We have an internal information system that produces performance and asset -
data for our two segments along service lines.

The Balance Sheet Investment segment includes all of our activities related to direct loan and investment
activities (including direct investments in Funds) and the financing thereof.

The Investment Management segment includes all of our activities related to investment management services
provided to us and third party funds under management and includes our taxable REIT subsidiary, CT Investment
Management Co., LLC and its subsidiaries.
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18. Segment Reporting (Continued)

The following table details each segment’s contribution to our overall profitability and the identified assets
attributable to each such segment for the year ended, and as of, December 31, 2007, respectively (in thousands):

Balance Sheet Investment Inter-Scgment
Investment Managemeni Activities Total
Income from loans and other
investments:
[nterest and related income $ 253,422 s - H — S 253,422
Less: Interest and related
expenses 162,377 — — 162,317
Income from loans and
other invesuments, niel 91,045 —_ — 91,045
Other revenues:
Management fees - 16,282 (12.783) 3,499
Incentive managemen fees — 6,208 — 6,208
Servicing fees — 623 — 623
Orther interest income 1,548 65 (530) 1,083
Total other revenucs 1,548 23,178 (13.313) 11,413
Other expenses
Genern! and administrative 17,058 25,681 (12,783 29,956
Other interest expense — 530 {530) -
Deprecistion and amortization 1,430 380 — 1,810
Touwl other expenses 18,488 26,591 {13.313) 31,766
Recovery (provision) for fosses - — - -
Gaim on sale of investments 15,077 — - 15,077
Income/(loss) from equity
investments {1,570) (539) — (2,109)
Income {loss) before income taxes 87,612 (3,952) —_ 83,660
Benefit for income taxes {254) (452) — (106)
Net {loss) income allocable to class A
common stock H 81.866 $ {3,500} [ — S 84,366
Total assets 5 3.212,065 $ 7.837 $ (8,424) s 3,210,482 .

All revenues, except for $4.3 million included in interest and related income and $15.1 million included in gain
on sale of investments, were generated from external sources within the United States. The Investment
Management segment eamed fees of $12.8 million for management of the Balance Sheet Investment segment and
was charged $530,000 for inter-segment interest for the year ended December 31, 2007, which is reflected as
offsetting adjustments to other revenues and other expenses in the Inter-Segment Activities column in the table
above.
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The following table delails each segment’s contribution to our overall profitability and the identified assets
attributable to each such segment for the year ended and as of December 31, 2006, respectively (in thousands):

Income from loans and other
investments:
Interest and related income
Less: Interest and related
€xpenses
Income from loans and
other investments, nel

Other revenues:
Management and advisory fees
Incentive management fecs
Special servicing fees
Other intzrest income
Total other revenues

Other expenses
General and administrative

Other interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Total other expenses

Income/{loss) from equity
investments in Funds

Income before income taxes

Benefit for income taxes

Net income allocable to class A
cormmon stock

Total assets

Balance Sheet Invesiment Inter-Segmen
Investment Management Activities Total
3 175,404 H - 5 - 5 175,404
104,607 — — 104,607
70,797 — — 70,797
- 10,387 (7,137) 2,650
- 1,652 — 1,652
40 65 — 105
1,426 4} (115) 1,354
1,466 12,147 (7,852) 5,761
12,458 18,354 (1,730 23073
-— 115 (115) -
2,192 257 — 3,049
15,250 18,726 (7,852) 26,124
1,016 (118) — 898
58,029 {6.697) — 51,332
— {2,735) - {2.735)
3 58,029 $ {3,962) 3 — S 54,067
§ 2649866 $ 4,720 3 (6,022) § 2648564

Al revenues were generated from external sources within the United Siates. The Investment Management
segment eamed fees of $7.7 million for management of the Balance Sheet Investment segment and $115,000 for
inter-segment interest for the year ended December 31, 2006, which is reflected as offsetting adjustments to other
revenues and other expenses in the Inter-Segment Activities column in the table above.
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

19. Summary of Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands except per share data):

March M June 30 September 30 December 31

2007
Revenues $59.538  $69,696 $66,173 $69,428
Net income $14849  $257382 $15.497 $28,638
Net income per share of commeon stock:
Basic $ 085 § 145 $ 088 $ 163
Diluted $ 084 § 143 $ 087 $ 162
2006
Revenues $32,600 $47,050 $47,199 $54,316
Net income $£10949 514,192 $13,437 $15,489
Net income per share of common stock:
Basic $ 072 § 093 $ 0.88 $ 092
Diluted $ 071 $ 091 $ 086 3 09
2005
Revenues $23.625 $21,847 $24,405 £30,000
Net income $ 92150 § 8848 £ 9,799 $16,314
Net income per share of common stock:
Basic $ 061 § 059 § 065 $
Diluted $ 060 § 058 $ 064 $

Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed independently for each of the periods. Accordingly, the sum of
the quarterly earnings per share amounts may not agree to the total for the year.

20. Subsequent Event

On February 6, 2008, we extended our $100 mittion senior unsecured credit facility until March 21, 2009. The
balance will remain outstanding as a non-revolving lerm loan maturing on March 21, 2009.
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Schedule [V—Mortgage Loans on Real Estate

As of December 31, 2007
{Dollars in thousands)

Toterest Final Periodic
Description/ Payosenot Marrity Payment
Type of Loan/Borrower Locstioo Rates Date Terou ¥
Mortgage Loans:
Borrower A ...... Office/
Scattle, WA LIBOR +2,30% 9/10/2011 Vo
All other mortgage
loans individually
less than 3%. . ..
Tote! mortgege loans .
Mezzanine Loans:
BorrowerB...... Hotel/
Various LIBOR +3.65%  5/92012 110
BormmowerC ...... Hotel/
Various LIBOR +4.00%  5/9/2012 o
BorrowerD...... Office/
Various LIBOR +3.75% 2972008 vo
BorrowerE ...... Heaslthcare/
Various LIBOR +12.65%  5/9/2011 1o
Borrower F ... ... Mixed Use/ ®
Various LIBOR + 3.50% 12/1472012 P&l
All gther mezzanine
loans individually
less than 3%. . . .
Total mezzanine loans
Subordinate Mortgage
Interests:
Al ather Subordinate
Mortgage {nterests
individually less
than 3%. ........
Total Subordinate
Mortgage Interests .
Total loans ........
Explanatory Notes:

(1}P&1 = principal and inicresy, 10 = interest only,
(2)Represents only third party liens.
(3)Does not include Unfunded Commitments.
{(4) Application of net proceeds from property sales after Senior Loan is fully repaid. Also, all excess net operating income after payment of

applicable Senior Loan debt service, will repay the Loan,

81

Face Carrylng
Prior Amouat of Amoont of
Liens™® Loans™ Loans
— $72.291 §72,291
502,452 548,293 548,295
502,452 620,586 620,586
1,782,392 152,290 152,290
2,595,300 125,000 125,000
2,578,105 123.364 123,364
1,221,621 86,341 86,341
488,068 84,180 84,180
9,63} 517 528,848 $23,807
18,297,003 1,100,023 1,004,982
1,687,577 545,575 541,995
3,687,577 545,575 541,995
$22,487,032 $2.266,184  $2.257,563
[ ————— ]




Se: torth below is a line graph comparing the veardy percentage
change in the cumularive sorel sharehulder return on shares of our
class A commaon stock against (i} the cumulative roral return of
companies lisied on the New York Stock Exchange, and i) the
cumulative roal return of a peer group selected in the previous
year by us (iSrar Financial Inc.. RATT Eavestment Trust. Anzhra-
cite Capiral Inc., Acbor Realiy Trust. Gramercy Capical Corp.,
Neweastle havestment Corp., NorthStar Realty Finance Corp,
JER buvestors Teust Inc. and CBRE Realty Financer,

CAPITAL TRUST, INC,

The five-vear period compared commences December 31, 2002
and ends Decemiber 31, 2007, This graph assumes thae 5100 was
tnvested on January 1, 2003 in us and each of the market index
and the peer group index, at the December 31, 2002 closing price,
and that ali cash distributions were reinvested. Our cluss A com-
mon stock price pesformance shown on the graph is nos indicative

of future price periormange.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURNS AMONG CAPITAL TRUST,

NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE, AND PEER GROUP INDEX
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ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON DEC. 31, 2002
ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DEC. 31,2007

Our class A Common Stock is
listed for trading on the New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE),
ticker symbol CT. The high and
low sale prices and dividends
declared for 2007 and 2006 on
the NYSE were as follows:
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